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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Strategic Report

The Directors present their annual report and audited financial statements of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1} Limited (the "Company”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015

The Company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of AMG London Holdings Corp Affiliated Managers Group, Inc owns the whole of the Pantheon Group
which inchides the Company, Pantheon Holdings Limited, Pantheon Ventures Inc , and Pantheon Capital {Asia) Limited (the "Group™)

Business review
The results of the Company show a profit of $57,403,110 for the financial year (2014 $48,188,034)

Business environment

Private caputal assets under management globally reached a new high at $4 2 tnilion' Industry data reveals that private capital fund raising continued
to be robust dunng 2015 With 1,062 vehicles closing capual dunng the year, 2015 fundraising 1s expected to exceed the 2014 capital raise of $589
billton’  Record distnbutions to LPs in 2014 helped 2015 become the third consccutive year m which private capital fundrasing surpassed the 3500
bilhon mark' Based on Preqin's analysis of public pension fund returns, private equily continues (o deliver superior returns compared to all assel
classes over the longer term  Further, distnbutions contmued to sigmificantly surpass capital calls i 2015

The asset rmising efforts m the segments of pnivate capatal 10 which the Group panticipates have remained relatively stable year over year  There was z
drop in secondanes fundraising in 2015, with $19 bullion 1n capital raised 10 2015 versus $27 biflion 1n 2014*  The dechne 15 pnmanly due to certam
managers raising large funds in 2013 and 2014, which have a considerable amount of uncalled capital 10 be deployed, largely resuiting 1n lower fund
raising 0 2015 The nvestor appetite for secondanes continues to be very strong  Interest in private infrastructure funds remained strong n 2015,
with aggregate capital of $36 illion raised by funds that closed dunng the year, as compared to $41 bilion raised in 2014*  Pnvate equity fund of
funds providers raised $15 billion 1n funds and a further $3 billion 1n separate accounts, 111 2014, $15 billien was rased in fund of funds and $5 billion
i separate accounts'

The Group raised over $4 billion mn comrrutied capual for the year ended 31 December 2015, in line with the assets raised tn 2014, and considerably
more than the asset raise of 52 ballion n 2013  Dunng the year, the Group recerved capntal commitments to s Global Secondary, Global Primary,
Infrastructure, and Co-Investment funds, as well as chient separate accounts In 2015, the Group received approval from the SEC for the AMG
Pantheon Private Equity Master Fund LLC to be registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 This mutual fund provides access to pnvate
equity investments for accredited investors and 1s distnbuted pnncipalty via Registered Investment Advisers The Group continues 1o market 1ts new
product for the Defined Coninbution channel Total assets under management for the Group as of 30 September 2015 15 $32 bilhon, as compared to
$31 ballion at 31 December 2014°

Strategy

The Group aums to produce long lerm and sustainable private equity performance by mvesting 1n diversified portfolios while managing nsk. The
Group beleves that this can be achieved by the selection of the best managers diversified by stage, ume and sector  The Group rehes on its large,
expenenced and stable team, a track record of out-performance, thorough research and a msk-managed approach The Group consistently seeks to
recruit and retan the hughest caliber professional staff in order to maintain 1ts pnme position 1n the market

Future outlook

Investor appetite for pnivate equity 1s expected 10 be strong agam m 2016 following continued strong performance 1n 2015 The results of Preqen's
latest investor survey showed that 94% of the investors surveyed fek that the performance of their pnvate equity portfolios had met or exceeded therr
expectations' Further, the hiquidity seen within the private equity markets over the last 2 to 3 years, with distnbutions sigmificantly exceading capital
calls, bodes well for another strong year of asset raising  The recent volatile public markets 15 also expected to favor private equity, as investors will
be seeking (o find investments that have a track record of generating strong absolute returns over the longer term  However, there continues to be
pressure on the fees that private equaty fund of funds are able to charge, and cltents rematn interested in customuzed solutions and increased flextbility
within their private equity programmes We believe that increased competition from consultants and clients looking to resource their private equity
activitics 1n-house 1s hkely to continue

The Group has centinued to develop flexible solutions for clients looking for particular objectives from thetr private equity programs such as niche
strategres, or a focus on a particular area of the pnivate equity market This has improved the Group's ability to respond to a broad range of compettive
and specific mandates from chents and prospects The Group's Access platform, which was launched last year, continues to gain traction with clients
and prospects, as does infrastructure and real assets The Group had a strong asset raising effort in infrastructure and real assets dunng 2015, which 1s
expected to be a significant contnbutor to the Group's asset raising efforts in 2016

! Source 2016 Preqin Global Private Equity & Venture Caprial Report
? Source 2016 Preqin Global Infrastructure Report

? Includes assets subyect to discren onary or non-discrefionary management adiice or those limited to a reporing funcnon
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Strategic Report (continued)

Principal nisks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of nsks The key nsks relate to competton,
investment performance and staff retention

e Competiton The Group 15 expeniencing a chalienging fundraiseng environment for private equity and significant changes in the private equity
fund-of-funds industry To address this nsk the Group has launched a number of new product 1nstiatives to position the business competinvely
for the longer term

& [nvestment performance The Group follows a disciplined and proven manager screemng and selecthion approach which seeks to provide
investors with appropnately diversified private equity programmes across its pnmary, secondary, co-investment and infrastructure strategies
The ability to continue to deliver strong net returns to investors 1s important to maintain the Group's leading market positton

s Staff retenton Pnvate equity 1s an extremely compentive market and the Group recogmises the need to employ and retain the best talent
avallable The Group has a genuine focus on its associates and 1s comrmutted to providing a rewarding and shmulating environment for all its
employees

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf

oM~

20-22 Bedford Row D Mamnes
London Director
WCIR 4JS Date 4 Apnl 2016
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Directors’ Report (continued)

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Dhrectors are responsible for prepaning the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and
regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Einder that law the directors have prepared the financial
statements 1n accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kmgdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), mncluding Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporttng Standard Apphcable 1n the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are sausfied that thev give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that penod

In preparing these financial statements the Directors are required to
. select surtable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

L4 state whether apphcable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 have begn followed, subject to any material
depanures disclosed and explamed 1n the financial statements,

* notify its shareholders in wrniing about the use of disclesure exemptions, if any, of FRS 102 used i the preparation of financial
statements and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1S inappropriate to presume that the company will continue 1n
business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounung records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the financial position of the Company Such records should enable them to ensure that the financtal
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for taking reasonable
steps to prevent and detect fraud and other imegulanbes

Statement of disclosure of informatton to auditors
As far as each of the Directors i1s aware, there is no relevant audit mnformation of whuch the Company's auditors are unaware Each Director has

taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Company’s auditors are aware of that informaton

Approved by the Board and signed on 1ts behalf

Director
Date 4 Apnl 2016

20-22 Bedford Row

London
WCIR 4JS
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited
Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Report on the financal statements

Qur opinion

In our opimon, AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1} Limited’s financial statements (the ‘financial statements™}
®»  give a tme and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of 1ts profit for the year then ended,
¢ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Pracuce, and
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

What we have audited
The financial statements, inctuded withun the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements {the “Annual Report ), compnse

e the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2015,
e  the Profit and Loss Account for the year then ended,
e the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and

¢ the notes to the financial statements, which mclude a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

The financial reporting framework that has been apphed 1n the preparanon of the financial statements 15 apphcable law and Umnited Kingdom
Accounting Standards (Umnted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 “The Financral Reporting Standard
apphcable i the UK and Republic of ireland’

[n applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective judgements, for example in respect of sigruficant
accounting estimates In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered future events

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 i

In our opinion, the mformation given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are I
prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are requured to report to you if,, 1 our opsruon

»  we have not received all the informauion and explanations we require for our audit, or

o  adequate accounung records have not been kept, or retums adequate for our audit have not been recerved from branches not visited by us,
or

+  the financial statements are not i agreement with the accounting records and returns
We have no exceptions (o report anising from this responsibihity

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 10 report to you 1f, in our opinion, certatn disclosures of directors remuneration specified by law
are not made We have no exceptions to repont arising from this responsibility
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AMG Plymouth UK Heldings (1) Limited
Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited (continued)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page 5, the directors are responsible for the prepamtion of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view

Qur responstbility 15 10 audit and express an opinien on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and Internauional Standards on
Audiing (UK and lIreland) (*1SAs (UK & lreland) ) Those standards require us to comnply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards
tor Audrtors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body 1n accordance with Chapter 3 of Pant 16
of the Companes Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibihity for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our pnor consent in wnuing.

What an audit of financial statements imvolves

We conducted our audnt in accordance with ISAs (UK & freland) An audit involves obtaming evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements suffictent to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenat misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error Thus tcludes an assessment of

¢  whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the company’s cicumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed

e  the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and
¢ the ovenrall presentation of the financial statements

We pnmanly focus our work in these arcas by asscssing the directors’ judgements against available evidence, fonming our own judgements, and
cvaluating the disclosurcs in the financial statciments

We 1es1 and examune informauen, using sampling and other auditing techntques, to the extent we consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis
for us to draw conclusions We obtain audit evidence through testing the effecuveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information mn the Annual Report to rdent:fy matenal inconsistencies with the audited
financiat statements and to identify any mformation that 1s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by us m the course of performing the audst If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or tnconsistencies we consider the
mmplhcations for our report

foul bttt

Paul Koziarski {Semior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

Date 4 Apnl 2016
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Profit and Loss Account

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Tumover
Admnistrative expenses
Forcign currency exchange gain

Opcerating profit

Interest payable and simuiar charges
Dividend mcome

Profit on ordinary actlvities before taxatton

Tax on profit on ordinary activitics

Profit for the financral year

1{d)

For the year ended For the year ended
3i December 2015 31 December 2014
5 3
(14,004) (14,823)
8,209,821 9,238 563
8,195,817 9,223,740
(14,271,020) (15,519.986)
64,234,592 54,482,290
58,159,389 48,186,044
(756,279) 1,990
57,403,110 48,188,034

The Company has no recogmised gains or losses other than those included 1n the results above and therefore no separate Statement of Comprehesive

Income has been presented

All results arose from contiuing operations

The notes on pages 11 to 16 form part of the financial statements
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Balance Sheet

At 31 December 2015

Fixed assets
Investments

Current assets

Debtors (including $7 972,222 (2014 $10,328,883) due after more
than one year)

Creditors amounts falhing due within one year
Net current Liabilities
Creditors amounts falling due after more than one year

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss account

Total shareholders' funds

The notes on pages 11 to 16 form part of the financial statements

The financial statements on pages 8 to 16 were approved and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 4 Apnil 2016

Page 9

At Al

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
5 5
403,172,703 403 172 678
16,262,853 27 483 147
16,262,853 27,483,147
{144 686 686} (153 153,404)
(128,423,833} {125,670,257)
(7.972,222) {10,328,883)
266,776,648 267,173,538
179,164 431 179,164,431
75373714 75,373,714
12,238 503 12,635,393
266,776,648 267,173,538
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2015

Notes

Balance as at 1 Janaary 2014
Profit for the year

Dividends

Reducuon

Balance at 31 December 2014

Balance at | January 2015

Profit for the year
Dividends

Balance at 31 December 2015

The notes on pages 11 to 16 form part of the financial statements

Called-up
Share Share Retatned
Capntal Premium Earmungs Total
$ 5 3 g
181,664,431 75,373,714 1,947,359 258,985,504
- - 48,188,034 48,188,034
- - (37,500,000) (37,500,000)
(2,500,000) - - (2,500,000)
179,164,431 75,373,714 12,635,393 267,173,538
179,164,431 75373, 714 12,635,393 267,173,538
- - 57,403,110 57,403,110
- - (57,800,000) (57,800,000}
179,164,431 75,373,714 12,238,503 266,776,648
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

1 Accounting policies

a The Company

The Company 15 a holding company with subsidianes that provide investment management services, predominantly (m connection with unquoted
companies which are supported by pnvate equity managers The Company, through its subsidianes, holds direct investments in Pantheon equity
funds

The Company s incorporated and domicited m the UK and its registered office 1s 20-22 Bedford Row, London, WCIR 4JS

b Basis of accounting

The financial statetnents have been prepared in comphance with Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard
162, "The Fiancial Reportmg Standard apphcable i the United Kingdem and the Republic of freland™ ("FRS 102"} and the Companies Act 2006,
under the provision of Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulation 2008 (S12008/ 414)

The financial statements arc prepared on a gomg concern basis, under the historical cost convention

These are the Company’s first financial statements prepared 1 acccordance with FRS 102 An explanation of how the transition to FRS 102 has
affected the reported Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss and Statement of Changes m Equity 15 provided 1n note 15

The accounung pohicies set out below have been apphed consistently throughout the year, and are apphed consistently from year to year except for
the changes explained i note 15

¢ Consolidation
The Company 15 & subsidiary of Affilated Managers Group, Inc ("AMG"), which 1s incorporated in the United States of Amenca The results of the
Company and 1ts subsidiancs are included within the consolrdated financial statements of AMG and thercfore the Company 1s exempt from the

requirement to prepare Group financial statements Consequently, these financral statements present mformation about the Company as an
mdividual undertaking and not about 1ts Group The financial statements of AMG are appended to these financial statements

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from prepanng consohdated financial statements under the terms of section 401 of the
Compantes Act 2006

The consohdated financial statements of AMG comply with the requirements relating o the disclosure of non-audit services provided by the
auditors

d Turnover
The Company has not recerved any mcome dunng the current or prior year

e Deferred taxation

Deferred 1ax 15 recogmsed without discounting 1n respect of all uming differences between the treatment of ceftain mems for taxation and
accounting purposes which have ansen, but not reversed, by the balance sheet date.

f Foreign currencies
Monctary assets and lrabibtics denominated m a foreign currency are wranslated mto United States dollars at the year-end rate  Transactions m a

foreign cumrency are translated into United Suates doflars at the rates prevailing on the date of the transaction Exchange differences are taken
directly wto the profit and loss account

g Investments
Investments wn substdiaries are heid a1 cost less unpatrent, if any, i the balance sheet
h Cash flow exemption

Under FRS 102, the Company 15 exempt from prepaning a cash flow statement on the grounds that 1ts ultumate parent company, AMG, prepares
consolidated financial statements which are publicly avaitable

I Related party disclosure

The Company 1s exempt under FRS 102 from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are 100% owned by AMG, which includes
AMG together with 115 subsidianes
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

1 Accounting policies (confinued)

1. Financial instruments

The Company has chosen to adopt sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 1n respect of {inaneial instruments
Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including amounts dne from related parties and cash and bank balances are tmtially recognsed at transaction price, uniess the
amangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction 15 measured at the present value of future receipts discounted at a market rate
of interest Such assets are subsequently camed at amortised cost using the effective interest method

At the end of each reporting penod financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impaiment  Impairment losses
and any impawrment reversals are recogmsed 1n profit or loss

Other financial assets, ncluding investments 1n equity instruments which are not subsidiaries, associates or Jomt ventures, are imtiatly measured at
farr value, which ts the normal transaction price Such assets are subsequently carmied at fair value and the changes 1n fair value are recogmsed in
profit or loss, except for unhsted equity instruments whose fair value cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less impairment

Financial assets are derecognised when (1) the contractual nights of the cash flows from the asset expire or are settled, or (1) substantially all the nsks
and rewards of the ownership of the asset are transferred to another party or (111) control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has
the practical ability to umlaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without :mposing additional restnctions

Financial habilities

Basic financial habihties, including other credrtors and amounts due to other group companies are sutially recogmsed at transaction price, unless the
arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument 15 measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a
market rate of interest Debt instruments are subsequently carned at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method

Offsetting

Financial assets and habilities are offset and the net amounts presented 1n the financial statements when there 15 an enforceable nght to set off the
recognised amounts and there 1s an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the habality ssmulataneously

2 Critical accounting judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported for
assets and habihties at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year However, the nature of estrmation
means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates The lollowing judgements (apart from those involving estimates) have had the most
significant effect on amounts recogused mn the financial statements

Fair value adjustment of loan balances
FRS 102 requires financial instruments to be recognused at farr value The Company previousty carmried the long term loans used for funding
investment transactions and the corresponding receivables at cost These are now carrted at fair value through profit and loss In determimng the fair

value, a discounted cash flow model 1s applied that incorporated vanous assumptions such as the term of the loan, the underlying fund growth rate
and the discount rates

3 Directors and employees

The Directors do not recerve any emoluments for services to the Company (2014 ml) The Company does not have any employees (2014 ml)

4 Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
$ 3
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1s stated after chargeng
Auditors’ remuneration - for audit work 14,004 14,823
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

5 Tax
For the year ended For the year ended
a) Tax on profit on ordinary activitics 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
) $
Current tax

UK cotporation tax on profits for the year (16,617) {1,990)
Pror year audit adjustment 772,896 -
Tax charge/ (credit) on profits on ordinary activities (note 5b) 156,279 (1,990)

b) Factors affecting tax credit for the year
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
) $
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 58,159,389 48,186,044
Tax at 20 25% { 2014 21 50%) FL,777276 10,360,000
Tax exempt income (13,007,505} (£1,713,692)
Losses surrendered for group relief at ml value 1,213,612 1,351,702
Prior year adjustment 772,896 -
Current tax charge/ {credit) for the year (note 5a) 7565279 {1,990}

The standard rate of Corporation Tax 1n the United Kingdom changed from 21% to 20% with effect from 1 Apnl 2015, (23% to 21% from 1 Apnl
2014) Accondingly, the Company's profits for the accounting year are taxed at an average standard rate of 20 25% (2014 21 50%)

6 Fixed asset investments

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
$ 3
Investment in subsihanes
At 1 January 403,172,678 405,672,678
Additton 25 -
Reduction - {2,500,000)
At 31 December 403,172,703 403,172 678

The Company owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of Pantheon Holdings Linuted, a company registered in England and Wales, and Pantheon
Capital (Asia) Limuted, a company incorporated in Hong Kong The addition dunng the year related to a 25% ownerstup of Pantheon (UK) GP LLP

The Company recerved a distnbution of $2,500,000 from Pantheon Holdings Laumited 11 2014 as the holder of 16,584,850 fulty paid up shares that

were cancelled and extinguished

Page 13
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

7 Debtors
At Al
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
§ $
Duc within one year-
Amounts owed by parent 8247618 17,152,274
Group tax relief 16,617 1,990
Amounts owed from other group entities 26,396 -
8,290,631 17,154,264
Due after more Lhan one year-
Amounts owed by lellow subsidianes 79712222 10,328,883
16,262,853 27,483,147

Amounts due within one year by parent, other group companies as well as group tax rehief are unsecured, mterest free, have no fixed date of
repayment and are repayable on demand

Amounts due after more than one ycar by fellow subsidranes are interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable 1n aceordance with
the AMG/Pantheon Intra Group Facility Agreement dated 30 June 2012 In determiming the fair value of these amounts, a discounted cash flow model
15 applied that incorporated vanous assumptions such as the term of the loan, the underlying fund growth rate and the discount rates

8 Creditors
At At
31 December 2015 31 Decetnber 2014
b $
Amounts falling due within one year
Loan stock 139,934,672 148,022,218
Group relief payable 772,896 -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertaking 413,036 1,372,377
Loan stock interest 31,488,782 3,690,417
Accruals and deferred income 77,300 63,392
144,686,686 153,153,404
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed to parent 7,972,222 10,328,883
152,658,908 163,482,287

The loan stock s unsecured and payable on demand with an annual interest rate of 10% Amounts owed to subsidiary undertaking and group releef
payable are not interest beanng and are payable on demand

Amounts due after more than one year to parent are interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable in accordance with the
AMG/Pantheon Intra Group Facility Agreement dated 30 June 2012 In detenmimng the fair value of these amounts, a discounted cash flow model 1s

apphed that incorporated vanous assumptions such as the term of the loan, the underlying fund growth rate and the discount rates

9 Called up share capital

At At
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
b3 S
Allotted, called up and fully pard
£,143,691,263 (2014 1,143,691 263) ordmary shares of £0 10 each 179,164,431 179,164,431
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

10, Dnidends
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
s b3
Equity - Ordmnary
Internim pard £0 03 (2014 £0 02) per £0 19 share 57,800,000 37,500,000

11 Related party disclosure

FRS 102 grants a partial exemption (o subsidiary undertakings from 1ts requirements, provided that 100% of the voung nights of the Company are
controlled wittun the Group, and the subsidiary 15 included in publicly available consolidated financial statements

The Directors of the Company have taken advantage of this exemption in respect of the transactions between the Company and other quahfymg
Group undertakings

T'here are no other related party transactions

Subsidianies

The Company owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of Pantheon Holdings Liruted ("PHL"), a company registered in England and Wales, and
Pantheon Capial (Asia} Limited ("PCAL"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong The principal activity of these compames 1s investment
holding

Pantheon Holdings Limited

PHL owns {00% of the ordinary share capital of Panthcon GP Limited, Pantheon Ventures Lumited and Panthcon Ventures (Guemnsey) Limnted The
principal activity of these companes 15 investment holding and the provision of mvestment management services The first two companies are
registered and operate in England and Wales, Pantheon Ventures (Guemsey) Linuted 1s registered in Guemnsey

PHL helds 100% of the ordinary share capital of Pantheon Ventures (Scotland) GP Limuted, Monteverdi GP Limuted and Pantheon Lille GP
Limited, compantcs registered in Scotland PHL also owns 100% of the ordinary share capital of Pantheon UK General Partier Lumted (fornerty
PUSA VIII Feeder GP Limuted), PUSA 1X Feeder GP Limited and Pantheon UK Genera! Partner 2 Limuted (formerly PGSF [V Feeder GP Limited),
companies registered 1n England and Wales PHL owns 100% of the ordinary share caputal of Pantheon Lux GP Sarl, PGIF Il Lux GP Sarl,
PREMEUM Private Cquity V1 General Partner S a1 | and Pantheon Access GP Sar 1 compantes registered m the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Pantheon Ventures (Guernsey) Limuted owns 100% of the ordinary share caprtal of Pantheon (Guemsey) GP Lumited, PGSH 111 GP Limated,
PEUROQ V GP Limated PASIA V GP Limited, PEURQ VI GP Limirted, PEURO V11 GP Lumnited, PGIF GP Limited and Pantheon KSA (Guemsey)
GP Limuted which are companies registered in Guernsey

Pantheon Ventures Limuted 15 the controlling member of Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP and a imember of Pantheon (UJK) GP LLP The partnershups
are uncarporated m the United Kingdom

Pantheon Ventures (UK) LLP 15 the controiling member of Patheon Ventures (HK) LLP, a limuted hability partnershup icorporated i the Urited
Kingdom and domiciled 1n 1long Kong, Pantheon Ventures (US) lloldings LLP, a delaware linuted habulity partnershup, and through it Pantheon
Ventures (US) LP, a delaware hirmted partnership

Pantheon ital (Asia) Limited

PCAL 15 a member of Pantheon Ventures (HK) LLP, a hmited habahity partmership incorporated in the Umted Kingdom and domuciled in Hong
Kong

12 Controlling parties

The immediate parent undertaking 15 AMG London Heldings Corp , a company incorporated in the Unites States of Ammerica

The ulumate parent undertaking and the largest group to prepare consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2015 1s AMG, a company
incorporated in the United States of Amenca The consohdated financial statements of AMG can be obtaned from 777 South Flagler Dnive, West
Palm Beach, Flonda 33401, online at www amg com and are appended to Lhese financal statements
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AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015

13 Financial risk management

The Company 15 exposed to financial nsk through financial assets and financial habiities  The most important components of this financial nsk are
forergn exchange currency exposure, Liquidity nsk and credit msk

Foreign exchange cusrency exposure

The Company 15 exposed to currency nsk 1n respect of assets and liabilities denorminated m currencies other than United States Dollar The most
significant currency to which the Company 15 exposed 1s Sterling At present, the Company does not actively manage tts currency nisk

Liquidity nsk

The objecttve of the Company 1n managing hquidity nisk 15 to ensure that it can meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due The
Company finances 1ts operations through its share of Group undertakings

Credit risk

This s the nisk that a counterparty wilt be unable 1o pay amounts 1n full when due The Company's counterparties are related parties and they are
considered low nisk

14 Fnanctal assets and habihties

At At

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

s 3
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 411,463,334 420,326,942
Fiancial assets measured at fair value 7,972,222 10,328,883
Financial habilities measuered at amortised cost 144,686,686 153,153,404
Financial habilities measured at fair value 7,972,222 10,328,883

15. Explanation of transition to FRS 102

As stated n note 1, these are the Company's first financial statements prepared 1n accordance with FRS 102

The accounting policies set out n note 1 have been applied in prepaning the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, the
comparative information presented 1n these financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 Set out below are the changes tn accounting
policies which reconcile total comprehensive income for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 and the total equity as at 1 Januacy 2014 (the
Company's datc of transition) and 31 December 2014 between UK GAAP as previously reported and FRS 102

Fair value of financial instruments

FRS 102 requires financial mstruments to be recognised at fair value The company previously camed the long tern loans used for funding
investment transactions at cost These are now camed at fair value through profit and loss In order to avoid an accounting musmatch, the Company
has also reported the related long term recervables at fair vatue  For the year ended 31 December 2014, the conversion to fair value has fed to an
decrease n long term recervables of $1,323,293 and a corresponding decrease 1n the related long term loans of $1,323,293 This has resulted m a
$ml impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income and total equuty

The directors have undertaken an assessment of the impact of adoption of FRS [02 and have concluded there 1s no other impact with regards to the
recogmition and measurement of assets, habilities, mcome and expenses on adopuion of FRS 102 Disclosure and presentation has been amended to
conform with the requirements of FRS 102
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PART I
Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed m this Annual Report on Form 10-K, in our ather filings with the Securities and Exchange Commussion, in our press releases and in
oral siatements made with the approval of an executive officer may constitute “forward-Iooking statements " within the meaning of the Private Securities Liigation
Reform Act of 1995 These statements nclude, but are not limted to, statements related 1o our expectations regarding the performance of our business, our
financtal results, our hqudity and capital resources and other non-historical statements and may be prefaced with words such as “outlook,” ' gurdance ”
“believes,” “expects,” “potental,” “contimues,” "may,” "will,” “should,” “seeks,” “approximately,” “predicis, " “projects,” “intends,” plans,” “estimates,’
“anticipates " or the negairve version of these words or other comparable words Such stalements are subject to certarn risks and uncertmnties, including, among
athers, the factors discussed under the caption “ftem 14 Risk Factors ’

These faciors {among others) could affect our financil performance and cause actual results to differ materially from hustorical earnings and those presently
anticipated and projected Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we will not undertake and we specifically disclaim any
obligation to release publicly the result of any revisions which may be made to any forward-looking statemenis to reflect events or circumstances after the date of
such statements or fo reflect the occurrence of events, whether or not anucipated In that respect, we caution readers riot 1o place undue rehance on any such
forward-looking statements

Item 1 Busimess

We are a global asset management company with equity investments m leachng boutique nvestment management firms, which we refer to as our “Affiliates ”
Qur nnovatve partnership approach allows each Affiliate’s management team to own significant equity i their firm and maintain operational autonomy Our
strategy 1s 1o generate shareholder value through the growth of existing Affiliates, as well as through mvestments 1n new and additional investments in exisung
Affiliates In additon, we provide centralized assistance to our Affiliates in strategic matters, marketing, distribution, product development and operations As of
December 31, 2015, our aggregate assets under management were $611 3 billion {approximately $628 bitlion pro forma for nvestments which have since closed),
1n more than 500 mvestment products across a broad range of active return-onented strategies and distribution channels

We hold meamngful equity nterests tn each of our Affiliates In certamn cases, we own a majonty interest while 1n other cases we own 4 minonty nterest In
all cases, Affilate management retans a sigmificant equity wnterest in their own firmn Affiliate management equity ownership (along with our ownership) ahigns our
interests, enhances Affiliate management equity incentives and preserves Affilate management’s opportunity to parucipate directly i the long-term future growth
of their firms Our innovative parmership approach provides Affiliate management with a degree of hiquidity and financial diversification and ensures that our
Affiliates mamtain investment and operational autonomy n Managing their businesses, as well as therr unique entrepreneunal culture and independence

Given our permanent partnership approach, when we own a majonty of the equuty nterests, we address the ongoing succession planning i1ssues facing the
Affiliate’s principal owners as they transition incentives to future generations by facilitating the transfer of equity over time to the next generation of Affilate
management In cases in which we own a mmonty of the equity interests, we typrcally do not have an obligation to repurchase Affihate equity mterests, but may
make addiional investments to further facilitate Affiliate ownership transition

Although we mvest n boutique mvestment management firms that we anticipate will grow mdependently, given our permanent partnership approach, we
assist our A ffiliates with therr growth by providing access to the resources and scale of a global asset management company

We are focused on mvesting m the highest quality boutique mvestment management firms globally, mcluding traditional, alternative and wealth management
firms, specializing 1n an array of active return-onented investment strategies We 1denufy high quality bowuque firms based on our thorough understanding of the
asset management mdustry and we have developed long-term relationships with a sigmificant number of these firms Within our target universe, we seek strong and
stable boutiques with the best growth prospects, especially with respect to the growth potential for their areas of focus, such as global equities or alternative
strategies These boutiques are typically charactenized by a strong mult-generaticnal management team with focused nvestment discipline, entreprencuniat culture,
a commutment to bulding longer-term success, and active return-oriented strateges soM across muluple distnbution channels We anticipate that we will have
significant additional investment opportumties across the global asset management industry, most often mdependent boutique investment management firms,
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but also ncluding the potential for mvestments resulting from subsidiary divestitures, secondary sales and other specal siuauions

We are well positioned to execute upon these mvestment opportuniies through our established process of identifying and culuvaung mvestment prospects, our
broad industry relationships, and our substantial ¢xperience and expertise in structunng and negotiating transactions We have a strong reputation as an outstanding
partner to our exisiing Affiliates, and arc widely recogmized m the marketplace 25 providing an innovanve solution for the needs of the highest quality boutique
\nvestment management firms i the world

Investment Management Operations

As of December 31, 2015, we managed $611 3 biltion m predominately active return-onented assets m our three prncipal distnibution channels Institutional,
Mutual Fund and High Net Worth These active retum-oriented sirategies pnmardy comprise global equities and alternative products, rather than indexing
strategies, exchange traded funds, fixed mcome or money market products, which generally carry jower fee rates than active return-onented strategtes Given our
strategy to grow our existing Affiliates, as well as partner with additional boutique investment management firms, we expect 1o continue to grow our business by
adding sctive return-ortented strategies We believe our geographic diversification across active return-onented strategies in over 500 products in our three
distribution channels helps to mitigate our exposure to nisks created by changing market environments The following table provides information regarding the
composition of our total assets under management by active return-criented strategy

December 31, Percentage December 31, Percentage December 31, Percentage

(tn butlions) 2013 of Total 2014 of Total 2015 of Total
Assets under Management
Global Equities m 3 2116 9% § 2372 8% 3 2261 37%
Alternauves @ 128 4 24% 1712 28% 1973 32%
US Equities 1402 26% 1532 25% 1331 22%
Other 571 11% 586 9% 548 9%

Total ¥ s 5373 100% $ 6202 100% § 6113 100%

M Global Equues mnclude emerging market assets under management of 10%, 10% and 9% of total assets under management in 2013, 2014 and 2015,
respectively

@ Alternatives primanily include assets under management i long and short public equity, control equity, managed futures, multi-strategy, and other alternanve
vehicles and hedge fund strategies, as well as energy and infrastructure mvestments and pnmary and secondary private equity strategies Alternatives generate
earmngs from (1) management fees from products subject to lock-ups or simtlar resmctions, (u) management fees fom products not subject to such
restrictions and (1) performance fees and carned interest

(  Other prmanly includes fixed ncome assets under management mcluding mumeipal bond, total return and other fixed mmcome strategies
@  Total assets under management ncludes less than 1% of exchange traded, ndex and money market funds

Dustributior Channels

Through our Affihates, we manage assets n three principal distnbution channels A summary of selected financial data attnbutable to our operations for each
distnbution channel is included 1n “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ mn Item 7 The following table
provides information regarding the composition of our
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total assets under management by distribution channel

December 31, Percentage December 31, Percentage December 31, Percentage
{m bellions) 2013 of Total 2014 of Total 2015 of Total
Assets under Management
Insttunional Y 3006 56% § 3556 57% 8 3475 57%
Mutual Fund 169 4 32% 188 4 3i% 1758 29%
High Net Worth 673 12% 752 12% 880 14%
Total 3 5373 100% $ 6202 100% § 6113 100%

E———

\
\

Institutional Distribution Channel

Through our Affiliates, we manage active return-oncnted strategies primanly through separate accounts for large institutional investors world-wide including
foundations, endowments, sovereign wealth funds and retirement plans for corporations and mumicipahties

Our Affiliates’ istrutional mvestment services and products are distnbuted by sales and marketing professionals developing new nsututional business
through direct sales efforts and established relationships with consultants around the world Our global distmbution platform operates i key markets to extend the
reach of our Affiliates’ own busmess development efforts, including offices 1n Sydney, serving mstiutional mvestors i Austrahia and New Zealand, London,
serving stitutional mvestors i the United Kingdom and continental Europe, Zunich, serving stitutional mvestors in Switzerland, Dubal, serving mstitutional
investors 1 the Middle East, and Hong Kong, serving mstituttonal investors m Asia Our global distribution efforts are designed to provide the necessary résources
and experuse to ensure that our Affilates’ products and services are responsive o the evolving demands of the global marketplace Our Affiliates currently manage
assets for non-U § clients in more than 50 countries, including all major developed markets

Murual Fund Distribution Channe!

Through our Affiliates and AMG Funds, cur U § retal platform, we provide advisory or sub-advisory services to active retum-onented mutual funds, UCITS
and other retail products These products are disinbuted globally to retail and mstitutonal clients directly and through mtermediartes, mctuding independent
investment advisors, retrement plan sponsors, broker-dealers, major fund marketplaces, wrap sponsor platforms and bank trust departments

Haigh Net Worth Distribution Channel

Through our Affihiates, we provide advisory services to high net worth and ultra-high net worth mdviduals, famihes, trusts, foundations, endowments and
retirement plans Direct services to these clients include customized investment counselng, nvestment management, financial, tax and estate planning and family
office services

Through our Affiliates, we also provide advisery services to high net worth indrviduals through managed account relationships with intermedianes such as
brokerage firms and, through AMG Funds, provide enhanced managed account distnbution and admumistration capabiliues to individual managed account chients

Qur Innovative Structure and Relgtionship with Affibates

We establish and mamtain long-term partnerships with management of our Affiliates, believing that Affiliate management equity ownershup (along with our
ownership) ahgns our wnterests, enhances Affiliate management equity ncentives and preserves management’s incentive (o continue to grow therr businesses Our
nnovative partnership approach allows for management of our Affiliates 1o retan equity sufficient 1o address their partcular needs and ensures that our Affiliates
mamtamn mvestment and operational autonomy 1 managng their businesses, as well as their unique entrepreneunal culture and independence Although the equity
structure of each mnvestment 1s tmlored to meet the needs of the particular Affiliate, n all cases, we maintain a meamngful equity interest m the firm, with a
significant equity wnterest retaned by Affiliate management

Each of our Affiliates operates through distinct entittes, typically organized as limited liability compantes or limited partnershups (or equivalent non-U S
forms), which affords us the flexibility to design a separate operating agreement for each Affiliate that reflects our arrangements with respect to governance,
economic participation, equity incentives and the other terms of our relanonship  In each case, the operating agreement provides for a governance structure that
gives Affilate management the authornty to manage and operate the business on a day-to-day basis The operating agreement also reflects the specific terms of our
economic participation m the Affiliate, which in each case 15 structured to ensure alignment of our and Affiliale management’s economic mierests (& “structured
partnershup mterest”) Our structured partership nterests consist
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primanly of structures through which we share n the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses Our structured partmership interests also melude structures
through which we share in the Affiliate’s revenue less cenain agreed-upon expenses

When we own & majonty of the equity wierests m an Affiliate and share m the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses, a sel percentage of revenue 1s
allocated to fund operating expenses, including compensation (the “Operating Allocation™), while the remaining revenue {the “Owners’ Allocanon™) 15 allocated 1o
us and Affihate management m proportion 1o our respective ownership mterests (see Exlibit 1} We and Affihate management therefore participate in any
increases or decreases i revenue through the Owners” Allocation, and Affiliate management also participates in any increases or decreases 1o margin through the

Operating Allocation

Exhubit 1 (Typical Structured Partnership Interess)

Operating
Allocatiay

Ovrners’
Alocation

When we own 2 nunonity of the equity mterests in an Affiliate and share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses, we are aliocated a st
percentage of revenue, with the remaming revenue allocated to fund operatmg expenses and distnbutions to Affiliate management

In structured partnership wnterests in which we share i an Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses, our contractual share of revenue generally has
pricnity over distnbutions to Affilate management

When our structured partership interest 15 calculated by reference to an Affiliate’s revenuc less certain agreed-upon expenses, whether we own a majonty or
minonty of the equity interests in the Affihate, we are allocated a set percentage of revenue net of the agreed categones of expenses, thereby participating in any
increasas or decreases n both revenue and the expenses that are included in the calculation

When we own a majonty of the equity mterests i an Affilate, we consolidate the Affiliate’s financial results in our revenue and operating €xXpenses and
primantly use structures m which we share in the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses When we own a munenty Interest, we use the equity method of
accounting under whuch the Affiliate’s financial results are reported (net of mtangible amortization) n Income from equity methed wnvestments i our Consolidated
Statements of Income, and are not included n our revenue and operating expenses For these equity method mvestments, we either share it the Affiliate’s revenue
without regard to expenses of share n the Affiliate’s revenue less certain agreed-upon expenses

From hme 1o ime, we may change the structure of our arrangements with an Affiliate 1n order to better support the Affilhate’s growth strategy
Competition

In our three principal distnbution channels, our Affiliates compete with a large number of other domestic and foreign invesument management firms, as well as
with subsidianes of larger financial orgamizations These firms may have sigmficantly greater financtal, technological and marketing resources, captive dismbution
and assets under management and many offer an even broader array of investment products and services Certamn Affiliates are acuve in the same distnbution
channels and, from time to ime, may compete with each other for clients In addition, there are relatively few barmers o emiry for new mvestment management
firms, especially n the Institutional distribution channel We believe that the most impartant factors affecting our Affiliates’ ability to compete for chients in our
three principal distribution channels are the
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«  performance records, mvestment style, disciphine and reputation of our A ffihates and their management teams,
»  depth and conunuity of client relationships,
«  mamntenance of strong busimess relationships with major intermedianes,
«  dwersity of products and level of client service offered,
«  continued success of our global distnbution platform, and

»  conunued development, either orgamically or through new nvestments, of mvestment strategies 1o meet the changing needs of mvestors

The relative importance of each of these factors can vary dependmg on the distribution channel and the type of investment management service involved, as
well as general market condiuons Qur Affiliates’ ability to retan and ncrease assets under management would be adversely affected 1f chient accounts
underperform 1n compartson 1o relevant benchmarks or peer groups, or I key personnel leave an Affiliate The abality to compete with other mvestment
management firms also depends, in part, on the relative attractiveness of our Affiliates® nvestment philosophies, methods under then-prevathng market trends, fees
or a combinaton of these factors Our Affiliates represent a diverse group of boutique mnvestment management firms with predominantly active return-oricnted
strategies, rather than indexing strategues, exchange traded funds, fixed mncome or money market products, which generally camry lower fee rates Changes o
investor nisk tolerance or mvestment preferences could result in mvestor allocation away from active return-onented products

We compete with a number of acquirers of and investors in Investment management firms, including other investment management companics, private equity
firms, sovereign wealth funds and larger financial organizations We believe that the most important factors affecting our abihity to compete for future investments
are the

»  degree to which target firms view our mvestment model, equity incentive structures and access to economies of scale as preferable (financially,
operanonally or otherwise) to &cquisition or uvestment arrangements offered by others, and

«  reputation and performance of our Affiliates, by which target firms may judge us and our future prospects
Government Regulahon

Cur and our Affiliates’ businesses are subject to complex and extensive regulation by varous regulatory authorities and exchanges mn jurtsdictions around the
world This regulatory envirenment may be altercd without notice by new laws or regulations, revistons to existing laws or reguiations or new or revised
interpretations or guidance Global financial regulatory reform mitiatives are likely to result in more stingent regulation, and changes in laws or regulatiens and
thetr application to us or our Affiliates could require that we or our Affiltates mcur substantial cost or curtal operations or mvestment offermgs Our or our
Affiliates’ busmesses may be subject to regulatory mquiry or scrutny by regulatory authontres, and regulatory authonues may also conduct examinations or
inspections of our operations or those of our Affihates with or without notice Any determnation of a failure to comply with laws or regulations could result in
disciplinary or enforcement action with penalties that may include the disgorgement of fees, fines, suspensions or censure of individual employees or revocation or
lumatation of business activities or registration Even in the absence of wrongdomng, regulatory inquintes or proceedings could cause substantial expenditures of tme
and capital and result m reputational damage

AMG Funds 15 compnsed of two advisers registered with the U S Secunties and Exchange Commission (SEC) under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
(Adwvisers Act), and they collecuively sponsor over 70 U § mutual funds registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (investment Company Act) that are
managed by Affiliates and unrelated mvestment managers A number of our Affiliates also serve as adwvisers to mutual funds sponsored by them or by third parties
The Adwvisers Act imposes numerous obligations on registered wmvestment advisers, including fiduciary duties, recordkeeping requirements, operational
requirements and compliance and disclosure cbhgations The Investment Company Act mposes additional ebligations on fund adwvisers, mecluding 1nvestment
restrictions and other governance, compliance, Teporting and fiduciary obligations relating to the management of mutual funds Rulemaking proposed by the SEC
1n 2015 may create additional reporting requirements for advisers and funds, and additronal requirements for mutual funds i the areas of hquidity management and
the use of derivauves 1f adopted as proposed, the denivatives rule could negatrvely impact our Affiliates’ ability to tanage certain products and tmpose additional
complhance and operational ¢osis

Outside of the U S , Affihated Managers Group Limited (AMG Limited) 15 regulated by the Frnancial Conduct Authonty mn the United Kmngdom, and 18
authonzed as a promoter i Ireland by the Central Bank of Ireland AMG Limited serves as the

5




Table of Contents

promater for our Insh UCITS platform, which sponsors UCITS funds managed by Affiliates and marketed by AMG Lumuted m the UK and Europe AMG
tumted’s branch, AMG Limited (Dubay), s regulated as a representative office by the Duba Financial Services Authonty Affiliated Managers Group (Hong
Kong) Limited 15 regulated by the Secunties and Futures Commission in Hong Kong, and A ffiliated Managers Group Pty Ltd 1s regulated by the Austrahian
Secunties and Investments Commission in Austrahia

Our Affibates’ mnvestment management operations are also subject to regulation by U S and non-U § authonties and exchanges The majority of our
Affiliates are registered as mvestment advisers under the Advisers Act, and many of our A ffiltates are also subject to non-U S regulatory oversight We have
Affiliates dormicited 1 a number of jurisdictions, and these Affiliates are subject to extensive regutation under the laws and regulations of and supervision by
governmental suthorities n each of these junsdictions Our Affiliates also offer their products and services m many countries around the world, and are subject to
various requirements refating o such activinies Many of our Affihates also sponsor registered and unregistered funds i the U § and 1n other Junsdictions,
mcluding Guernsey, Jersey, Ireland, Luxembourg, British Virgin Islands and the Cayman Islands, and are subject to regulatory requirements in those junsdictions
and mn the junsdictions where those funds may be offered Our Affiliates vest in publicly-traded securihes of 1ssuers across the globe and are subject 0
requirements 1 numerous junisdictions for reporting of beneficial ownership posttions and other requirements  Virtually all aspects of the asset management
business, mncluding strategy and product-related sales and distnbution activities, are subject 10 regulation These laws, rules and regulations are pnmasily intended
1o protect the clients of asset managers, and generally grant supervisory agencies and regulatory bodies broad administrative powers, including the power 1o set
minimum capital requirements and lsmut or restnct an mvestment adviser ffom conducting its business n the event of a failure to comply with such laws and
regulations, to suspend registered employees and to invoke censures or fines for both the regulated business and its employees

We and our Affiliates are also subject to the Employee Reurement Income Secunty Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA), and related regulations, with respect to
therr retirement plan chents ERISA unposes duties on persons who are fiduciartes under ERISA, and prohibits certam transactions mvolving related parties to a
retirement plan The Department of Labor admimsters ERISA and regulates investment advisers who service retirement plan chents and has been tncreasingly
active i proposing and adopting addiuional regulations appheable to the asset management mdustry

W and certamn of our Affiliates are also members of the National Futures Association and regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading Commussion (CFTC)
with respect to the management of mutual funds and other products that utilize futures, swaps or other denvative products The Commodity Exchange Act and
CFTC regulations impose addittonal operational, nsk management and compliance burdens

In addition, we and certan of our Affiliates are registered broker-dealers and members of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authonty (FINRA), for the
purpose of distnbuting funds or other asset management products These broker-dealers are subject to net capital rules that mandate that they mamntan certain
leveis of capital FINRA has adopted extensive regulatory requirements relating to sales practices, registratton of personnet, compliance and supervision, and
compensation and disclosure FINRA and the SEC conduct perodic examunations of member broker-dealers The SEC, FINRA and state securitics commissions
may also conduct administrative proceedings that can result in censure, fine, suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer, its officers or registered employees These
admmistrative proceedings, whether or not resulung 1n adverse findings, can require substannal expenditures and can have an adverse umpact on the reputation or
business of a broker-dealer

We and our Affiiates may also be subject 1o regulatory capital requirements, mcluding those of federal, state and non-U § regulatory agencies Our and our
Affiliates’ regulatory capital, as defined, meets or exceeds all minimum requirements

Due to the extensive laws and regulations to which we and our Affiliates are subject, we must devote substantial ume, expense and effort 1o remawning current
on, and addressing, legal and regulatory compliance matters We and our Affiliates have expenenced legal teams and compliance professtonals place to address
the legal, regulatory and compliance requirements relatmg to our global operations, and have in place refationships with various legal and regulatory advisors m
each of the countries where we and our Affiliates have business interests Each of our Affiliates has established a compliance program to address regulatory
compliance requirements for 1ts operations, and provides ongoing reporung to us on comphance matters

Employees and Corporate Orgamzation
As of December 31, 2015 , we had approximately 3,200 employees, the substantial majorty of which were employed full-time by our Affiliates Neither we

nor our A filiates are subject to any collective bargaimng agreements, and we beheve that our and our Affiliates’ labor relations are good We were formed 1 1993
as a corporation under the laws of the State of Delaware
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Our Web Site

Our web site 1 www amg com  Qur web site provides informatron about us, and from time to tume we may use 1t as a distributton channel of material
company informatton We routmely post financial and other important nformation regarding the Company 1n the “Investor Relations™ section of our web site and
we encourage mnvestors 10 consult that section regularly That section of our web site ncludes a link to another web site where one can obtaimn, free of charge,
copies of our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Currem Reports on Form 8-K, mcluding exhibits, and any amendments to those
reports filed or furmshed with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended We make these reports available
through our web stte as soon as reasonably practicable after our electronic filing of such matenials with, or the furmishing of them to, the SEC The mformation
contamed or meorporated on our web site 15 not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
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Item 1A Rusk Factors

We and our Affiliates face a vanety of nsks that are substantial and mherent n our businesses, includmg markets, hiquidity, credit, operational, legal and
regulatory nisks The following are some of the more important factors that could affect out and our Affihates’ businesses Certamn statements in “Rusk Factors™ are

forward-looking statements See “Forward-Looking Statements ”

Our financial results depend on the receipt of investment management fees by our Affiliates, which are impacied by market returns and investment
performance.

Investment management fees are typically based on the market value of assets under management, and fees will be adversely affected by dechnes in the capital
markets and 1n the equity markets 1 particular In certain mstances, our Affiliates are paid fees based on investment performance on an absolute basis or relative (o
a benchmark and, as such, are directly dependent upon mvestment results that may vary substantially from year to year Unfavorable market performance and
volatility mn the capital markets or in the prices of specific securties may impact the abihity to market products and services and reduce our assets under
management, which m turn may adversely affect the fees payable to our Affiliates and, ultimately, our results of operations and financial condition These factors
may also impact the ability to market products and services available through AMG Funds, which 1n turn may adversely affect the fees payable to us and our
Affillates Addiionally, global economic conditions, exacerbated by changes i the equity or debt marketplaces, unanticipated changes n currency exchange rates,
interest rates, mflation rates, the yield curve, financial cnises, war, terronsm, nature] disasters or other factors that are difficult to predict affect equity markets and
the levels of our assets under management Because our assets under management are largely concentrated 1n equity products, our financial results are particularly
susceptible to downturns n the equity markets, or a declne i the assets mvested m the equity markets

Our growth strategy depends upon the continued growth of our existing Affiliates and upon making investments in new boutique investment management
firms or additional investments in existing Affihates.

Qur Affiliates may not mantam their respective levels of performance or contrbute to our growth at their historical or currently anticipated levels Also, our
Affiliates may be unable to carry out their management successton plans, which may adversely affect thewr operations and revenue streams and thus our results of

operations

The continued success of our mnvestment program will depend upon our abihity to find suitable firms i which to invest or make additional mvestments i
existing Affiliates, our abality to negotiate agreements with such firms on acceptable terms, and our abtlity to raise the capital necessary to finance such
transactions We cannot be certamn that we will be successful m makng mvestments m such firms or that they will have favorable operating results followmg our
mvestment, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial conditicn and results of operations

Our financial results would be adversely affected by any reduction In our assets under management, and may be impacted by changes in the relative levels of
assets under management among our Affiliates.

Investment management fees are primanly based on a percentage of the value of assets under management, and vary with the nature of the account or product
managed Any decrease in the total level of our assets under management generally, as a result of exther a decline 1n market vatue of such assets, ncluding due to
exchange rate fluctuations or net cutflows, would reduce our revenue and profitebility Through our Affihates, we primanly manage active return-onented
products, rather than indexing strategies, exchange traded funds, fixed income or money market products, all of which generally carry lower fee rates Changes
investor nisk tolerance or investment preferences could result in investor allocations away from active return-ortented products or adversely impact our Affihates’
ability to mamtain existing advisory relatonships and fee structures Additionally, our structured partnership mnterests are tailored to meet the needs of each
Affiliate and are therefore vaned, and our revenue and profitability may be adversely affected by changes in the relative performance and the relauve levels of
assets under management among our Affiliates, mdependent of overall effective fee rates and our total level of assets under management Further, certan Affiliates
contribute sigmficantly to our earmings and therefore declmes in the market value of assets or net outflows at such Affiliates could have a disproporuionate adverse
impact on our earmings Fluctuations i the amount and mix of our assets under management may be attributable n part 1o market conditions outside of our control
Any decrease in the tevel of our assets under management or adverse changes in the mix among our Affiliates could negatrvely impact our financial condition and

results of operations
Historically, equity markets and our common stock have been volatile.
The market price of our common stock stonically has experienced and may continue to expenence volatility, and the broader equity markets have

expenenced and may again expenence significant pnoe and volume fluctuations In additton, our announcements of our quarterly operating results, including
changes 1 net client cash flows and aggregate assels under
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management, changes i general conditions 1n the economy or the financial markets and other developments affecung us, our Affihates or cur competitors could
cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially

If our reputation is harmed, we could suffer losses in our business and financial results.

Our business depends on eaming and mantaning the trust and confidence of our Affihates and our stockholders Cur reputatton 15 enitical to our business and
15 viilnerable to threats that may be difficult or impossibte to control, and costly or umpossible to remediate For example, failure to comply with applicable laws,
rules or regulations, errors i our pubhc reports or htigation aganst us or any of our Affiliates, or the publicity surrounding these events, even if sausfactonly
addressed, could adversely impact our reputation, our relationships with our Affiliates and our ability to negotiate agreements with boutique investment
management firms, as well as negatively impact our financial condition and results of operations

Our and our Affiliates’ businesses are highly regulated.

Our and our Affiliates’ businesses are subject to complex and extensive regulation by vanous regulatory and self-regulatory authorities and exchanges n
unsdictions around the world, as detailed m “Govemment Regulation™ 1n ltem 1 These laws and regulations umpose requirements, restrnictions and hmitations on
our and our Affiliates’ businesses, and comphiance with these laws and regulations results in significant cost and expense [f we or any of our Affiliates were to fail
to comply with apphicable laws, nules or regulations or be named as a subject of an imvestigation or other regulatory action, the public announcement and potential
publicity surrounding any such mvestigation or action could have a matenial adverse effect on our stock price and result i increased costs even 1f we or our
Affihates were found not to have violated such laws, rules or regulations The falure to satisfy regulatory requirements could subject us or our Affiliates to civil
liabulity, criminal Lisbihity or sancuions that might matenally mpact our or our Affiliates’ businesses Further, some of these laws and regulations it the types of
activities 1 which we or our Affiliates may engage, and any failure to manage our respective businesses to ensure compliance with applicable regulations and to
avord becoming subject to additional regulations could have a matertal adverse effect on our and our Affiliates’ businesses As mvestment advisers, our Affiliates
and AMG Funds are subject to numerous obhigations, fiduciary duties and other regulatory requirements, where non-contphance could result in censure or
termunanon of adviser status, litigation or reputational harm, any of which could have a matenal adverse effect on our stock price and results of operations

Inthe U S, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which represented a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services
regulatory environment, contnues to drive federal agencies to implement numerous new rules, which may mmpose additional restnictions and hmitations on our and
our Affilates’ businesses as they are adopted Rulemaking proposed by the SEC n 2015 may create additional reporting requirements for advisers and funds, and
addinonal requirements for mutual funds i the areas of hquidity management and the use of denvatives If adopted as proposed, the denvatives rule could
negatively impact our Affiliates’ ability to manage certain products and impose additional comphance and operational costs

Changes 1n laws or regulatory requirements, or the interpretation or application of such laws and regulatory requirements by regulatory authorities, can occur
without notice and could have a material adverse impact on our and our Affibates’ financial resulis and mode of operations Globally, proposals have called for
more stngent regulation of the financial services industry n which we and our Affiliates operate, which may make 1t more likely that changes will occur that
could adversely affect our and our Affiliates’ businesses, our access to capital and the market for our common stock Regulators continue to consider whether asset
managers or funds, or certain assct management products or actrvities, should be destgnated as systemically important, and therefore subject to addional
regulanon In the Umited Kingdom and Europe, our and our Affiliates’ businesses may be impacted by financial services reform wnitiattves enacted or under
consideration 1n the European Umon These new laws and regulanons may also result in imcreased compliance costs and expenses, and non-compliance may result
wn fines and penalties

Our and our Affiliates’ internatlonal operations are subject to foreign risks, including political, regulatory, economic and currency risks

We and certam of our Affihates operate offices or advise clients outside the U S , and several Affiliates are based outside the U § Accordingly, we and certam
of our Affilates are subject to risks inherent in doing busmness internationatly, in addition o the risks our busmesses face more generally These nsks may include
changes n apphicable laws and regulatory requirements, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, longer payment cycles, difficulues in collecting
mvestment advisory fees receivable, different, and 1n some cases, less stnngent legal, regulatory and accounting regrmes, pohitical mstabihity, fluctuations in
currency exchange rates, expatriatton controls, expropriation nsks and potential adverse tax consequences In addition, we and certam of our Affiliates are required
to mamtam muumum levels of capital, and such capital requirements may be increased from ume to tine, which may have the effect of imiting withdrawals of
capital, repayment of
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wntercompany loans and payment of distnbutions to us by these Affihates These or other risks related to our and our Affiliates’ non-U § operations may have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Fatlure to comply with the applicable laws, rules, regutations, codes, directives, notices or guidelines m any junsdiction outside of the U S could resultn a
wide range of penalties and disciplinary actions, including fines, censures and the suspension or expulston from a particular junsdiction or market or the revocation
of hicenses, any of which could adversely affect our or our Affiliates” reputations and operations Regulators 1 junsdictions outside of the U S could also change
therr policies or laws in a manner that might restnct or otherwise impede the ablity to offer our Affiliates” mvestment products and services i their respective
markets, or we or our Affiliates may be unable to keep up with, or adapt to, the ever changing, complex regulatory requirements in such junsdictions or markets,
which could further negatively impact our business

Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilittes could have a material impact on our flnancial condition, results of operations and hquadity

We are subject to tncome taxes as well as non-icome-based taxes both the U S and vartous Junsdictions outside of the U § and are subject to ongoing tax
audits n such junsdictions and may be subject to future tax audits We regularly assess the likely outcomes of these audits in order 1o determune the
appropriateness of our tax provision However, tax authorities may disagree with certam positions we have taken and assess additional taxes and/or penaltes and
interest There can be no assurance that we will accurately predict the outcomes of these audits, and the actual outcomes of these audits could have a material
impact on our financial condinon

Further, changes 1n tax laws or tax mlmgs conld materially rmpact our effective tax rate of have a significant impact en our future financial condition and
results of operations The U S Congress and other government agencies in jyunsdictions m which we do business have mamtained a focus on the taxation of
multnational compantes For example, the Orgamization for Economic Co-operation and Development, which represents a coalition of member countries, 1S
contemplating changes to numerous international tax principles through its base erosion and profit-shiftmg project, including mterest deductibilaty, transfer pricing
and eligibility for the benefits of double tax treaties, which could increase tax uncertaimnty and costs In addition, proposals for fundamental U S cotporate tax
reform, 1f enacted, could change the amount of taxes we are required to pay and have a significant umpact on our financial condition

Our Affiliates’ autonomy Hmuts our ability to alter their management practices and policies, and we may be held responsible for liabilittes incurred by certain
of them.

Although our agreements with our Affiliates typicaily give us the authonity to contrel and/or vote with respect to certam of their business activities, we
generally are not directly involved 1n managing our Affiliates’ day-to-day acuvities, mcluding mvestment management policies and procedures, fee levels,
marketing, product development, client relationships, employment and compensation programs and comphance ectivities As 8 CONSEQUERCE, our financial
condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by problems stemmang from the day-to-day operanons of our Affiliates, where weaknesses or failures
10 ivternal processes or systems or other operational challenges could tead to a disruption of our Affiliates’ operations, hability to their clients, exposure (o
disciplinary action or reputational harm

Some of our Affiliates are hmited liability comparues or hmited parmershps (or equivalent non-U § forms) of which we, or enuties controlled by us, are the
general partner or managing member Consequently, to the extent that any of these Affiliates mcur habilinies or expenses that exceed their ability to pay for them,
we may be directly or indirectty hable for their payment Sumlarly, an Affiliate’s payment of distributions to us may be subject to claims by potential creditors, and
an Affiliate may default on distnbutionts that are payable to us In addition, with respect to each of these Affihates, we may be held hable m some circumstances as
a contro) person for the acts of the Affiliate or its employees Our Affiliates glso may face various claims, lingation or complants from time to time and we cannot
predict the eventual outcome of such matters or whether any matters could become matental to a particular Affiliate or us m any reporting pened While we and our
Affiliates mamtam errors and omusstons and general liability mnsurance i amounts believed 1o be adequate to cover cerain potential habulities, we cannot be
certan that we will not have claims that exceed the hmuts of available insurance coverage, that the insurers will remain solvent and will meet thewr obligations to
provide coverage or that insurance coverage will continue to be available to us and our Affiliates with sufficient limits and at a reasonable cost A judgment
excess of available msurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations

The agreed-upon expense allocation under our structured partnership interests in which we share in the Affillate’s revenue without regard to expenses may
not be large enough fo pay for all of the respectrve Affiliate’s operating expenses

In the case of our typical structured partnership interests, such Affilates have agreed to pay us a specified percentage of their respective revenue, while using
the remainder of revenue to pay that Affiliate’s operating expenses and for distributions to Affiliate management We may not anticipate and reflect i those
agreements possible changes in the revenue and operating
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expense base of any Affiliate, and the revenue remamning after our specified percentage may not be large enough to pay for all of an Affiliate’s operating expenses
While our dismbutions generally have prionty, we may clect to defer the receipt of our share of an Affiliate’s revenue to permit the Affihate to fund such operating
expenses, or we may restructure our relationship with an Affilate with the aim of maximizing the long-term benefits to us, but we cannot be certain that any such
deferral or restructured relanonship would be of any greater benefit to us Such a deferral o restnictured relanionship may have an adverse effect on our near-term
or long-term financial condition and results of operations

When our structured partnership interest Is calculated by reference to the Affillate’s revenue less certain agreed-upon expenses, we have direct exposure 10
fluctuations in revenue and operating expenses

In the case of our structured partnership nterests that are calculated by reference to an Affiliate’s revenue less certan agreed-upon expenses, we are allocated
a set percentage of the Affiliate’s revenue net of the agreed categones of expenses, thereby participating in any mcreases of decreases m both revenue and the
expenses that are mcluded 1n the calcufation Thus structure aliows us to benefit from any decrease tr the expenses that are included i the calculanon, but also
exposes us directly 10 any increase 1n such expenses, which we may not anticipate and which could be significant Further, the impact of such decreases and
increases in such expenses at these Affihates on our earmings and our stock price could increase 1f the portion of our earmings denved from such Affihiates
mcreases

Our industry is highly competittve

Our Affiliates compete with a broad range of domestic and foreign investment management firms, mcluding public and private mvestment adwvisors, firms
assoctated with securities broker-dealers, financial institutions, isurance companies, private equity firms, sovereign weaith funds and other entinies that serve our
three principal distributton channels This competiion may reduce the fees that our Affilates can obtamn for investment management services We believe that our
Affiliates’ ability 1o compete effectively with other firms 1n our three distribution channels depends upon our Affilates’ products, nvestment performance,
reputations, and client-servicing capabilies, and the marketing and disiribution of thexrr investment products, among other factors (See “Competition” in ltem 1)
Our Affiliates may not compare favorably with thewr competitors 1n any or ail of these categonies From ttme to tume, our Affiliates may also compete with each
other for clients Further, our Affiliates’ ability to compete with other mvestment management firms also depends, m part, on the relative attractiveness of thewr
nvestment philosophies, methods under then-prevailing market trends, fees or & combination of these factors Our Affiliates represent a diverse group of boutique
investment management firms with predominantly active return-oriented products, rather than indexng strategies, exchange traded funds, fixed income or money
market products, which generally carry lower fee rates Changes in tnvestor risk tolerance or nvestment preferences could result in wvestor allocation away from
active repam-onented products

‘The market for acquisttions of interests m boutique mvestment management firms 1s ughly competiive Many other public and private financial services
companies, mmcluding commercial and investment banks, private equity firms, sovereign wealth funds, msurance companies and investment management firms,
which may have sigmificantly greater resources than we do, also mvest m or buy boutique mnvestment management firms Further, our innovative partnership
approach with our Affiliates 1s designed to provide enhanced incentives for management owners whle enabling us 1o protect our interests, including through
structured partnership interests and long-term employment agreements with key members of the firm Target investment management firms may prefer
\nvestments m therr firms under terms and structures offered by our competitors We cannot guarantee that we will be able to compete effectively with such
companies, that new compettors will not enter the market or that such competition will not make 1t more difficult or not feasible for us 1o mamntam existing
mvesttments or to make new mvestments 1n boutique investment management firms

The failure to consummate announced investments in new boutique investment management firms could have an adverse effect on our financal condition and
results of operations

Consummation of our announced mvestments are generally subject to a number of closing conditions, contingencies and approvals, including but not lumited
1o obtaining certaun consents of the bovtique investment management firms’ clienis In the event that an announced transaction 1S not consummated, we may
expenence a decline in the price of our common stock to the extent that the then-current market price reflects a market assumption that we will complete the
announced transaction Tn addiuon, the fact that a transaction did not close after we announced 1t publicly may negatively affect our ability and prospects to
consummate transactions m the future Finally, we must pay costs related to these investments, including transaction fees, even If the nvestments are not
completed, which may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations

We expect that we will need to raise addinonal capital in the future, and existing or future resources may not be available to us in sufficient amounis or on
acceptable terms.
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While we believe that our existng cash resources and cash flow from operauons will be sufficient to meet our working capital needs for normal operations for
the foreseeable future, our continuing acquisizons of interests 1 new boutique investment management firms and existing Affiliates may require additional capital
1n addition, we are contingently hable to make additional purchase payments (of up to 3252 1 million through 2019) upon the achievement of specified financal
targets m connection with certam of our prior acquisiions As of December 31, 2015, we expected to make payments of § 14 0 million (none m 2016) to settle
such obligations We also have commutted to co-mnvest 1n certamn mvestment parerships, which may be called in future periods

Subject to certain imntations, majonty-owned Affiliate equity mterests generally provide holders the conditional right to put equity interests 1o us over ime
Because these obligations are conditional and dependent upon the individual equity-holder’s decision to sell his or her equuty, 1t 1s difficult 1o predict the frequency
and magmtude of these repurchases (our Redeemable non-controlling interests balance at December 31, 2015 was $612 5 million ) We may also cali all or a
portion of these equity mterests upon, among other events, the termanation of an equity holder’s employment, although these nghts may be limited or suspended in
certain circumstances These obligations may require more cash than 15 then available from operations Thus, we may need to raise capital by making addiuonal
borrowings of by selling shares of our common stock or other equity or debt securities, or to otherwise refinance a portion of these obligations

As of December 31, 2015 , we had outstanding total debt of $1 9 bilion Our level of indebtedness may crease 1f we fund one or more future acquisitions
through borrowings under our credit facilities This additional mdebtedness could increase our vulnersbility to general adverse economic and industry conditions
and will require us to dedicate a greater portion of our cash flow ffom operations to payments on our indebtedness

The financmg achvities described above could increase our interest expense, decrease our Net income {controliing nterest) or dilute the interests of our
existing stockholders In additton, our access to further capital, and the cost of capital we are able to access, 15 influenced by a number of factors, mcluding the
state of global credit and equity markets, wtcrest rates, credit spreads and our credn ratings We are rated A3 by Moody's Investors Service and BBB+ by Standard
& Poor’s Ratings Services The rating agencies could dscide to downgrade our ratings or the entire mvestment management industry, thereby making + difficult to
access capital markets In addition, a reduction 10 our credit rating could mncrease our borrowing costs

Our debt agreemenis impose certain covenants relating to the conduct of our business, including financial covenants under our credit facilities, and, if
amounts berrowed or outstanding under these agreements were subject to accelerated repayment, we may not have sufficient assets or liquidity to repay such
amounts In full,

Our credst facihities require us to mamntam specified financial ratios, including a maximum leverage ratto and a mintmum mterest coverage ratio, and also
contam customary affirmative operating covenants and negative covenants that, among other things, place certain limitanons on our and our subsidiaries” abality to
meur debt, merge or transfer assets and on our abifity to create liens The indentures governing our senior notes also contain restriciions on our ability to merge or
transfer assets and on our ability to create liens The breach of any covenant (either due to our actiens or, 1n the case of financial covenants, due to a sigmficant and
prolonged market driven decline 1 our operating resulis) could result n a default under the apphicable debt agreement In the event of any such default, lenders that
are party to the credit faciliies could refuse to make further extensions of credit to us Further, 1 the event of certamn defaults, amounts borrowed under the credit
facilities and/or outstanding under the seruor notes, together with accrued nterest and other fees, could become immediately due and payable If any indebtedness
under the credit faciliies or the mdentures governing the semor notes was subject to accelerated repayment, we muight not have sufficient liquid assets to repay
such indebtedness mn full

We have substantial intangibles on our balance sheet, and any impairment of aur intangibles could adversely affect our results of operations
At December 31, 2015, our total assets were $7 8 billion, of which $4 4 brilion were intangible assets, and $1 9 billion were equity method mvestments th

Affiliates, an amount compnsed pnmanly of mtangible assets We cannot be certam that we vall realize the value of such ntangible assets An mmpaurment of our
intangble assets or an other than temporary declne mn the value of our equity investments could adversely affect our financiat condition and results of operattons

We and our Affilintes rely on certain key personnel and cannot guarantee their continued service.

We depend on the efforts of our executive officers and our other officers and employees Qur executive officers, 1n particular, play an umporiant role m the
stability and growth of our existing Affihates and 1n 1dentifymng potential investment oppormmtes for us We do not have employment agreements with our
executive officers, although each has a sigruficant deferred equnty mnterest in the Company and 1s subject to non-solicitation and non-competitive restrictions that
may be tnggered upon their departure However, there is ne guarantee that these officers will remain with the Company
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In addition, our Affiates depend heavily on the services of key principals, who i many cases have managed their firms for many years These principals
often are pnmaniy respensible for their firm’s investment decisions Although we use a combinaton of economic incentives, transfer restrictions and, n some
\nstances, non-solicitation agreements and employment agreements m an effort to retain key management personnel, there 1s no guaranice that these principals will
remamn with their firms Smce certain Affihates contnbute significantly 1o our revenue, the loss of key management personnel at these Affiliates could have a
disproportionate adverse 1mpact on our business

Our or our Afftliates’ controls and procediires may foil or be circumvented, our or our Affiliates’ risk management policles and procedures may be inadequate,
and operational risk could adversely affect our or our Affiliates’ reputation and financial position

We and our Affiliates have adopted vanous controls, procedures, polictes and systems Lo monitor and manage nsk m our and therr busmesses While we
currently believe that our and our Affiliates” operational controls are effective, we cannot provide assurance that those controls, procedures, pohcies and systems
will always be adequate to :dentify and manage the mtemnai and external risks 1n our and our Affiliates” various businesses Furthermore, we or our Affiliates may
have errors 1 our busmess processes or fml to tmplement proper procedures in operaung our busiesses, which may expose us or cur Affiliates to nsk of financial
loss or fatlure to comply with a regulatory requrement We and our Affiliates are also subject to the nsk that employees or contractors, or other third parties may
deliberately seek to crrcumvent eslablished controls to commut fraud or ct 10 ways that are wmnconsistent with controls, pelicies and procedures The financial and
reputational mpact of control failures can be significant

In addition, our and our Affiliates’ businesses and the markets 1 which we and our Affiliates operate are continuously evolving If our or our Affilrates’ risk
framework 15 imeffective, either because of a farlure 1o keep pace with changes in the financial markets, regulatory requirements, our or our Affihales’ businesses,
counterparties, clients or service providers or for other reasons, we or our Affiliates coutd incur losses, suffer reputational damage or be out of comphance with
apphcable regulatory or contractual mandates or expectations

Provisions in our organizanonal documents, Delaware law and our debt agreements could delay or prevent a change in control of our company

Provistons 1 our charter and by-laws and anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent an unsolicited change n control 1n
the Company These provisions may also have the effect of making 1t more difficult for third parties 1o replace our current management without the consent of our
Board of Directors Provistons in our charter and by-laws that could delay or prevent an unsohicited change  control nclude

+  the ability of our Beard of Directors to 1ssue preferred stock and to determine the terms, nghts and preferences of the preferred stock without stockholder
approval, and

s the proubition on the night of stockholders to call meetings or act by wrtten consent and limuiations on the right of stockholders to present proposals or
make nominations at stockholder meetings

Delaware law also imposes restriciions on mergers and other busmess combinations between us and any helder of 15 percent or more of our outstanding
common stock In addition, our credit faciliies and the indentures governing our SeNIor NOtes contain vanous covenatts that limit our ability, among other things,
1o consolidate, merge, sell, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets Further, given our permanent parmership approach, which 1 designed to
preserve our Affihates’ mvestment and operational autonomy and independence, a change i control may also be viewed negatively by our Affiliates, impacung
their relationship with us

These anti-takeover provisions and other factors may mhibit a change of control 1n circumstances that could give our stockholders the opportunity to realize a
premium over the market pnice i our common stock, and may result in negative impacts on our financial results in penods following a change of control

The sale or issuance of subsiontial amounts of our conmion stock could adversely impact the price of our common stock.

The sale or 1ssuance of substantial amounts of our common stock i the pubhic market could adversely impact 1ts price In connection with our financing
activities, we have 1ssued securities and entered nto contracts, ncluding our junior convertible trust preferred secunties and forward equity agreements, that may
result m the wssuance of our common stock upon the occurrence of certam events We also have exercisable options outstanding and unvested restncted stock that
have been awarded under our share-based mcentive plans Additionally, we have the nght to setile certan Affiliate equity repurchase obligations with shares of our
common stock Moreover, in connection with future financing ectivities, we may 15s5ue
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addional convertible secunities or shares of our common stock, including through forward equity transactions Any such 1ssuance of shares of our common stock
could have the effect of substantally difuting the interests of our current equity holders in the event that a large number of shares of our common stock are sold in
the public market, the price of our common stock may fall

Faulure to maintain and properly safeguard an adeguate technology infrastructiure may limit our or our Affilates’ growth, result in losses or disrupt our or our
Affiliates’ businesses

Our and our Affihates’ busmesses are rehiant upon financial, accounting and technology systems and networks to process, transmit and store information,
including sensitive chient and propnetary information, and to conduct many businiess activities and transactions with chents, adwvisors, vendors and other thurd
parties The falure to implement, maintain and safeguard an nfrastructure commensurate with the size and scope of our and our Affiliates’ businesses could
umpede productivity and growth, which could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations Further, we and our Affiliates rely on third parties
for certamn aspects of our respective businesses, including financial mtermedianes and technology nfrastructure and service providers, ncluding brokers,
custodians, administrators and other agents, and these parties are also susceptible to simlar risks

Although we and our Affiliates take protective measures and endeavor to modify them as circumstances warrant, computer systems, software, networks and
mobile devices, and those of third parties on whom we and our A ffiliates rely, may be vulnerable to cyber attacks, breaches, unauthonized access, theft, misuse,
computer viruses or other malicious code and other events that could have a security impact If any such events occur, it could Jeopardize confidential, propnetary
or other sensitive mformation of ours, our Affiliates and our respective clients, employees or counterparties that may be stored m, or transmutted through, mternal
or thurd-party computer systems, networks and mobile devices, or could otherwise cause mterruptions or malfunctions in our and our Affiliates’ operations or those
of our respective chents or counterparties Despile efforts to ensure the integnty of systems and networks, 11 15 possible that we, our Affihiates or third party service
providers may not be able to anticipate or to implement effective preventive measures agamst all threats, especially because the techmques used change frequently
and can ongnate from a wide vanety of sources As a result, we or our Affiliates could expenence disruption, sigmficant losses, increased costs, reputational harm,
regulatory actions or legal liability, any of which could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations We or our Affihates may
be required to spend significant additional resources to modify protecuve measures or 1o investigate and remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures, and we or our
Affiliates may be subject to hugation and financiat losses that are either not mnsured agamnst fully or not fully covered through any msurarce that we or cur
Affiliates maintain

Our financial results could be adversely affected by the financial stability of other financial institutions.

We and our Affiliates routinely execute transactions with various counicrparties in the financial services ndustry Histoncal market volatihity highhights the
interconnection of the global markets and demonstrates how the detenorating financial condition of one mstitution may matenially and adversely impact the
performance of other nstitutions We and our Affiliates may be exposed to credit, operatonal or other nsk m the event that & counterparty with whom we or our
Affiliates transact defaulls on its obligations, or 1f there are other unrelated systemic failures i the markets

Investment management confracts are subject to termnation on short notice,

Through our Affiliates, we denve almost all of our revenue from chents pursuant to investment management contracts While certain Affiliates’ private equity
and aliernative products have long-term commitment periods, many of our Affiliates’ investment management contracts are termmable by the client without
penalty upon relatively short notice (typacally not longer than 60 days) and may not be assignable without consent We cannot be certain that our Affiliates will be
able to retam their existing chents or attract new chents If their chents withdraw a substantial amount of funds, 11 1s likely to harm our resuits In addition,
investment management contracts with mutual funds are subject to annual approval by each fund’s board of directors
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Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

There are no unresolved wiitten comments that were recetved from the SEC staff 180 days or more before the end of our fiscal year relating to our penedic or
current reports under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

Item 2 Properties

We conduct our operations around the world using a combination of leased and owned facihinies While we believe we have suitable property resources
currently, we will contmue to evaluate our property needs and will complement these resources as necessary

Our prncipal offices are located at 777 South Flagier Dnive, West Palm Beach, Flonda, 600 Hale Street, Prides Crossing, Massachusetts, and 35 Park Lane,
London, England We also lease offices in Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, Greenwich, Connectcut, Chicago, Illinos, Sydney, Austrahia, Toronto, Canada, Zurich,
Switzerland, Hong Kong, and Dubai, Umited Arab Enurates In addition, each of our Affiliates leases office space 1 the city or cities in which it conducts business,
as appropnate for their respective business needs from tme to time

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

From time to tume, we and our A ffiliates may be parties to vanous claims, suits, complaimts and regulatory inquines, certan of which are described 1n the
notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements Currently, there are no such claims, suits, complamis or regulatory inquines aganst us or our Affilhates that, in our
opuuon, would have a matenal adverse effect on our financial position, hiquedity or results of operations

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable




PART 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock 1s traded on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol AMG) The following table sets forth the lugh and low prices as reported on the New
York Stock Exchange since January 1, 2014 for the penods ndicated.

High Low
2014
First quarter $ 21939 $ 1B0S8S
Second quarter 206 19 176 85
Third quarter 214 41 192 34
Fourth quarter 216 49 174 43
2015
First quarter $ 22146 § 19136
Second quarter 230 63 21198
Third quarter 221 80 164 54
Fourth quarter 190 74 141 68

The closing price for a share of our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on February 22, 2016 was $134 99 As of February 22, 2016,
there were 19 stockholders of record , mcluding banks, brokers and other financial institutions holding shares 1n ommibus accounts for their customers (in total
representing substantially all of the beneficial holders of our common stock)

We have not declared a cash dividend with respect to the pertods presented We do not currently anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock as we
intend 1o retan earmings to finance new Affihaie investments, repay indebtedness, pay interest and income taxes, repurchase debt secunities and shares of our
common stock when appropnate, and develop our existing business

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Maximum Number of
Total Number of Shares Shares that May Yet Be

Total Number of Purchased as Part of Purchased Under
Shares AveragePnce  Publicly Announced Plans Outstanding Plans or
Penod Purchased Paid Per Share or Programs Programs 'V
Octeber 1-31, 2015 — 3 —_ —_ 2,491,068
November 1-30, 2015 201,038 169 82 201,038 2,290,030
December 1-31, 2015 — — — 2,290,030
Total 201,038 169 82 201,038

) QOur Board of Durectors has penodically authonzed share repurchase programs, most recently in May 2015 authonzing us to repurchase up to 3 0 million
shares of our common stock Purchases may be made from ume to ume, at management's discretion As of December 31, 20135, 2 3 mulhon shares remained
available for repurchase under the May 2015 program, which does not expire
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The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder retum on our common stock from December 31, 2010 through December 31, 2015, with the
cumulatve total return, during the same penod, on the Standard & Poor’s 500 [ndex, the Standard & Poor’s 500 Financial Sector Index and a peer group
compnsed of AllianceBernstein Holding L P, Amenpnse Financial, Inc , BlackRock, Inc, Eaton Vance Corp , Franklin Resources, Inc, Invesco Ltd, Legg
Mason, Inc, T Rowe Price Group, Inc and Waddell & Reed Financial, Inc The companson assurnes the mvestment of $100 on December 31, 2010 1n our
common stock and cach of the companson ndices and, m each case, assumes reinvestment of all dividends

COMPARISON OF § YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"®

Among Afiliated Managers Group, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, the S&P Finandials index
anda Peer Group

$250 1

$450 1

$100

1210 12114 1212 12113 1214 1215

—a— Affitated Managers Group, Inc, —-a— SA&P 500 -—2--- $4P Financials —t— Poer Group

*$100 invested on 12131710 in stock or ndex, notiding renvestment of dividends
Faca! year ending December 31

CopynghtD 2018 S8P, a dhvaxon of McGrew Hll Financal Al rights reserved
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data

The following table presents sefccted financial data for the last five years Thus dam should be read 1n conjunction with, and 1s qualified in its enturety by
reference to, the Consohidated Fmancial Statements and accompanymg notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in millrons, excepi as noted and per share data) 2011 2612 2013 2014 2018
Assets under Management (at penod end, in billions) $ 3275 % 4318 § 5373 0§ 6202 § 6113
Average Assets under Management (in billions) 3306 3812 483 8 5859 6239
Statement of Income Data
Revenue $ 1,7048 § 18055 § 2,1888 § 25109 § 24845
Net mncome 3596 4114 669 6 7856 8337
Net income (controlling mterest) 164 9 1740 360 5 4521 5160
Eamings per share {diluted) 311 328 655 801 928
Other Financial Data
EBITDA (controlling mterest) $ 4713 § 5434 % 8199 § 9008 § 9422
Economic net wcome (conirolling interesty ¥ 3510 408 8 5701 644 4 6912
Economic earmings per share 662 771 1031 1145 12 55
Balance Sheet Data
Total assets $ 52189 § 46,1871 $ 63188 § 76981 § 77848
Long-term debt 1,1982 1,630 6 1,383 7 1,894 6 1,894 8
Redeemable non-controlling interests 4518 4775 6419 6455 6123
Total equity 2,499 6 3,041 4 3,144 6 3,6432 3,769 1

0} EBITDA (controllng interest) and Economic net income {controlling nterest), mcluding Economic earnings per share, are non-GAAP performance measures
and are discussed in “Supplemental Performance Measures” in Item 7
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Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finarcial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditton and Results of Operations of Affiltated Managers Group, Inc and its
subsidharies (collectively, the “Company ") should be read in corgunction with the “Forward-iooking Statements” section set forth in Pari [ and the “ Risk
Factors”™ section set forth in Item 14 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in any more recent filings with the U S Securities and Exchange
Commussion, each of which describes these risks, uncertainties and other important factors in more detail

Exccutive Overview

The following executive overview summanizes the sigmficant trends affecting our results of operations and financial condition This overview and the
remainder of thts Management’s Discusston and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with the Consohidated
Financial Statements of the Company and the notes thereto contamed ¢lsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We are a global asset management company with equaty investments in leading boutique investment management firms, which we refer to as our “Affiliates
Our mnovative partnership approach allows each Affihate’s management team to own significant equity n therr firm and mantain operational autonomy Our
strategy 1s 10 generate shareholder value through the growth of existing Affiliates, as well as through investments in new and additional investments in existing
Affihates In addihon, we provide centrahized assistance to our Affiliates in strategic matters, markeung, distnbution, product development and operations

We hold meaningful equity interests in each of our Affiliates [n certamn cases, we own a magority interest while in other cases we own a minonty interest In
all cases, Affiliate management retamns a ssgmificant equity interest mn their own firm  Affiliate management equity ownership (along with our ewnership) aligns our
nterests, enhances Affiliate management equity incentives and preserves Affiliate management's opportunity to participate directly in the long-term future growth
of therr firms Our innovauve partnership approach provides Affiliate management with a degree of hquidity and financial diversification and ensures that our
Affiliates mamntain investment and operational autonomy 1n managing their businesses, as well as therr umque entrepreneurial culture and independence

Given our permanent partnership approach, when we own a majornty of the equity mnterests, we address the ongoing succession planmng 1ssues facmg the
Affiliate’s principal owners as they transition meentives to future gencrations by faciitating the transfer of equity over time to the next generation of Affiliate
management In cases i which we own a minonty of the equity interests, we typrcally do not have an obligation to repurchase Affihate equty interests, but may
make additional mvestments to further facilitate Affilate ownership transition

We completed majority investments 1n Baker Street Advisors, LLC on Apnl 1, 2015 and myClO Wealth Parmers, LLC on October 1, 2015 We also
completed minority investments i Abax Investments (Pty) Lid on December 18, 2015 and Ivory [nvestment Management, L P on December 31, 2015, both of
which are accounted for under the equity method of accounuing In addition, subsequent to year end we completed mmnonty investments m Systematica
Investments L P and Baring Private Equity Asia on January 4, 2016, both of which will also be accounted for under the equity method of accounting Foltowing
the close of these transactions, Affiliate management will continue to hold a significant portion of the equity 1n their respective busmesses and direct their day-to-
day operattons

For the year ended December 31, 2015 , Net income (controlling mterest) was $516 0 milhion, and Earmings per share (diluted) was $9 28 , representing a
16% mcrease over the prior year For the year ended December 31, 2014 , Net income (controlling interest) was § 452 1 million , and Earmings per share (diluted)
was 38 01

For the year ended December 31, 2015 , EBITDA (controlling interest) was $942 2 mullion, Economic net mcome (controlling mterest) was $691 2 milhon,
and Econorme earnings per share was $12 55, representing a 10% increase over the prior year For the year ended December 31, 2014, EBITDA (controtling
mterest) was $900 8 mullion, Economic net mcome {controlling 1nterest) was $644 4 mullion, and Economic earnings per share was §i1 45 EBITDA (controlling
mterest) and Economic net income (controlling mterest), including Economic earmiungs per share, are non-GAAP performance measures and are discussed 1n
“Supplemental Performance Measures ™

For the year ended December 31, 2015 , our assets under management decreased 1% to $611 3 balkion, primanily due to a $15 7 billion decrease from changes
1 markets and a $11 1 billion decrease from changes in foretgn exchange rates, partially offset by $21 3 tullion from mnvestments 1n new A ffiliates

The table below shows our financial highlights
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(i multrons, excepl as noted and per share data) 203 1014 % Change 2015 %e Change

Assets under management (in bill:ons) $ 5373 0§ 6202 15% § 6113 (1%
Average assets under management (1n biilions) 483 8 5859 1% 623 9 6%
Revenue 2,188 8 2,5109 15% 24845 ()%
Net income (controlling interest) 360 5 4521 25% 5160 14 %
Earmings per share (diluted) 655 801 22% 928 16 %
EBITDA (controllmg mnterest) $ 8199 § 9008 10% § 9422 5%
Economic net income {controtling nterest) " 5701 644 4 13% 6912 7%
Economic eamngs per share ® 1031 1145 1% 12 55 10 %

() EBITDA (controlling interest) and Economic net income (controlling interest), including Economic eamnings per share, are non-GAAP performance measures
and are discussed 1n “Supplemental Performance Measures ”

Supplemental Performance Measures

EBIIDA (controlling interesy)

As supplemental information, we provide a non-GAAP measure referred to as EBITDA (controlling interest) EBITDA (controiling interest) represents the
controlling interest’s operatmg performance before our share of interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortizaton We believe that many mvestors use
this information when comparnng the financial performance of compantes in the investment management mndustry EBITDA, as calculated by us, may not be
consistent with computatons of EBITDA by other companies This non-GAAP performance measure 1s provided n addition to, but not as a substitute for, Net
wncome (controlling interest} or any other GAAP measure of financial performance or hqudity

The following table provides a reconciliaton of Net income (controlling interest) to EBITDA (controlling interest)

{in muifions) 2013 2014 2015

Net mcome {controlhing interest) S 605 8 4521 % 5160
Interest expense 873 76 6 889
Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements 317 301 (403)
Income taxes 1850 2134 2513
Depreciation and other amortization 65 76 79
Intangible amortization and impairments * 1489 1210 1184

EBITDA (controlling interest) b 8199 % 9008 § 9422

) Dunng 2013, we adjusted our estmate of contingent payment obligations and recogmzed a loss totaling $10 3 mulhon Dunng 2014, we redeemed our 2006
Junior convertible secunities and recognized a loss of $18 8 imllion Duning 2015, we adjusted our estimate of our contingent payment obhgations and recorded
a gamn of $44 7 million These amounts are included m Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements m the Consolidated Statements of
Income

@ Qur reported intangible amortization mcludes amortization attnibutable to our non-controfling interests, which 15 not added back to Net income (controlling
interest) to measure our EBITDA (controlling nterest) Further, for our equity method Affiliates, we do not separately report revenue or expenses (including
intangible amortization) m our Consolidated Statements of Income Our share of these Affiliates’ amortization 1s reported 1n Income from equity method
mvestments

The following table summarizes the Intangible amortization and impawments shown above
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(e rulirons) 2013 2014 2015
Reported Intangible amortization and impairments $ 1282 § 1222 § 1154
Intangible amortizatonr—non-controlling interests 210 (335) (313)
Equity method intangible amortization 417 323 343
Total s 1489 § 1210 § 118 4
Economic Net Income (controlling miterest)

As supptemental information, we provide non-GAAP performance measures that we refer to as Economic net income (controlling interest) and Economic
earmings per share We consider Economic net income (conirolhing interest) an important measure of our financial performance, as we believe it best represents our
operating performance before our share of non-cash expenses relating to our acquisition of interests in our Affiliates Economic net income (controlling mierest)
and Economic earmungs per share are used by our management and Board of Directors as our principal performance benchmarks, as well as one of the measures for
ahigning executive compensaton with stockholder value These measures are provided in addizon to, but not as a substitute for, Net income (controlhing interest)
and Earnings per share (diluted), or any other GAAP measure of financial performance or hiquidity

Under our Economtc net income {controlling interest) defimnion, we add to Net mcome (controlling interest) our share of intangible amortization (including
equity method intangible amortization) and impatrments, deferred taxes related to intangible assets, and other economic items, which include non-cash imputed
nterest expense (principally related to the accounting for convertible secunties and contngent payment arrangements) and certamn Affiliate equity expenses We
add back intangible amortization and imparments attmbutable to acquired cltent relanonships because these expenses do not comrespond to the changes in value of
these assets, which do not dumimnish predictably over tme The portion of deferred taxes generally attnbutable to intangible assets (including goodwill) 1s added
back because we believe 1t 1s unlikely these accruals will be used to settle materal tax obligahons We add back non-cash imputed mterest expense and reductions
Or INCreases n contingent payment arrangements because 1t better reflects our contractuat interest obligatons We add back non-cash expenses relating to certamn
transfers of equity between A ffihate management when these transfers have no dilutive effect to our shareholders

Economuc earnings per share represents Economic net income (controlling interest) divided by the average shares outstanding (adjusted diluted) In this
calculation, the potential share 1ssuance in connection with our convertible secunties 1s measured using a “treasury stock” method Under this method, only the net
number of shares of common stock equal to the value of these secunties in excess of par, if any, are deemed to be outstanding We behieve the inclusion of net
shares under a treasury stock method best reflects the benefit of the mcrease wn available capital resources (which could be used to repurchase shares of common
stock) that occurs when these secunties are converted and we are relieved of our debt obligation This method does not take mto account any increase or decrease
in our cost of capatal 1n an assumed conversion

The following table provides a reconciliation of Net income (controlling mterest) to Economic net income (controlling interest}

{in millions except per share data) 2013 2014 2015
Net mcome {controlling interest) § 3605 § 4521 § 5160
Intangsble amortization and impairments *” 148 9 1210 1184
Intangible-retated deferred taxes @ 381 478 777
Other economic items © 226 235 (209
Economic net income (controiling interest) $ 5701 $ 6444 5 6912
Average shares outstanding (chluted) 567 584 572
Assumed 1ssuance of jumor convertible securities shares 20) (22) (22)
Drlunive impact of semior convertible secuntics shares 04 — -
Dilutive impact of junior convertible secunties shares 02 01 01
Average shares outstanding (adjusted diluted) 553 563 551
Economic earnings per share $ 1031 $ 145 § 125§

() See Note (2) to the table in the “EBITDA (controlling nterest)” section

@ In 2013 and 2015, we recorded reductions m the corporate tax rate 1 the Urnuted Kingdom, which decreased our intangible-related deferred taxes by $7 2
milhion and $6 5 mihon, respectively In addition, 1n 2013 and 2014, we
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recorded reductions in our intangible-related deferred taxes for the restructuning of our foreign operations of $5 9 milhion and $24 5 mullion, respectively

&) Dunng 2013, we adjusied our estmate of conitngent payment obhiganons and recognized a loss totaling $10 3 mllion ($6 3 million net of tax) Dunng 2014,
we redeemed our 2006 jumior convertible securines and recogmzed a loss of $18 8 million ($11 6 milhion net of tax) Duning 2015, we adjusted our estmate of
our contingent payment obligations and recorded a gain of $44 7 million ($27 § milhon net of tax) These amounts are included in Imputed interest expense
and contingent payment arrangements 1n the Consolidated Statements of Income

Assets under Management

The following table presents changes in our reported assets under management by distribution channel

Statement of Changes

(tn bilirons)

December 31, 2012
Chent cash inflows
Chent cash outflows

Net client cash flows
New investments
Market changes
Foreign exchange
Other

December 31, 2013
Chent cash mflows
Client cash outflows

Net client cash flows
New investments
Market changes
Foreign exchange
Other

December 31, 2014
Chient cash inflows
Client cash outflows

Net client cash flows
New investments
Market changes
Foreign exchange
Other

December 31, 2015

High Net
Institutional Mutual Fund Worth Total

2543 % 1219  § 556 $ 4318
454 527 106 1090
(28 0) (311) 92) (68 3)
174 216 17 407
—_ — 30 30
338 256 79 673
25) 04 08 29
24 1) 1) 26
3006 3% 1694 3 673 3§ 5373
521 429 107 105 7
(319) 43 1) 93) (84 3)
202 02) 14 214
252 144 41 437
106 73 44 223
39 (Z 5) 09} {73)
29 — on 23
3556 % 1884 § 762 % 6202
551 483 142 1176
(484) (59 5) (127) (120 6)
67 (11 2) 15 30)
70 30 113 213
(150} (1 4) 07 (157
(64) 30 amn (11 1)
©4) {00) (0 0) (04)
3475 3§ 1758 § 880 % 6113

a

Foreign exchange reflects the impact of translating non-U S dollar denominated assets under management mto U S dollars for reporting purposes

The following table presents changes 1n our average assets under management, EBITDA (controlling mnterest) and Net mcome (controiling interest) by

distnbution channel
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For the Years Ended December 31, !

fin mllions, except as noted) 2013 2014 % Change 2015 % Change
Average Assets under Management (10 billions)
Including equity method Affiliates

Institutional s 2771 % 3340 21% § 3534 6%
Mutual Fund 1457 1785 23% 187 5 5%
High Net Worth 610 734 20% 830 13%
Total 3 4838 § 5859 21% § 6239 6%
EBITDA (controlling interest)
Institutional b3 4933 § 482 8 2% 3 494 6 2%
Mutual Fund 246 1 3249 32% 3513 8%
High Net Worth 805 931 16 % 963 3%
Total s 8199 § 900 8 0% $ 9422 5%
Net income (controlling interest)
Institutional b3 2199 % 2270 3% § 22913 1%
Mutual Fund 103 4 180 1 74 % 2297 28%
High Net Worth 372 45 ¢ 21% 570 27%
Total $ 3605 % 4521 25% § 5160 14%

M EBITDA (controlling interest) 15 a non-GAAP performance measure and 1s discussed 1o “Supplemental Performance Measures

Results of Operations !

When we own a majonty of the equity interests of an Affihate, we consolidate the Affiliate’s financial results 1n our revenue and operating expenses and |
prmanly use structured partnershup wnterests in which we share 1n the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses When we own a minority interest, we use the ‘
equity method of accounting and our share of the Affiliate’s financial results 15 reported (net of mtangible amortization) i Income from equity method
mnvestments For these equity method Affihates, we either share i the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses or share 1n the Affiliate’s revenue less certain
agreed-upon expenses Additional mvestments in existng or new Affilates will generally impact our financral results m the year of investment and, depending
upen the tming, 1n the following year when the full-year financial results of the Affiliate investment are reflected 1n our financial statements

Revenue

We derive most of our revenue from asset-based and performance fees from nvestment management services Asset-based fees are typically determined as a
percentage fee charged on the value of a client’s assets under management Performance fees are billed based upon mvestment performance, typically on an
absolute basis or relative to a benchmark

Performance fees are typically billed less frequently than asset-based fees and, although performance fees inherently depend on investment performance and
will vary from perod to period, we anticipate performance fees will be a recurring component of our revenue

Our revenue 15 generally determined by the level of our average assets under management and the composition of our assets across our distribution channels
and active return-onented strategies withm our distnbution channels, which realize different fee rates Our ratio of asset-based fees to average assets under
management (“ratio of average fee rates™) 15 calculated as asset-based fees divided by average assets under management and may change as a result of new
investments, client cash flows, market changes, mcluding foreign exchange rate changes, or changes m contractual fees Therefore, changes wn this ratio should not
necessanly be viewed as an indrcator of changes in contractual fee rates billed by our Affiliates to thewr clients

Average assets under management reflect the particular billing patterns of products and chient accounts Therefore, we believe average assets under
management more closely correlates to the billing cycle of each distribution channel and, as such, provides a more meaningful relationshup to revenue In the
Mutual Fund distnibution channel, average assets under management generally represent an average of the daily net assets under management For the Institutional
and High Net Worth distnbution channels, an account that bills in advance 1s included in the calculation of average assets under management on the
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bass of beginning of period assets under management, while an account that bills in arrears 15 reflected on the basis of end of period assets under management
Assets under management attributeble to any investments m new A ffiliates are inctuded on a weighted average basis for the penod from the closing date of the
respective new mvestment

The following table summanzes our consolidated Affihiates’ average assets under management and revenue by disinbution channel

For the Years Ended December 31,

1013 2014 % Change 2015 % Change
Average Assets under Management (in billions) ©
Institutional s 1694 § 188 6 11% § 186 4 (%
Mutual Fund 116 3 1417 22% 143 2 1%
High Net Worth 491 575 17% 668 16 %
Total $ 3348 § 3878 6% 3 396 4 2%
Revenue (in milhions) @
Institutional 3 9487 § 10228 8% S 979 4 (4)%
Mutual Fund 1,023 0 1,242 6 21% 1,238 2 0%
High Net Worth 2171 2455 13% 2669 9
Total $ 21888 § 25109 15% §$ 24845 (1Y%

() Amounts do not include assets under management at equity method Affiliates, which are summanzed separately m the “Income from equity method
mvestments” section

@ In2013, 2014 and 2015 , revenue attnbutable to chients domiciled outside the U S was approximately 38%, 37% and 40% of total revenue, respectively

Our revenue decreased $ 26 4 million or 1% n 2015 , pnmarily from a $146 5 mullion or 6% decrease m asset-based fees at existing Affihates This decrease
1 asset-based fees was principally the result of a 5% decline m average assets under management and a dechine in our retw of average fee rates, which reduced
asset-based fees by $108 5 mullion or 5% and $38 0 mullion or 1%, respectively The dechine mn cur average fee rates was due to changes m the composition of our
assets under management across our distnbution channels The decrease in revenue was partially offset by a $131 8 mullion or 5% increase m asset-based fees from
the full year resulis of our 2014 and 2015 investments in new A ffiliates

Our revenue mcreased § 322 1 million or 15% m 2014 , pnmanly from a $257 6 mullion or 12% ncrease n asset-based fees at existing Affilates This
increase 1n asset-based fees was the result of a 12% mncrease mn average assets under management The mcrease m revenue was also the result of a $67 3 mllien or
3% ncrease 1n assct-based fees from our 2014 investments in new Affihates

The following discusses the changes 1n our revenue by distribution channel
Instituttonal Distribution Charmel

Our revenue 1 the Institutional distribution channel decreased $43 4 mullion or 4% mn 2015 , pnimanly from a $66 § million or 6% decrease n asset-based
fees at exisung Affiliates This decrease 1n asset-based fees was principally the result of a 6% decline in average assets under management and a decline 1n our
ratio of average fee rates, which reduced asset-based fees by $53 2 million or 5% and $13 6 million or 1%, respectively The decline 1n our ratio of average fee
rates was due to a change 1n the composition of our assets under management within the distribution channel, prumariy from decreases 1n assets under management
1n products that reahize comparatively higher fee rates, partially offset by an increase in assets under management in products that realized comparatively lower fee
rates The decrease tn revenue was also the result of a $15 8 milhon or 2% decrease m performance fees These decreases m revenue were partially offset by a
$39 3 million or 4% mcrease m asset-based fees from the full year results of our 2014 and 2015 mvestments tn new Affiliates

Qur revenue in the Institutional distribution channel increased $74 1 million or 8% 10 2014 , pnmanly from a $49 7 mulhion or 5% increase in asset-based fees
at exisung Affihates This increase n asset-based fees was pnncipally the result of an 8% increase m average assets under management, which increased asset-
based fees $75 3 mllion or 8% partially offset by a decline in our raiuo of average fee rates, which decreased asset-based fees by $25 6 million or 3% The dechine
n our ratio of
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average fee rates was due to a change m the composttion of our assets under management within the dismbution channel, pnmanly from decreases in assets under
menagement 1n products that realize comparatively higher fee rates, partially offset by an mcrease 1n assels under management i products that realized
comparatively lower fee rates The increase in revenue was also the result of a $26 9 million or 3% mcrease 1n assel-based fees from our 2014 investments in new
Affiliates

Mutual Fund Distribution Channel

Our revenue m the Mutual Fund distnbution channel decreased $4 4 million or less than 1% in 2015, pnmanly from an $84 1 million or 7% decrease in asset-
based fees at existing Affiliates This decrease m asset-based fees was pnincipally the result of a 7% dechine  average assets under management, which reduced
asset-based fees by $83 6 mullion or 7% The decrease m revenue was partially offset by a $74 1 million or 6% ncrease n asset-based fees from the full year
results of our 2014 investments in new Affiliates

Our revenue n the Mutual Fund distribution channel wincreased $219 6 million or 21% 1 2014 , primarily from a $183 3 million or 18% increase mn asset-
based fees at existing Affilistes This increase 1n asset-based fees was the result of a 19% mcrease n average assets under management The increase in revenue
was also the result of a $25 8 million or 2% ncrease 1n asset-based fees from our 2014 1nvestments m new Affihates, as well as an increase m performance and
other fees of $10 6 million or 1%

High Net Worth Distribution Channel

Qur revenue m the High Net Worth distribution channel ncreased $21 4 milhon or 9% 1 2015 The increase in revenue was primanly the result of an $18 4
million or 7% increase 1n asset-based fees from the filll year results of our 2014 and 2015 mvesments 1n new Affiliates The mncrease i revenue was also the result
of a $4 3 millron or 2% increase in asset-based fees at exasting Affiliates This increase 1n assct-based fees was principally the result of a 5% increase in average
assets under management, which mcreased asset-based fees by $10 9 muillion or 4%, partially offset by a decline wn our ratio of average fee rates, which decreased
asset-based fees by $6 6 million or 2% The decline 1n our ratio of average fee rates was due to a change in the composition of our assets under management within
the distnbution channe!, primarily from decreases i assets under management in products that realize comparatively higher fee rates, partially offset by increases
1n assets under management 1n products that realize comparatively lower fee rates

Our revenue 1 the High Net Worth distribution channel increased $28 4 mullion or 13% in 2014, prumanly from a §18 1 million or 8% 1ncrease m asset-based
fees at existing Affiliates This increase tn asset-based fees was principally the result of an 11% mcrease m average assets under management, which ncreased
asset-based fees $22 6 million or 10%, partially offset by a dechne m our ratio of average fee rates, which decreased asset-based fees $4 5 mutlion or 2% The
declme m our ratio of average fee rates was due to a change 1n the composition of our assets under management within the distribution channel, pnmanly from
decreases 1n assets under management 1n products that realize comparatively higher fee rates, pantally offset by increases m assets under management i products
that realize comparatively lower fee rates The increase m revenue was also the result of a $14 6 million or 7% increase in asset-based fees from our 2014
mvestments in new A ffiliates, partially offset by a $4 3 million or 2% decline in performance and other fees

Operating Expenses

The following table summarizes our consohdated operating expenses

For the Years Ended December 31,

(in mullions) 2013 2014 % Change 2015 % Change
Compensation and related expenses $ 9475 % 1,030 5 9% % 1,027 7 0%
Selling, general and adminisirative 4272 4855 14 % 443 8 (9)%
Intangible amoruzation and impauments 1282 1222 (3)% 1154 (6)%
Depreciation and other amortization 140 169 21 % 188 11%
Other operating expenses 378 406 7% 438 8%
Total operating expenses b 1,55647 § 1,695 7 9% § 1,649 5 3%

A substantial pottion of our operating expenses was mcurred by our consolidated Affihates, the substantial majonty of which was incurred by Affihates
through which we share i revenue without regard to expenses For these Affiliates, the Affiliate’s Operating Allocation percentage generally determines its
operating expenses Accordingly, our operating expenses are impacted by mcreases or decreases mn each Affiliate’s revenue and corresponding increases or
decreases 1n their respective Operating Allocation
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Compensation and related expenses decreased $2 8 million 1n 2015 , premanily as a result of decreases 1n compensaton expenses at existng Affiliates of $46 8
mullion and compensation expenses associated with A ffiliate equity transactions of $15 9 million These decreases were partially offset by an increase i
compensation expenses from the full year results of our 2014 and 2015 mvestments mn new A ffiliates of $56 9 million

Compensation and rclated expenses mereased $83 0 million or 9% 1n 2014, pnmanly as a result of increases i compensation expense at existing Affihates of
$33 4 million, compensation expense from our 2014 mvestments m new Affiliates of $28 6 mullion, and compensation expense associated with Affiliate equity
mransactions of $12 1 mullton

Selling, general and admimistrative expenses decreased $41 7 million or 9% 1n 2015, pnmanly from decreases m sub-advisory and distnbution expenses of
$50 0 milhion at our Affiliates m the Mutual Fund distnbution channel and a decrease in acquisttion-related professional fees of 35 8 million: These decreases were
partially offset by an increase of $18 2 mullion from the fill year results of our 2014 and 2015 mvestments tn new Affiliates

Selling, general and admmistrative expenses mncreased $58 3 million or 4% in 2014 , pnmanly from increases m sub-advisory and distribution expenses of
$34 7 mullion at our Affihates in the Mutual Fund distnbution channel, an increase of §9 5 million from our 2014 investments in new Affihiates, and an increase
acqmsition-related professional fees of $6 4 million

Intangible amortization and impamments decreased $6 8 million or 6% 1 2015 and $6 0 muthon or 5% m 2014 The decrease mn 2015 was primarly due to a
reduction of $7 1 milhon resultmg from certam assets bewng fully amortized m 2014 The decrease 1n 2014 was pnmanly due to a reduction of $30 2 millton
resulting from certam assets bemng fully amortized n 2013 This was parually offset by 2014 increases of $24 2 million 1n amornization of defimte-lived assets at
existing and new 2014 Affihates

Income from Equity Method Investments

When we own a minorty nterest m an A ffiliate, we etther share m the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses or share in the Affihiate’s revenue less
certain agreed-upon expenses When we share m the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses, we are allocated a set percentage of revenue, with the
remaimng revenue available to the Affihate to fund its operating expenses and distributions to Affiliate management When we share m the Affiliate’s revenue less
certan agreed-upon expenses our distributions are calculated by reference to the Affiliate’s revenue net of the agreed-upon categones of expenses

For minonty investments, we are required to use the equity method of accounting  Under the equity method of accounting, we onty recogmize our share of the
Affiliate’s revenue less certamn agreed-upon expenses, net of equity method amortization

Our equity method Affiliates derive most of their revenue from asset-based and performance fees from investment menagement services Assel-based fees are
typically determined as a percentage fee charged on the value of a client's assets under management Performance fees are billed based upon investment
performance, typically on an absolute basis or relative to a benchmark, pnmanly on our hquid and 1thquid alternative and equity products

Performance fees are typically hiiled less frequently than asset-based fees and, although performance fees wherently depend on nvestment performance and
will vary from penod to penod, we anticipate performance fees will be a recumng component of our Income from equity method investments

Average assets under management reflect the parucular billing patterns of Affiliate products and chient accounts Therefore, we believe average assets under
management more closely correlates to product and chent account billing cycles and, as such, provides a more meamngful relationship to equity method earnings
Average assets under management at equity method Affiliates are calculated consistent with our average assets under management at consohdated Affiliates Cur
equity method Affiliates operate primarily in the Institutional distnbutton channel

The following table summanzes our equity method Affiliates’ average assets under management, equity method eamings (our share of ther revenue or profit),
as applicable, and equity method amoruzation
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For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 1014 % Change 2015 % Change
Average Assets under Management (in billions) s 1490 § 198 1 33% § 2275 15%

Income from equity method 1nvestments (in milhons)

Equity method earnings $ 3495 § 3140 (10% $ 3232 3%
Equity method amortization M7 323 (23)% 343 6%
Total s 3078 § 2817 &% $ 2889 3%

Equity method earnings increased $9 2 million or 3% m 2015 , pnmanly from a $50 7 million increase in earnings from the full year results of our additronal
investment n an existng Affiliate 1 2014 and our investments 1 new Affihiates in 2015 This increase was partially offset by a $41 6 milhion decline n
performance and advisory fees at existing Affihates Eqnty method amortization increased $2 0 msllion or 6% i 2015 , pnmanly as a result a $4 3 million
increase from the full year impact of our Affiliate mvestments m 2014, partially offset by a $2 3 mullion decrease related to certamn assets bemng fully amortized in
2014 ang 2015

Equity method eamngs decreased $35 5 muliion or 10% mn 2014 , prumarily from a §79 3 milhion decline in performance fees This decrease was partially
offset by a $28 7 million increase 1n equity method eamings at existing Affihates, as well as a $15 1 mullion increase 1n equity method earmings from the full year
results of our 2013 and 2014 investments i new Affiliates Equity method amortization decreased $9 4 million or 23% 1n 2014 , prmanly from a reduction of
$20 6 oullion as a result of certamn assets bemng fully amortized m 2013 This decrease was partially offset by anincrease of $10 9 milhon of mtangible
amortization from our 2014 invesmments 1 new and existing Affiliates

r Non-Oper; . 1S

The following table summanzes non-operating mncome and expense data

For the Years Ended December 31,

(tn milirons) 2013 1014 % Change 2015 % Change
Investment and other {tncome) expense $ 408 $ {233) 4% 8 (153) (34Y%
Interest expense 873 766 (12)% 889 16 %
Imputed interest expense and contingent payment

arrangements 317 301 (5)% 403) NM @
Income taxes 194 1 2279 17 % 2569 13 %

() Percentage change 1s not meaningful

Investment and other mcome decreased $8 0 mllion or 34% 1n 2015 , principally as a result of a $20 3 million decrease 1n the fair value of Affiliate
wnvestments, partally offset by $9 0 mitlion of realized gains on the sales of available-for-sale secunues

Investment and other (income) expense decreased $17 5 million or 43% 1n 2014, pnincipally as a result of a $10 5 mllien decrease pnmanly m the far value
of Affiliate nvestments and a $7 2 million gain on the sale of a foreign office m 2013, which did not reoccur n 2014

Interest expense mcreased $12 3 million or 16% 10 2015 , pnmanly as a result of the 1ssuance of our senior notes in February 2014 and 2015, which
collectively increased interest expense by $13 2 million

Interest expense decreased $10 7 mitlion or 12% m 2014 , pnmanly as a result of the settlement of our 2006 jumor converiible secunties in 2014 and the
settlement of our 2008 semor convertible secunities m 2013, which collectively reduced tterest expense by $27 6 mullion This decrease was partially offset by
mterest expense of $15 6 million on our sentor notes 1ssued in 2014

Imputed imterest expense and contingent payment arrangements decreased $70 4 milhion and $1 6 million 1 2015 and 2014, respectively The decrease in
2015 was prumanly a result of 2 $44 7 mullion gain on the revaluation of our contingent payment arrangements i 2015 and an $18 8 million loss recognized on the
settlement of our 2006 junior convertible secunties n 2014 which did not reoccur 1n 2015 The decrease 1n 2014 was pnmanly a resutt of a $10 3 milhion loss on
the revaluation of our contingent payment arrangements 1o 2013 which did not reoccur 1n 2014 and a $9 9 miliron decrease in tmputed interest
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from the settlement of our 2008 senior convertible secuntres in 2013, partially offset by an $18 8 milkon toss recognized on the settlement of our 2006 jumor
convertible securtties 1n 2014

Our effective tax rate ncreased 0 7% from 32 1% 1 2014 1o 32 8% m 2015 This increase was pnmanly from 2014 benefits that did not reoccur at the same
level m 2015 These benefits include gams from restructuring certan of our foreign operations and a reduction of our state net operaung loss valuation allowances
In the restructuring, we established foreign subsidiaries that were deemed permanent in duranion and reversed previously recognized intangible-related deferred tax
Liabilittes  In 2015, our effective tax rate decreased as a result of the ongoing tax benefits from the restructuring of our foreign operations n 2014 and our
mndefinite deferral of foregn earmings m 2015 Qur effective tax rate also decreased 1n 2015 as a result of the benefit of areduction m corporate tax rates i the
United Kingdom and other factors Collectively, these factors reduced our effective tax rate 5 2% n 2014 and 4 5% m 2015

Our effective tax rate decreased 1 8% from 33 9% tn 2013 to 32 1% 1 2014 This decrease was primarily due to the benefits of restructuring certam of our
foreign operations and a reduction of our state net operating loss valuation allowances n 2014 In 2013, we recognized a benefit due to & reduction n corporate tax
rates in the Umted Kingdom which did not reoccur m 2014 Collectively, these factors reduced our effective tax rates 5 2% m 2014 and 3 4% m 2013

Net [ncome

The previously discussed changes i revenue and expenses had the following effect on Net ncome

For the Years Ended December 31,
{in rethons) 2013 2014 % Change 2015 % Change
Net tncome s 6696 § 7856 17% $ 8337 6%
Net mcome (non-controliing imnterests) 3091 3335 8% 3177 5%
Net income (controlling mterest) 3605 4521 25% 5160 14 %

Liquidity and Capatal Resources

In 2015 , we met our cash requirements primanly through cash generated by operating activities, borrowings under our revolver and proceeds from the
1ssuance of senior notes Our principal uses of cash were to repurchase shares of our common stock, make nvestments m new Affiliates, make distnbutions to
Affihatc management and repay borrowings under our revolver

We expect that our principal uses of cash for the foreseeable future will be for investments i new and exisung Affiliates, distnbutions to Affiliate
management, share repurchases, payment of principal and interest on outstanding debt and general working capital purposes We anticipate that cash flows from
operations, together with borrowings under our revolver and proceeds from any forward equity transactions, will be sufficient to support our cash flow needs for
the foreseeable future

Cash and cash equivalents were $563 8 million and $550 6 miliion at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, mncluding $98 6 million and §51 ¢ smlhon m
our wholly-owned foreign subsidianes 1f we repatniated our foreign cash and cash equivalents, we do not anticipate that we would need to accrue or pay any
sigmficant U § taxes

The following summarizes our operating, investing and financing cash flow activities

For the Years Ended December M,

(in millrons} M3 2014 2015

Operating cash flow 5 9571 § 1,3922  § 1,204 §

Investing cash flow (503) (1,268 1) (324 5)

Financing cash flow (869 1) (329) (854 1)
Qperating Cash Flow

The decrease in cash flows from operations 1 2015 as compared to 2014 resulted principally from a $186 9 million decrease mn payables, accrued habilities
and other habiliies, which primanly resulted from an increase i payments of accrued compensation and distnbutions during 2015 as compared to 2014

28




ZIable of Contents

The mcrease m cash flows from operations 1n 2014 as compared to 2013 resulted pnncipally from a $333 8 mulion increase n net mcome adjusted for
distributions from equity method mvestments and non-cash charges, a $128 3 millton decrease n recervables and a $32 7 million increase in payables, accrued
liabitities and other habilities

Invesing Cash Elow

Net cash flows used 1n mnvesting activities decreased $943 6 million 1n 2015 as compared to 2014, pnmanly due to a $947 3 milhon decrease tn cash used to
make mvestments m A ffiliates Net cash flow used m investing activittes increased $1 2 billion n 2014 as compared to 2013, pnmanly due to a $1 2 biliion
mcrease in cash used to make investments in Affihates

Eingneing Cash Flow

Cash flows used 1n financing activities increased $821 2 mullion m 2015 as compared to 2014 This was prnimarily a result of a $493 2 million decrease m
borrowngs of senior debt, a $235 4 million decrease in repayments of semor debt and convertible securities as well as a $222 9 million merease in repurchases of
common stock These increases were partially offset by a $138 0 mullion decrease 1n distributions to non-controlling interests ‘We used available cash and
borrowings under our credt facility to finance our mnvestments m new A ffiltates tn 2015

Cash flows used in financing activities decreased $836 2 million 1n 2014 as compared to 2013 This was pnmanly a result of a $986 3 million increase in
borrowings of senior debt, and a $180 7 million decrease in repayments of sentor debt and convertible securites These decreases were partially offset by a $302 3
mullion mncrease in distnbutions to non-controlling interests

The followng table summanzes certain key financial data relating to our outstanding indebtedness

December 31,
{tn mulirons} 2013 2014 2015
Semor bank debt $ 5250 § 8550 $ 6450
Semor notes 3400 736 8 944 6
Convertible secunties 5187 3031 3052

Senior Barnk Deb|

in 2015, we entered mto a §1 3 billion semor unsecured multicurrency revolving credit facility (the “revelver”) and a $350 0 million sentor unsecured term
loan facility (the “term loan” and, together with the revolver, the “credit facilities”) The credst facilities, which replaced previous credit facilities, both mature on
September 30, 2020

A poruion of the proceeds from the credst faciliues was used to refinance our previous $1 25 bilhen semor unsecured revolving facility and $250 0 millon
semor unsecured term loan and for the redemption of a portion of our 5 25% semior unsecured notes due 2022 {the “2022 senior notes”)

Subject to certain condrtions, we may mcrease commitments under the revolver by up to an addibonal $500 0 million and may borrow up to an additional
$100 0 milhion under the term loan We pay nterest on any outstanding obligations under the revolver and on the term loan at specified rates, based exther on the
LIBOR rate or the prime rate as in effect from time to tme

Under the terms of cur credit facilities we are required to meet two financral rato covenants The first of these covenants 15 a maximum ratie of debt to
EBITDA (the “bank leverage ratio™) of 3 25x The second covenant 15 a mummum EBITDA to cash interest expense ratio of 3 00x (the “bank interest coverage
rano™) For purposes of calculating these ratios, share-based compensation and A ffiliate equity expense are added back to EBITDA The credut faciliies are also
subject to customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limatations on prionty ndebtedness, asset dispositions and fundamental corporate changes, and
certain customary events of default Many of these conditions and restnctions are subject to certamn mintmum thresholds and exceptions As of December 31, 2015
, our bank leverage and bank wterest coverage ratios were 1 6x and 12 4x, respectively, and we were m compliance with all terms of our credit faciies As of
December 31, 2015, we had §1 0 billien of remaining capacity under our revolver, and could borrow all such capacity and remain in comphance with our credst
facilities

We are currently rated A3 by Moody’s Investors Services and BBB+ by Standard & Poor's Rating Agenctes A downgrade of our credit rating would have no
significant financial effect on any of our credut facilities or secunues (or otherwise trigger a default), other than a ratings downgrade to below investment grade n
the context of a change of control
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Segior Notes

In 2015, we redeemed, canceled and retred all $140 0 million principal amount outstanding of our 2022 sentor notes at a redemption price equal to 160% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid mterest

In February 2015, we 1ssued addinonal senior notes, and at December 31, 2015 had three semor notes outstanding, the pnineipat terms of which are
summanzed below

2024 1025 2042

Senlor Semor Senior

Notes Notes Notes
Issue date February 2014 February 2015 August 2012
Matunity date February 2024 August 2025 August 2042
Potential Call Date Any Time @ Any Time August 2017
Par value (in millions) $ 4000 §$ 500 § 2000
Call Price As Defined @ As Defined @ At Par
Stated coupon 4 25% 3 50% 6375%
Coupon frequency Semi-annually Semi-annually Quarterly

1) The 2024 and 2025 semor notes may be redeemed at any time, 1n whole or 1 part, at a make-whole redemplion pnice plus accrued and unpaid interest

Convertible Securities

In 2014, we delivered a notice to redeem all $300 0 million principal amount of our outstanding 2006 junior convertible securities 1n heu of redemption,
substantially all holders of the 2006 jumior convertible securities elected to convert therr secunties into a defined number of shares We issued 19 mullion shares of
our common stock 1n connection wath the conversion All of the 2006 jumor convertible securnities have been canceled and retired

At December 31, 2015 , we had jumior convertible trust preferred secunties outstanding that were 1ssued i 2007 (the 2007 junior convertible securties”)
The carrying value (5305 2 mithon as of December 31, 2015 ) 15 acereted to the principal amount at maturity ($430 8 milhon) over a remaining hife of
approximately 22 years The 2007 junior convertible securines bear interest at 5 15% per annum, payable quarterly mn cash Each 350 secunity 15 convertible, at any
time, mto 0 25 shares of our common stock, which represents a conversion price of $200 per share Holders of the securities have no nights to put these securities to
us Upon conversion, holders will receive cash or shares of our common stock, or a combmation thereof at our election We may redeem the 2007 juntor
convertible secunties if the closing pnice of our common stock exceeds $260 per share for 20 trading days mn a penod of 30 consecutive trading days These
convertible secunties are considered contingent payment debt tnstruments under federal ;ncome tax regulations, which require us to deduct nterest m an amount
greater than our reported Interest expense These deductions result in annual deferred tax habilities of $9 4 million These deferred tax habilimes will be reclassified
directly to stockholders’ equity if our common stock 1s trading above certan thresholds at the tume of the conversion of the secunties

Forward Equity Sale Agreement

We may sell shares of our common stock under a forward equity agreement At December 31, 2015, we had approximately $250 muilhon remaining notional
amount that was available to sell under the forward equity agreement

Affiliate Equity

Many of our agreements provide us with a conditionat night to call and Affiliate management and our officers with the conditional nght to put their Affiliate
equity nterests to us at certain mtervals In cases where we own a mmorty miterest m en A ffiliate, we do not typically have such put and call arrangements The
purchase price of these conditional purchases 15 generally calculated based upon a muluple of the Affilime’s cash flow distnbutions, which 1s intended to represent
farr value Affiliste management are also permutted to sell their equity mterests to other mdrviduals or entities 1n certain cases, subject 10 our approval or other
restrictions

Our current redemption value of $612 5 mullion for these interests has been presented as Redeemable non-controlling interests on our Consohdated Balance
Sheets Although the timing and amounts of these purchases are dafficult to predict, we
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repurchased $165 0 million of Affiliate equity dunng 2015, and expect 1o repurchase approximately $100 million m 2016 In the event of a repurchase, we become
the owner of the cash flow associated with the repurchased Affiliate equity

Commiments

From tiume to ime, we and our A ffiliates may be subject to claims, legal proceedings and other contingencies mn the ordinary course of our and our Affilates’
business activiies Any such matters are subject to vartous uncertamnties, and it 1s possible that some of these matters may be resolved 1n a manner unfavorable to
us or our Affiliates We establish accruals, as necessary, for matters for which the outcome 15 probable and the amount of the abulity can be reasonably esumated
We had no sigmficant accruals as of December 31, 2015

We and certain of our Affiliates operate under regulatory authorties, which require that they mantain mmumum financial or capital requirements We are not
aware of any significant violations of such requirements as of December 31, 2015

We have committed to co-nvest m certain mvestment partnershups As of December 31, 2015 , these unfunded commitments totaled $76 8 million and may be
called in future periods In connection with a past cquisttion agreement, we are contractually entitled to reimbursement from a prior owner for $15 2 mullion of
these commumens 1f they are called

As of December 31, 2015, we were contingently liable, upon achievement by certan Affiliates of specified financial targets, 10 make payments through 2019
of up to $85 6 milhon associated with our consohdated Affiliates and $166 5 million associated with our equity method Affilates We expect to make payments of
$14 0 mullion (none m 2016) to setile such obliganons Subsequent to year end, we completed minonty mnvestments which included contingent payment obligations
of up 10 $150 0 million {none m 2016)

Share Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has periodically authonzed share repurchase programs, most recently tm May 2015 Dunng 2015, we repurchased 1 7 mulhion shares at
an average price per share of $209 39 As of December 31, 2015, 2 3 million shares remamed available for repurchase under the May 2015 program, which does
not expire

Contractual Obligations

The following table summartzes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 Contractual debt obhigattons mclude cash payment of fixed mterest

Payments Due

(in mulions) Total 2016 2017-2018 2015-2020 Thereafter
Contractual Obhgations
Senior bank debt $ 6450 § — 3 — 3 6450 § —
Senior notes 1,558 1 421 340 840 1,348 0
Junior convertible securities 9190 222 44 44 4 8080
Leases ™ 2407 360 647 579 821
Affiliate equity 623 623 — — —

Total contractual obligations 5 34251 % 1626 § 1931 % 3313 § 2,238 1
Contingent Obhigations
Contingent payment obligations © 5 140 § — 5 120 $ 20 § —

() Thus table does not melude liabilines for commitments to co-mvest 1 certan investment partnerships or uncertan tax positions of $76 8 mithion and
$26 9 mulhon as of December 31, 2015 , respectively as we cannot predict when such obligations will be pad

@  The controlling interest portion 1s $10 7 millton through 2016, $22 0 million tn 2017-2018, $20 7 miltion 10 2019-2020 and $38 7 mullion thereafter
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) The contingent payment obliganons disclosed i the table represent the expected settlement amounts associated with our investments m new Affiliates The
maximum settlement amount through 2016 15 $116 7 million, $123 6 million 1n 2017-2018, $11 & million 1 2019-2020 and none thereafter

Recent Accounting Developments
See Note 1 of the Consohdated Financial Statements

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements and retated disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires us to make Judgments, assumptions, and estimates that
affect the amounts reported n the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanymg notes The following are our critical accounting estimates and judgments
used 1 the preparation of the Consohdated Financial Statements, and actual results could differ materially from the amounts reported

r Value ments

Accountmg standards define fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability i an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date These standards establish a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priornty to quoted prices m active markets for
1dentical assets or hiabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable mputs

We make judgments to determine the fawr value of certain assets, habilities and equty interests when allocaung the purchase price of our new investments,
when revaluing our contingent payment arrangements, when we 1ssue or repurchase equity mterests and when we test our intangible assets or equity and cost
method mvestments for impairment

In determinng fair vatues, we make assumptions about the growth rates, profitability and useful lives of existing and prospective client accounts, and consider
historical and current market multiples, tax benefits, credit nisk, interest rates and discount rates We consider the reasonableness of our assumptions by comparing
our valuation conclusions to observed market transactions, and i certamn mstances consult with third-party valuation firms

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits ansing from assets acquured n a business combination that are not mdrvidually identified and separately
recogmzed, and 1s reported within the segments mn which the Affiliate operates Our goodwill impairment assessments are performed annually at the reporting unit
level (1n our case, our three distribution channels), or more frequently, should circumstances suggest fair value has declmed below the related camrying value If we
determumne that the fair value has declimed below our related carrying value, an impairment 1s recognized to reduce the carrying value to its fair value We
completed our annual goodwill impatrment assessment and no impairments were idenufied For purposes of our assessment, we considered various quahtative
factors (including market multiples for asset management businesses) and determined that 1t was more likely than not that the fair value of each of our reporting
umits was greater than its respective carrying amount, including goodwili Only a substantial decline m the farr value of any of our reporting umts would mdicate
that an impairment may exist

Indefimte-Lived Intangible Assets

Indefinste-lived intangible assets are comprised of nvestment advisory contracts between our Affiliates and thewr sponsored registered investment companies
Because the contracts are with the registered mvestment companies themselves, and not with the underlying investors, and the contracts between our Affilates and
the registered mvestment compares are typically renewed on an annual basis, mdustry practice under GAAP 15 to consider the contract hife to be ndefinite and, as
a result, not amornzable

We perform indefimte-lived mtangible asset impairment tests annually, or more frequently should circumstances suggest fair value has declined below the
related carrying value If we determine that the fair value has declined below our related carrying value, an impairment is recogmized to reduce the carrying value
to 1ts fair value We completed our annual impairment assessment and no impairments were 1dentified For purposes of our assessment, we considered various
qualitative factors (including market muluples) and determined that 1t was more likely than not that the faur value of each asset was greater than 1ts carrying
amount Only a substantial decline n the fair value would ndicate that an imparment may exist

Defimite-Lived Intangible Assets

Definite-lived intangible assets are compnsed of investment advisory contracts between our Affiliates and their underlymng investors, and are amortized over
thetr estumated useful hves We monitor the useful lives of these assets and revise them, 1f necessary We review histonical and projected attrinon rates and other
events that may influence our projections of the future
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economic benefit that we wil] denive from these relationships Significant judgment is required to estmate the pertod that these assets will contribute to our cash
flows and the pattem over which these assets will be consumed We are currently amortizing our definite-lived intangible assets over an average usefil life of
approximately ten years

We perform definite-lived mntangible asset impatrment tests annually, or more frequently should circumstances suggest farr value has declined below the
related carrying vatue 1f we determine that the fair value has declined below our related carrying vatue, an imparment 1s recogmized to reduce the carrying value
to 1ts fair value We assess each of our definite-lived acquired chent relationships for impairment by comparing therr carrying value to the projected undiscounted
cash flows of the acquired relationships We completed our annual assessment and noted that projected undiscounted cash flows over the remamnmng hife of each of
these assets sigmficantly exceed their carrymg value and, accordingly, only a substantial dechne 1n the undiscounted cash flows underlying these assets would
mdicate that an imparrment may exist

Equity gnd

We evaluate equity and cost method investments for impairment by assessing whether the fair value of the investment has dechined below 1ts carying value
for a penod we consider other-than-temporary If we determine that a decline in fasr value below our carrying value 1s other-than-temporary, an impawrment 15
recogmzed to reduce the carrymg value of the investment to 1ts fair value

For companies with quoted market prices 1 active markets, we use these prices to determune the fair value of our equity and cost method mvestments For
compantes without quoted market prices in active markets, we determine the fair values by applying a market multiple to the estimated cash flows of each
mvestment Our faur value multiples are supported by observed transactions and discounted cash flow analyses that reflect assumptions of current and projected
levels of Affiliate assets under management, fee rates and estimated expenses

We completed our annual evaluation of equity and cost method investments and no impaiwrments were 1dentified Only a substantial decline mn the fair value of
any of these mvestments for a peniod that 1s considered other-than-temporary would mdicate that an impairment may exist

i Py it Arr fril

We penodically enter into contingent payment arrangements m connection with our busmess combinations In these arrangements, the Company agrees to pay
additional consideration upon achievement by certamn Affiliates of specified financial targets For consolidated Affiliates, we estimate the fair value of these
potential future obligations by discounting the projected future payments (such esumates being dependent upon projected revenue) using current market rates Our
discount rates are developed with wnput from third-party valuation firms

We then accrete these obligations to their expected payment amounts until they are measured If the expected payment amounts subsequently change, the
obligations are reduced or increased mn the current penod resulting 1n a gam or loss, respectively Both gains and losses resulting from changes to expected
payments and the accretion of these obligations 1o their expected payment amounts are reflected within Imputed mnterest expense and contmgent payment
arrangements tn our Consolidated Statements of Income

Non-controlling Inter

Redeemable non-controlling mterests represent the currently redeemable value of Affihiate equity interests We may pay for these Affiliate equity purchases in
cash, shares of our common stock or other forms of constderation, at our election

We generally value these interests upon their transfer or repurchase by applying market multiples to cash flows, which 15 intended to represent fawr value The
use of different assumptions could change the value of these mterests, including the amount of compensation expense, 1f any, that we may report upon thetr transfer
or repurchase

Income Taxes

Tax regulations often require ncome and expense to be mcluded 1n our tax returns i different amounts and in different periods than are reflected in the
Consolidated Financial Statements Deferred taxes are established to reflect the temporary differences between the inclusion of items of income and expense in the
Consolidated Financial Statements and their reporting on our tax returns Our overall tax position requires us to estimate the expected realization of tax assets and
liabihities Additionally, we must assess whether to recogmize the benefit of uncertamn tax posittons, and, 1f so, the appropnate amount of the benefit

We regularly assess our deferred tax assets m order to determine the need for valuation allowances Our principal deferred tax assets are state operating losses,
foreign loss carryforwards and the indirect benefits of uncertamn foreign tax posittons In

33




Table of Contenis

our assessment, we make assumptions about future taxable mcome that may be generated to utihize these assets, which have limited lives If we determine that we
are unlikely to reahize the benefit of a deferred tax asset, we establish a valuation allowance that would mncrease our tax expense m the penod of such
determination

In our assessment of uncertamn tax positions, we consider the probability that a tax authonty would sustain our tax position 1n an examtnaion For tax positions
meeting a “more-likely-than-not” threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements 15 the benefit expected to be realized upon the uinmate settlement
with the tax authonty For tax positions not meeung thus threshold, no benefit 1s recognized

Our deferred tax habilities are generated primanly from intangible assets and deferred revenue Most of our imangible assets are tax-deductible because we
generally structure our Affiliate investments to be taxable to the sellers We record deferred taxes because a substantial majonty of our intangible assets do not
amortize for financral statement purposes, but do amortize for 1ax purposes, thereby creatng tax deductions These habilines wail reverse only 1n the event of a sale
of an Affiliate or an impamrment We measure the estumated cost of such a reversal using enacted tax rates and projected statc appornonment percentages
Intangible-related deferred tax Liabilies are not recorded on U $ basis differences at our foreign Affiliates when our mvestments are permanent in nature

We operale 1n vanous locations outside the U $ and generate earnimgs from our foreign subsidianies We would not recognize a provision for US mcome
taxes or a deferred income tax hiabihty on undistnbuted foreign carmings that are indefimtely remnvested

- 2{4]s) 1

We have share-based compensation arrangements covering directors, sensor management and employees {including our Affiliates) We calculate share-based
compensation using the fair value of the awards on the grant date Our share-based compensation arrangements typically vest and become fully exercisable over
three to five years of contmnued employment, and 1n some cases, are further subject to certam performance or market condittons We recognize expense net of
expected forfeitures on a straight-hine basis over the requisite service penod, including granis that are subject to graded vestng

We estunate the farr value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing medel The Black-Scholes model requires us to make assumptions
about the volatdity of our common stock &nd the expected hife of our stock opions In measurning expected volatility, we consider both the historical volatlity of
our common stock, as well as the current implied volatility from traded options

For restnicted stock awards with service or performance conditions, we determine the fair value of the awards using our share price on the date of grant For
awards with market conditions, the fair value of the award is determuned using a Monte Carlo simulanion with inputs for expected volatility, a nsk-free rate and
expected dividends Our estimate of expected volanlity 1s developed in a manner consistent with that of our stock options

From time to time, we grant equity mterests in our Affiliates to Affiliate management and our officers, with vestng, forferture and repurchase terms
established at the date of grant The fair value of the equity mterests 15 determined as of the date of grant using a discounted cash flow analysis Key valuation
assumptions mclude projected assets under management, fee rates and discount rates

Internaticnal Operations

In connection with our mternational distribution mitiatives, we have offices in Sydney, Australia, London, England, Zurtch, Switzerland, Hong Kong, and
Duba, United Arab Enurates In addition, we have mternational operations through Affiliates who are based outside ofthe U § or have sigmificant operations
outside of the U S , or who provide some or a significant pant of their mvestment management services to non-U S chients In the future, we may open additional
offices, or invest 1 other nvestment management firms that conduct a significant part of their operations outside of the US There are certan risks inherent in
doing business mternationally, such as changes i applicable laws and regulatory requirements, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, longer
payment cycles, difficulbies in collecting investment advisory fees recewvable, different and 1n some cases, less stringent regulatory and accounting regimes,
political mstability, fluctuations m currency exchange rates, expatnation controls, expropriation risks and potential adverse tax consequences There can be no
assurance thal one or more of such factors will not have a matenal adverse effect on our intermnational operations or our Affiliates that have international operations
and, consequently, on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Assets Under Management Markei Price Risk
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Our revenue, income from equity method mvestments and, therefore, our EBITDA (controlling nterest) are denved pnmanly from advisory fees that are
typically determined as a percentage fee charged on the value of a client’s assets under management and performance fees determined as a percentage of the
retums realized on a chient’s assets under management Such values are affected by changes o financial markets (including interest rates and foreign exchange
rates) and, accordingly, declines in the financial markets will negatively impact our revenue, income from equity method mvestments and, therefore our EBITDA
{controlling interest)

A proportional 1% increase or decrease n the value of our assets under management as of December 31, 2015, excluding assets under management on which
adwvisory fees are assessed on commutted capital, would have resulted in an annuahized increase or decrease 1n advisory based fees, included in Revenue for our
consolidated Affiliates and Income from equity method investments for our equity method Affiliates, of $20 0 milhon and $2 1 mulhion, respectively

{nterest Rate Risk

We have fixed rates of wnterest on our semor notes and on our junor convertible secunties While a change in market miterest rates would not affect the mterest
expense mcurred on our fixed rate secunties, sich a change may affect the fair value of these secunties We estmate that a 1% change 1n interest rates would have
resulted 1n a net change m the value of our fixed rate securities as of December 31, 2015 by $111 8 mulhon We pay a vanable rate of interest on our revolver and
term loan We esumate that a 1% mcrease m mterest rates would increase the interest expense related to our vanable rate debt under our revolver and term loan
outstanding as of December 31, 2015 by $6 5 million

Epresgn Currency Exchange Risk

Most of our revenue and expenses are denomnated in U S dollars A portion of our revenue and expenses are denommated in foreign currencies, pnmanly
Canadian dollars and pound sterling, and may be impacted by movements n currency exchange rates In addition, the valuations of our foreign Affiliates are
impacted by fluctuations m foreign exchange rates, which could be recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity To iltustrate the effect of possible changes in
currency exchange rates, as of December 31, 2015, a 1% change 1n the Canadian dollar and pound sterling to U S dollar exchange rates would have resulted in an
approximate $7 0 milhion change to stockholders’ equity and a $1 1 million change to iIncome before ncome taxes Durmng 2015, changes in currency exchange
rates decreased stockholders® equity by $71 0 mullion

Dermvattve Risk

From ume to me, we seek to offset our exposure to changing mnterest rates under our debi financing arrangements, and our A ffiliates seek to offset exposure
to foreign currency exchange rates by entering into derivative contracts as descnibed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources ™

There can be no assurance that our hedging contracts will meet their overall objective of reducing our interest expense or that we wiltl be successful m
obtaining hedging contracts in the future on our existing or any new ndebtedness

Item 8 Fmancial Statements and Supplementary Data
Management’s Report on Interna!l Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (the “Company™) 1s responsible for establishing and maintaiming adequate internal control over financial
reporting The Company’s internal control over financial reporuing processes are designed by, or under the superviston of, the Company’s chief executive and chief
financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other semor employees to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external reporting purposes mn accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted mthe U §

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting ncludes policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and faurly reflect transactions and disposittons of assets, provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements n accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U S, and that recerpts and expenditures are being made only 1
accordance with authonzations of management and the directors of the Company, and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevenuon or imely detection of
unauthonzed acquisition, use or disposition of the Company's assets that could have a matenal effect on our financial statements

As of December 31, 2015 , management conducted an assessiment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework established in /nternal Control—Integrated Framework (2013} 1ssued by the
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Commuttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission {“COSO™) Based on this assessment, management has determined that the Company’s
nternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 was effective

Management has excluded Baker Street Adwisors, L1.C {“Baker Street”) and myCIO Wealth Partners, LLC (“myCIO™)from 1ts assessment of internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 because these entities were acquured i business combinations in 2015 Baker Street and myClO represent 0 1%
and 0 6% of combined total assets and combined total revenues, respectively, of the related Consolidated Financial Statement amounts as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2015

‘The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been auduted by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an mdependent
registered public accounting firm, as stated i therr report appeaning in “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” which expresses an
unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s mnternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Affihated Managers Group, Inc

In our opinion, the accompanying conschdated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of mcome, comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows present farly, 1n all matenal respects, the financial positton of Affilrated Managers Group, Inc and 1ts subsidianies at December 31, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years i the penod ended December 31, 2015 in conformuty with
accountng principles generally accepted mn the Umited States of America In addiion, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule hsted under Item 15(a)(2)
presents faurly, wn all material respecis, the information set forth theremn when read 1n conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements Also in our
optmion, the Company maintamed, i all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria establ ished
n Internal Control - Imtegrated Framework 2013 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Organizanons of the Treadway Commission (COSO) The Company's
management 15 responsible for these financial statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaming effective internal control over financal reporting and
for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, ncluded n Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appeanng under [tem 8 Our responsibility 13 to express opimons on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company's mternal
control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board {United States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporiing was maintained in all matenal respects Our audits of the financial
statements ncluded examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estunates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of mternal control over financial
reporting cluded obtaiming an understanding of intemnal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a matenal weakness exists, and testing and
evaluaung the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary n the circumstances We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company’s mternal control over financial reporting 15 a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes m accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company’s internal control over
financial reporung includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertawn to the mamntenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and disposttions of the assets of the company, (it) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permut preparation of
financial statements m accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only 1n
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company, and (u1) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthonzed acqusition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of 1ts inherent Limitations, itternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also, projecttons of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future penods are subject to the nsk that controls may become nadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate

As described i Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management has excluded Baker Street Advisors, LLC and myCIO
Wealth Advisors LLP from 1ts assessment of mternal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 because they were acquired by the Company n a
purchase business combination during 2015 We have also excluded Baker Street Advisors, LLC and myCIO Wealth Advisors LLP, from our audit of mternal
control over financial reporting Baker Strect Advisors, LLC and myCIO Wealth Advisors LLP are controlled subsidianics of the Company whese total assets and
total revenues represent 0 1% and 0 6%, respectively, of the refated consohdated financial statement amounts a5 of and for the year ended December 31, 2015

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetis
February 24, 2016
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in milhons, except per share data)

For the Years Ended December 31,

213 2014 1S
Revenue $ 21888 % 25109 § 24845
Operating expenses
Compensation and related expenses 947 5 1,030 5 1,027 7
Selling, general and admmnustrative 4272 4855 443 8
Intangtble amortization and impairments 128 2 1222 1154
Depreciation and other amortization 140 169 188
Other operating expenses 378 406 438
1,554 7 1,695 7 1,649 5
Operating income 6341 8152 8350
Income from equity method nvestments 3078 2817 2889
Other non-operating {income) and expenses
Investment and other (Income) expense (40 8) 213 {153)
Interest expense 873 76 6 8869
Imputed interest expense and contingent payment armangements 317 301 (40 3)
782 834 333
Income before income taxes 863 7 1,0135 1,090 6
Income taxes 194 1 2279 2569
Net income 669 6 7856 8337
Net income (non-controlling mterests) (309 1) (333 5) (3177
Net income (controlling interest) s 3605 § 4521 % 516 0
Average shares outstanding (basic) 531 550 543
Average shares outstanding (d:luted) 56 7 584 572
Earmngs per share (basic) 5 679 3% 8§22 % 949
Earmngs per share (diluted) $ 655 § 8§01 § 928

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(v mihions)
For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015
Net meome s 6696 § 7856 3 8337
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) (19 6} (62 0) (93 2)
Change 1n net realized and unrealized gam (loss) on derivative secunties, net of tax 1¢ 03 19
Change 10 net unrealized gan (loss) on investment secunnes, net of tax 115 34 221
Other comprehensive income (loss) 70 (58 3) 69 2)
Comprehensive imncome 662 5 7273 7645
Comprehensive income (non-controlling interests) (311 1) {(3174) (298 4)
Comprehensive income (controlling interest) $ 3514 § 4099 § 466 1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Investments in marketable secunties
Other investments
Fixed assets, net
Goodwill
Acquired chient relatonshups, net
Equity method investments in Affihates
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Equity
Payables and accrued liabilities
Senuor bank debt
Sentor notes
Convertible securities
Deferred income taxes, net
Other habilities
Total liabilittes

Commtments and contingencies (Note 10)

Redeemable non-controlling interests
Equity

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in milhions, except par value)

Common stock {$0 01 par value, 153 0 shares authonzed, 55 8 shares outstanding 1n 2014 and 2015)

Additionat paid-in capatal

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Retamned earnmings

Less Treasury stock, at cost (1 2 shares i 2014 and 2 0 shares i 2015)

Total stockholders’ equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Total habilities and equity

The accompanying notes are an mtegral pan of the Consolidated Financial Statements
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December 31,
2014 2015
5506 § 563 8
4259 3912
1726 1999
1672 1493
954 114 1
2,652 8 2,668 4
1,778 4 £,686 4
1,783 5 1,937 1
717 746
76981 § 7,784 8
8083 $ 729 4
8550 6450
7368 944 6
3031 3052
4917 5657
214 5 2133
3,409 4 3,403 2
6455 6125
06 06
6722 5972
318 {18 1)
2,1633 2,679 3
28679 3,2590
(2409 (421 9)
2,6270 2.8371
1,016 2 9320
36432 3,769 1
76981 § 7,784 8




December 31, 2012

Net tncome

(rher comprehensive income (loss)
Share-based compensatton

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

{10 milhions)

Total Stockholders® Equity

Common stock rssued under share-based incentive

plans
Tax benefit from share-based 1ncentive plans
Settlement of senior convertible secunties
Shares repurchases
Forward equity
Affiliate equity activaty

Affiliate equity expense

issuances

Repurchases

Changes in Redemption value of Redeemable

non-controlling interests

Transfers to Redeemable non-controlling
interests

Caputal Contnbutions by Affihate equity holders — —

Duistnibutions to non-controlling interests
December 31, 2013
Net income
Other comprehensive 1ncome (loss)

Share-based compensation

Common stock 1ssued under share-based incentive

plans
Tax benefit from share-based incentive plans
Settlement of sentor convertible secunhes
Shares repurchases
Forward equity
Investments i Affiliates
Affilate equity activity
Affihate equity expense
Issuances
Repurchases

Changes in Redemption value of Redeemable

non-controliing interests

Transfers to Redeemable non-controlling
unterests

Captal Contnbutions by Affiliate equity holders _ —

Dhstnbutions to non-controlling tnterests
December 31, 2014
Net income
Orther comprehensive income (loss)
Share-based compensation

Accumulated
Addrtionel Other Treasury Non-
Shares Commen Paid-In Comprehensive  Retzined  Stockat  controlhing Total
Outstanding Stock Capital Income (Loss) Eernmgs Cost Interests Equity
539 3§ 05 § 8685 § 791 $13507 $(2146) § 9572 $3,0414
— — — — 3605 — 3091 669 6
— — - ER)] - - Q20 @n
— — 275 — - — — 275
—_ - (532) — — 989 — 457
—_ — 207 —_ —_ —_ — 207
—-— — (1307) — — — — (1307
-_ —_ — - — (157) — (asmn
- — (440) — - — - (340}
— — 47 —_ — — 159 506
— — 199) - — — 309 1o
— — (329) —_ — — (209) (53 8)
- — (190 8) — — — — (190 8)
. — — —_ —_ — (19 5) {195)
— — — — 68 68
— — — — — —_ (267 1) {267 1)
539 § 05 § 4799 § 40 $1,7112 $(1314) § 10104 53,146
- - — — 4521 — 33335 7856
— — — 422) — - (16 1) (58 3)
- — 293 — — —_ — 293
- — (134 4) — — 1291 — (53)
— — 602 — — —_ —_— 602
19 01 2764 — — — — 2765
— — - - — (238 6) — (238 6)
— — 450 - — — — (450)
— — — —_— — —_ 2350 2350
— — 292 — — — 370 662
- — — — — — 108 108
- —_ 196 — — — (196) —
— _ 430) — — — 43 0)
- - - — — — 227 (227)
— — —_ —_ 173 173
— — — — — — (569 4) (569 4)
558 $ 06 $ 67122 S 318 $21633 $(2409) $ 10162 $3.6432
— — —_ — 5160 — 3177 8337
—_ — —_ (49 9) —_ — (193) (692)
— — 342 - — — — 342
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Commeon stock rssued under share-based incentive plans
Tax benefit from share-based incentive plans
Settlement of senior convertible secunties
Forward equity
Shares repurchases
Investments 10 Affiliates
Affiliate equity activity
Affiliate equity expense

Issuances

Repurchases
Changes 1n Redemption value of Redeemable non-
controlling interests

Transfers to Redeemable non-controlling interests

Capital Contnbutions by Affihate equity holders

Dhstmbutions to non-controlling interests
December 31, 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Stetements

— — (131 0) — — 1850 — 540
— — 445 — — - - 445
_ — — — —_ (3660) — (366 0)
— — — — _ —_— 338 338
— — 104 — - _— 516 620
—_ —_ 01 — —_ —_ 16 17
— —_ 484 — — — 04 480
—_ —_ (816) —_ — — — (816)
— — -_ — —_— —_ (49 5) (49 5)
—_ — - —_ —_ — 117 117
— — — —_ — —_ {431 4) (431 4)
558 § 06 § 5972 § (181) 52,6793 $(4219) § 9320 $37691
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AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(1n milhions)

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015

Cash flow from (used 1n) operating activines
Net income $ 6696 § 7856 § 8337

Adjustments to reconcile Net income to net cash flow from operating activities

[ntangible amortization and 1mpairments 1282 1222 1154
Depreciation and other amorhzation 140 169 188
Deferred income tax provision 2717 628 947
Imputed interest expense and conungent payment arrangements nz 301 403)
Income from equity method investments, net of amortization (307 8) 2817 (288 9)
Dhstributions recerved from equity method mvestments 2266 3669 3461
Amortizahion of 15suance costs 96 716 81
Share-based compensation and Affiliate equity expense 841 1137 1027
Other non-cash 1tems 104 38 (58)
Changes wn assets and habilities
(Increase) decrease in recervables (101 8) 65 561
(Increase) decrease i other assets (128) a1 62
Intrease {(decrease) i payables, accrued habalibies and other habilibes 1776 144 9 {42 0)
Cash flow from operating activities 9571 13922 1,204 8
Cash flow from (used 1n) mvesting activities
ltvestments in Affiliates {263) (1,245 0) 2977
Purchase of fixed assets (240) (192) (382)
Purchase of investment secuntes (14 212 (i35)
Sale of investment secunties . 114 173 249
Cash flow used in investing activities 50 3) (1,268 1) (324 5)
Cash flow from (used o) financing activites
Borrowings of senior debt 760 0 1,746 5 12533
Repayments of senior debt and convertible secunties (1,201 3) (1,020 6) {1,256 0)
Issuance of common stock 432 414 578
Repurchase of common stock {157) (150 8) 4137
Note and contingent payments {41 0) 144 205
Distnbubions to non-controlling interests (267 1) {569 4) (431 4)
Affiliate equity 1ssuances and repurchases (L18 1) {657 {120 6)
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation 173 615 445
Settlement of forward equity sale agreement 44 0) 450) 01
Onher financing items (74) (52) (86)
Cash flow used 1 financing activities (869 1) (329) {854 1)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 15 {102y (135
Net increase (decrease) n cash and cash equivalents 392 g0 132
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod 430 4 4696 5506
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 4696 § 5506 $ 5638
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informaton
Interest pasd H 874 % 679 § 764
Income taxes paid 828 1107 896
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities
Settlement of 2006 junior convertible secunties — 2178 —
Stock 1ssued under incentive plans 13 636 107

Stock recerved in setttement of liability 05 44 7 36




Payables recorded for Share repurchases — 478 —_
Payables recorded for Affiliate equity repurchases 40 218 623

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consclidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Business and Summary of Sigmficant Accounting Policies
{a) Organcation and Nature of Operations

Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (“AMG” or the “Company”} 1s a glebal asset management company with equity investments in leading boutique investment
management firms, referred to as “Affiliates " AMG's Affiliates provide investment management services globally to mstitutional clients, mutual funds and high
net worth individuals

Each of AMG’s Affiliates operate through distinct entitics, typically orgamzed as limited lLiability companies or limited parterships (or equivalent non-U §
forms), which affords AMG the flexibility to design a separate operating agreement for each Affiliate The operating agreements reflect the specific terms of
AMG’s economic participation wn the Affiliate (a “structured partnership mterest™) AMG's structured partnership interests consist pnmanly of structures through
which AMG shares m the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses AMG's structured partnership interests also include structures through which AMG
shares 1n the Affiliate’s revenue less certain agreed-upon expenses When AMG owns a majonty of the equity interests in an Affiliate and shares 1n the Affiliate’s
revenue without regard to expenses, a set percentage of revenue 15 allocated to fund operating expenses, mncluding compensation (the “Operating Allocation™),
while the remamng revenue (the “Owners’ Allocation”™) s allocated to AMG and Affiliate management in proportion to thewr respective ownershup interests When
AMG owns a mmonty of the equity interests i an Affiliate and shares n the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses, AMG 1s allocated a set percentage of
revenue, with the remaming revenue allocated to fund operating expenses and distributions to Affiliate management When AMG’s structured partnership interest
15 calculated by reference 1o an Affiliate’s revenue less certain agreed upon expenses, whether AMG owns a majonity or minenty of the equity interests, AMG 15
allocated a set percentage of the Affihate’s revenue net of the agreed categones of expenses

(b) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (“GAAP”) All dollar amounts, except per share
data in the text and tables heremn, are stated in millions untess otherwise indicated Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ financial statements to
conform to the current year's presentation The preparation of financial statements 1n conformity with GAAP requires management to make estunates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounis and disclosures n the financial statements Actual results could differ from those estimates

{¢) Principies of Consolidation
Investments in Affiliates

The Company evaluates the risk, rewards, and sigmficant terms of each of its Affiliate and other nvestments to determine the appropnate method of
accounting Majonty-owned or otherwise controlled investments are consolidated and all matenal intercompany balances and transactions are elimimnated

For 1ts consohdated Affihates, the portion of the Owners” Allocanon allocated to Affiliate management 1s mcluded i Net income (non-controiling nterests) in
the Consolidated Statements of Income Non-controlling mterests on the Consolidated Balance Sheets include capital and undistnibuted Operating and Owners’
Allocation owned by Affiliate management of the consolidated Affihates The effect of any changes in the Company’s equity interests 1n 1ts consohdated Affiliates
resulting from the 1ssuance or repurchase of an Affiliate’s equity by the Company or one of its Affiliates 1s included as a component of stockholders’ equity, net of
the related income tax effect in the penod of the change The current redemption value of non-controlling interests has been presented as Redeemable non-
controlling interests on the Consohdated Balance Sheets

AMG applies the equity method of accounting to mvestments where AMG does not hold a controlling equuty interest but has the ability to exercise sigmficant
mfluence over operating and financial matters In cases where AMG applies the equity method of accounting, 1t does niot typically have an obligation to repurchase
Affiliate equity interests Other investments 1 which AMG owns less than a 20% wnterest and does not exercise sigmificant mfluence are accounted for under the
cost method Under the cost method, income 1s recognized as dividends when, and 1f, declared

Affiliate-sponsored Invesiment Vehcles

The Company’s Affiliates sponsor vartous investment vehicles where they also act as the investment advisor Certam of these mvestment vehicles are vanable
wmterest entities (“VIEs™) while others are voting nghts entities (“VRES™)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

VIEs are consolidated 1f the Affiliate 15 determined to be the primary beneficiary (1 e, 1f 1t absorbs a majonty of the expected losses, or receives a majonty of
the expected residual returns) in determiming whether the Affiliate 1s the pnmary beneficiary, both qualitative and quantitative factors (e g , the voting nghts of the
equty holders, economic participation of all parties, including how fees are eamed and paid, related party ownership, guarantees and implied relationships) are
considered

VREs are consolidated 1f the Affiliate 15 the managing member or general partnier of the investment vehicle unless unaffiliated nvestors have certain nghts to
remove the Affiliate from such role, have substantive participating nghts or otherwise contrel the mvestment vehicle

{d) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Cempany considers all lughly liquid mvestments, includmg money market mutual funds, with origmal matunties of three months or less to be cash
equivalents Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value due to the short-term matunty of these investments

{e} Recewables

The Company’s Affiliates earn advisory and performance fees, which are billed based on the terms of the related contracts Bailled but uncollected advisory
and performance fees are presented within Receivables on the Consohdated Balance Sheets and are generally shori-term 1n nature

Certamn of the Company's Affilates n the United Kingdom act as an mtermediary between clients and their sponsored funds Normal settlement periods on
transactions intiated by these cltents result in unsettled fund share receivables and payables that arc presented on a gross basis within Receivables and Payables
and accrued habilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets The gross presentation of these recervables and offsetting payables reflects the legal relationship
between the underlying investor and the Company’s A ffiliates

() Investments in Marketable Securines

Investments in marketable secunities are classified as erther trading or available-for-sale and carned at fair value Unrealized gains or losses on ivestments
classified as avalable-for-sale are reported, net of tax, as a separate component of Accumulated other comprehensive income 1n Equity until realized when they are
reported 1n Investment and other (income) expense Realized and unrealized gams or losses related to trading securities are reported within Investment and other
(income) expense in the period they occur on a specific identification basis If a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale mvestment 15 determined to be
other than temporary, the carrying amount of the asset 15 reduced to 1ts faur value, and the difference 1s charged to income 1n the penod mcurred

(g) Fair Value Measurements

The Company determunes the fair value of certain investment securities and other financial and non-financial assets and liabilities  Farr value 1s determined
based on the pnice that would be receved for an asset or paid to transfer a hability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
utihzing a huerarchy of three different valuation techniques

Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments 1 active markets,

Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments n active markets, quoted prices for identical or sumilar instruments n markets that are not actrve, and model-
denved valuations whose inputs, or significant value dnvers, are observable, and

Level 3 - Prices reflect the Company’s own assumptions concerning unobservable mputs to the valuation model These inputs require significant managetment
Judgment and reflect the Company’s assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or lrability

(h} Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over thewr estimated useful lives The estimated useful hives of office
equipment and furmture and fixtures range from three to ten years Computer software developed or obtained for internal use 15 amortized using the straight-line
method over the esumated useful life of the software, generally three to seven years Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of thewr esimated
useful lives or the
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term of the lease, and butldings are amortized over their expected useful ives The costs of improvements that extend the hfe of a fixed asset are capitalized, while
the cost of repairs and maintenance are expensed as meurred Land 1s not depreciated

(1) Leases

The Company and its Affiliates currently lease office space and equipment under various leasing arrangements As these leases expire, it can be expected that
1n the normal course of business they will be renewed or replaced Leases are classified as either capital leases or operating leases, as appropriate Most lease
agreements for office space that are classified as operating leases contamn renewal options, rent escalation clauses or other inducements provided by the landiord
Rent expense 15 accrued to recognize lease escalation provisions and inducements provided by the landlord, if any, on a strazght-line basis over the lease term

() Equity Investments in Affthates

For equity method mnvestments, the Company’s share of the Affiliate’s revenue without regard to expenses or the Company’s share of the Affiliate’s revenue
less certain agreed-upon expenses, net of any amortization of intangible assets related to the Company’s mvestment, 15 meluded i Income from equity method
tnvestments The Company’s share of income taxes incurred durectly by A ffiliates accounted for under the equity methed 1s recorded within income taxes because
these taxes generally represent the Company’s share of the taxes incurred by the Affihate

The Company pertodically evaluates its equity method investments for impairment In such impairment evaluahons, the Company assesses 1f the fair value of
the investment has dechmed below its carrymg value for a period considered to be other than temporary 1f the Company determmnes that a decline in fair value
below the carrying value of the mvestment 15 other than temporary, then the reduction i carying value would be recogmized in Income from equity method
investments 1n the Consolidated Statements of Income

(k) Acquired Chent Relationshups and Goodwill

Each Affiliate 1n which the Company makes an mvestment has identifiable assets ansing from contractual or other legal nghis wath their clients (“acquired
client retanonships™) In determining the value of acquired chient relationships, the Company analyzes the net present value of these Affiliates’ existing client
relationships based on a number of factors, mcluding the Affiliate’s historical and potential future operating performance, the Affiliate’s historical and potential
future rates of attrition among existing clients, the stability and longevity of exusting client relationships, the Affiliate’s recent, as well as long-term, mvestment
performance, the charactenstics of the firm’s products and investment styles, the stability and depth of the Affiliate’s management team, and the Affiliate’s history
and percerved franchise or brand value

The Company has determuned that certamn of 1ts mutual fund acquired client relationships meet the critena to be considered indefintte-lived assets because the
Company expects both the renewal of these contracts and the cash flows generated by these assets to continue indefinitely Accordingly, the Company does not
amortize these intangible assets, but instead reviews these assets annually or more frequently whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that the recorded
ndefimte-lived assets may be impared Each reporting penod, the Company assesses whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that the
indefintte ife criteria are no longer met [f the ndefintte life critena are no longer met, the Company would assess whether the carrying value of the assets exceeds
s fatr value, an mpatrment loss would be recorded m an amount equal to any such excess and these assets would be reclassified to defimte-lived

The expected useful lives of definite-lived acquired client relationships are determimed based on an analysis of the lustonical and projected attnion rates of
each Affiliate’s existing chents, and other factors that may mfluence the expected future economic benefit the Company will derive from the relationships The
expected lives of definite-lived acquired client relanonships are analyzed annually or more frequently whenever events or circumstances have occurred that
mdicate the expected useful lives may no longer be appropnate

The Company tests for the possible impairment of indefinnte and definite-lived intangible assets annually or more frequently whenever events or changes 1n
circumstances mdicate that the carrying amount of the asset 1s not recoverable If such mdicators exist, the Company compares the fair value of the asset to the
carrying value of the asset If the carrying value 1s greater than the fair value, an impaurment loss would be recorded in Intangible amortizanon and ympairments

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits ansing from assets acquired 1n a business combination that are not individually 1dentified and separately
recogmzed, and 15 reported withun the segments in which the Affiliate operates Goodwill 15 not amortized, but 15 mstead reviewed for impairment The Company
assesses goodwill for unpairment at least annually, or
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more fiequently whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that the recorded goodwill may be impaired [f the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the
far value, an impairment loss would be recorded tn Intangible amortization and impawrments

(T} Issuance Cosis

Issuance costs related to Company’s senior bank debt are amortized over the remaining term of the credit faciity and term loan Costs incurred to 1ssue debt
are amortized over the shorter of the period to the first investor put or the Company’s esumate of the expected term of the secunty Costs associated with financial
mstruments that are not required to be accounted for separately as derivative instruments are charged durectly to stockholders’ equity

{m) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company may utilize financial mstruments, specifically interest rate derivative contracts to hedge certain interest rate exposures In enternng into these
contracts, the Company intends to offset cash flow gains and losses that occur on 1ts existing debt obligations with cash flow gans and losses on the contracts
hedging these obhgations

From ume to ime, the Company’s Affihates use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the nsk of currency exchange rate movements In entering inte
these contracts, the Affiliates intend to offset cash flow gains and losses on projected foreign currency-denominated revenues and expenses as a result of vanability
m foreign currency exchange rates

The Company records derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value If the Company’s denivatives qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the
unrealized gamn or loss 1s recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and reclassified nto earnings
when the hedged cash flows are recorded 1n earnings Hedge effectiveness 1s generally measured by comparing the present value of the cumulative change n the
expected future variable cash flows of the hedged contract with the present value of the cumulative change in the expected future vanable cash flows of the hedged
item To the extent that the critical terms of the hedged item and the denvative are not 1dentical, hedge meffectiveness would be reported 1n Investment and other
(income) expense [f the Company’s denvatives do not qualify as cash flow or farr value hedges, changes in the fair value of the dervatives are recogmzed as a
gaun or loss 1n Investment and other (income) expense

(n} Conningent Payment Arrangements

The Company penodically enters mnto contingent payment arrangements m connection with its business combmnations In these arangements, the Company
agrees to pay additional consideration to the sellers to the extent that certain levels of revenue growth are achieved For consolidated Affiliates, the Company
estimates the fair value of these potential future obligations at the ime a business combmation 1s consummated and records a liability on its Consolidated Balance
Sheet The Company then accretes the obligation to its expected payment amount over the pertod untd the arrangement 1s measured [f the Company’s expected
payment amount subsequently changes, the obligation 1s reduced or increased in the current penod resulting in a gain or loss, respectively Both gains and losses
resulting from changes to expected payments and the accretion of these obligations to thewr expected payment amounts are reflected within Imputed nterest
expense and contingent payment arrangements i the Company’s Consolhidated Statements of Income For Affiliates accounted for under the equity method, the
Company records a Ligbility when a payment becomes probable with a corresponding increase to the carrying value of the Affiliate

(o) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method Under this method, deferred taxes are recogrized for the expected future tax consequences
of temporary differences between the book carrying amounts and tax bases of the Company’s assets and Labilites Deferred tax habilities are generally attributable
to mtangible assets, convertible securities and deferred mncome Deferred tax assets are generally attributable to deferred compensation, state and foreign loss
carryforwards, and the benefit of uncertain tax posittions Intangible-related deferred tax habihities are not recorded on U S basis differences related to the
Company's foreign investments i corporate stock because of the permanent nature of the Company’s investments

In measuning the amount of deferred taxes each period, the Company must project the impact on 1its future tax payments of any reversal of deferred tax
habihities {(which would increase the Company's tax payments), and any use of 1ts state and foreign loss carryforwards (which would decrease its tax payments) In
forming these estimates, the Company uses enacted federal, state and foreign income tax rates and makes assumptions about the apportionment of future taxable
mcome to junsdictions m which the Company has operations An increase or decrease 1 foreign, federal or state income {ax rates could have a material impact on
the Company’s deferred income tax liabilitres and assets and would result m a current income tax charge or benefit
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The Company recogmizes the financial statement benefit of an uncertam tax position only after considenng the probability that a tax authonity would sustain
the position 1n an examination For tax positions meeting a “more-likely-than-not” threshold, the amount recognized i the financial statements 1s the benefit
expected to be realized upon settlement with the tax authonty For tax positions not meeting the threshold, no financial statement benefit 1s recogmzed The
Company recogmizes interest and other charges relaung to unrecognized tax benefits as additional tax expense

The Company regularly assesses the need for valuation allowances on its deferred tax assets, which would reduce these assets to their recoverable amounts In
formung these estimates, the Company makes assumptions of future taxable income that may be generated to utihize these assets, which have limited lives If the
Company determines that these assets will be realized, the Company records an adjustment to the valuation aliowance, which would decrease tax expense in the
peniod such determination was made Likewise, should the Company determune that it would be unable to realize additional amounts of deferred tax assets, an
adjustment to the valuation allowance would be charged to tax expense in the period such determmation was made

The Company operates in various locations outside the U S and generates earmings from its foreign subsidianes The Company does not recognize a provision
for US income taxes or a deferred income tax hiability on undismbuted foreign eamings that are indefimtely remnvested

(p) Foreign Currency Translation

The assets and liabilities of Affiliates whose functional currency 1s not the U S dollar are translated mto U S dollars using exchange rates in effect as of the
balance sheet date The revenue and expenses of these Affiltates are translated into U S dollars using average exchange rates for the relevant period Because of
the permanent nature of the Company’s investments, net translation exchange gamns and losses are excluded from Net income and recorded i Other comprehensive
income Foreign currency transaction gams and losses are reflected in Investment and other (income) expense

(q) Concentration of Credit Risk

Fuancial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash investments The Company
maintains cash and cash equivalents, investments and, at umes, certan financial instruments with vanous high credit-quality financial institutions These financial
mstitutions are typically located i countnes in which AMG and 1ts Affibates operate For AMG and certamn Affiliates, cash deposits at a financial mstitution may
exceed Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation msurance limits

(¥} Revenue Recogmition

The Company’s consolidated revenue prunarly represents advisory fees billed by Affihiates for managing the assets of chents Asset-based advisory fees are
recogmzed as services are rendered and are based upon a percentage of the value of client assets managed Any fees collected i advance are deferred and
recogmzed as income over the peniod earmed Performance-based advisory fees are generally assessed as a percentage of the investment performance realized on a
client’s account, generally over an annual period Performance-based advisory fees are recognized when they are eamed (1 ¢, when they become billable to
customers and are not subject to claw-back) based on the contractual terms of agreements and when collection 1s reasonably assured Camed mietest 1s recogmzed
upon the earlier of the termination of the mvestment product or when the likelihood of claw-back 15 improbable Also included n revenue are commissions earned
by broker-dealers, recorded on a trade date basis, and other service fees recorded as eamed

The Company's Affiliates have contractual arrangements with third parties to provide certain dismbution-related services These third parties are pnmanly
compensated based on the value of client assets over ime Distnbution-related revenues are presented gross of any related expenses when the Affiliate 15 the
principa! n 1ts role as pnmary obligor under 1ts sales and distnbution arrangements Distnbution-related expenses are presented withun Selling, general and
administrative expenses

(s} Earmings Per Share

The calculation of basic eamings per share 15 based on the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding dunng the pertod
Diluted earnings per share 1s similar 1o basic earnings per share, but adjusts for the dilutive effect of the potential 1ssuance of incremental shares of the Company’'s
common stock

The Company had convernble secunties outstanding during the periods presented and 1s required to apply the 1f-converied method to these securities m its
calculation of diluted earmings per share Under the 1f-converted method, shares that are
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1ssuable upon conversion are deemed outstanding, regardless of whether the securities are contractually convertible mto the Company’s common stock at that time
For this calculation, the interest expense (net of tax) attnbutable to these dilutive secunties 1s added back to Net income {controlling interest), reflecting the
assumption that the secunties have been converted Issuable shares for these secunties and related interest expense are excluded from the calculation 1f an assumed
convers:on would be anti-dilutive to diluted earings per share

(1} Share-Based Compensation Plans

The Company recognizes expenses for el share-based payments based on their grant date fair values over the requisite service period

The Company reports any tax benefits realized upon the exercise of stock options that are 1n excess of the expense recogmized for reporting purposes as a
financing activity 1n the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows If the tax benefit realized 15 less than the expense, the tax shortfall 1s recogmzed i
stockholders’ equity To the extent the expense exceeds available windfall tax benefits, it 1s recogmized 1n the Consolidated Statements of Income The Company
was permitted to calculate 1ts cumulative windfall tax benefits for the purposes of accounting for future tax shortfalls The Company elected to apply the long-form
method for determining the pool of windfall tax benefits

(u) Segment Informanon

Management has assessed and determmed that the Company operates in three business segments representing the Company’s three principal distribution
channels Instiutional, Mutual Fund and High Net Worth, each of which has different client relattonships

Revenue and mcome from equity method imvestments in the Institutional distribution channel 1s earned from relattonships with public and private client
entities, ncluding foundanons, endowments, sovereign wealth funds and retirement plans for corporations and municipaliies Revenue and mcome from equuty
method investments 1n the Mutual Fund distnbution channel 1s earned from advisory or sub-advisory relatonships with active retumn oriented mutual funds, UCITS
and other retad products Revenue and income from equity method mvestments in the High Net Worth distribution channel 1s eamned from relationships with high
net worth and ultra-high net worth individuats, famailies, trusts, foundations, endowments and retirement plans

In measunng Net income {controlling interest) by segment, the Company’s share of expenses incurred directly at Affiliates and AMG Funds 1s allocated to a
particular segment pro rata to the revenue generated by the Affiliate and AMG Funds 1n such segment All other operating and non-operating expenses not meurred
directly by an Affiliate or AMG Funds are generally aliocated to segments based on the relabve conmmbuton to earmings of the applicable Affihate or AMG Funds
in each segment

(v} Recent Accounting Developments

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB™) 1ssued a final standard on revenue from contracts with customers The new standard
provides a comprehensive model for revenue recogruion The new standard 1s effective for interm and fiscal perrods beginming afier December 15, 2017 The
Company 1s evaluating the impact of this standard on 1ts Consolidated Fiancial Statements

In February 2015, the FASB 1ssued a new standard that amended the current consolidation guidance The new standard changes the analysis required to
deterrnine whether an entity 1s a vanable tnterest entity and should be consoltdated The new standard 1s effective for intenm and fiscal penods beginning after
December 15,2015 The Company 1s evaluating the impact of thes new standard on 1ts Consolidated Financial Statements

In Apnl 20135, the FASB 1ssued a new standard to reduce diversity in the presentation of debt 1ssuance costs The new standard requires debt 1s5uance costs to
be presented on the balance sheet as a deduction from the related debt The new standard 1s effective for intenm and fiscal penods beginning afier December 135,
2015 The Company does not anticipate that this new standard will have a material impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements

in Apnl 2015, the FASB 1ssued a new standard amending the disclosure requirements for investments wn certain entities that calculate net asset value per
share The new standard removes, from the far value hicrarchy, mvestments for which the net asset value 15 used as a practical measure of fair value The new
standard 1s effective for intenm and fiscal pertods beginning after December 15, 2015 The Company does not anticipate that this new standard will have a
matenal impact on its Consolidated Financial Statements
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In September 2015, the FASB 1ssued a new standard requunng an acquirer to recogaize and disclose adjustments to provisional purchase price allocations,
performed m connection with business combinations, m the reporting pertod 1n which the adjustmenits are determined The new standard ts effective for intenm
and fiscal periods beginnmg after December 15, 2015 The Company 1s evaluating the impact of this new standard on 1ts Consolidated Financial Statements

In January 2016, the FASB issued a new standard that changes the accounting for equity investments, financial habilities under the fair value option and the
presentation and disclosure requirements for financial instruments  Under the new gwdance, all equity investments in unconsolidated entines (other than those
accounted for using the equity method of accounting) will generally be measured at fair value through eamings The new standard 15 effective for interim and
fiscal periods begmnung after December 15, 2017 The Company 15 evaluating the impact of this new standard on s Consolidated Financial Statements

2 Investments in Marketable Securities

Investments i marketable securities at December 31, 2014 and 2015 were $172 6 million and 3199 9 miihion , respecuvely The followng 1s a summary of the
cost, gross unreahized gams and losses and fair value of mnvestments classified as available-for-sale and trading

Available-for-Sale Trading
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2015
Cost 3 1256 § 1047 % 195 8 198
Unrealized Gains 428 776 29 19
Unrealized Losses (18 1) (18) ©n (2 3)
Fair Value 3 1503 § 1805 § 223§ 194

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were 33 4 million and $8 8 million , respectively, of realized gains on investments classified as
available-for-sale These gains were recorded in Investment and other (income) expense There were no significant realized gamns or losses on investments
classified as trading for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015

3  Other Investments

Other investments consist of mvestments i fiunds 2dvised by Affiliates that are carried at fair value The income or loss related to these mnvestments 15
classified within Investment and other (income) expense m the Consolidated Statements of Income

4 Vanable Interest Entitzes

The Company’s conschdated Affihates act as the investment manager for certamn VIEs These Affiliates are entitled to receive management fees and may be
eligible to recerve performance fees The Affiliates” exposure to risk in these entities 15 generally limuted to any cquity investment and any uncollected
management or performance fees, neither of which were sigmificant at December 31, 2014 and 2015 These Affiliates do not have any mvestment petformance
guarantees to these VIEs

Consolidated Affiliates are not the pnmary beneficianes of any of these VIEs as their involvement 1s himited to that of a service provider, and their mvestment,
if any, represents an insigmificant mterest n the relevant fund’s assets under management Since these Affiliates’ variable interests will not absorb the majonty of
the vanability of the VIE’s net assets, these entities are not consolidated

The net assets and hiabilities of these unconsolidated VIEs and the Company’s maxunum nsk of loss were as follows

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2015
Unconsohdated Carrying Value and Uncensohdated Carrying Value and
Category of Investment VIE Net Assets Maximum Rusk of Loss VIE Net Assets Maximum Resk of Loss
Sponsored investment funds hY 85504 3% 12 3§ 66889 § 14
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5  Sentor Bank Debt

In 2015, the Company entered into a $1 3 billton semor unsecured multicurrency revolving credat facility (the “revolver”) and a $350 0 mithion semior
unsecured term loan facility {the “term loan” and, together with the revolver, the “credut facilities™) The credit facilibes, which replaced previous credit facihties,
both mature on September 30, 2020

Subject to certamn condittons, the Company may mcrease commtments under the revolver by up to an addiional $500 0 mullion and may borrow up to an
additional $100 0 million under the term loan The Company pays interest on any outstanding obligations under the revolver and on the term loan at specified rates,
based either on the LIBOR rate or the prime rate as in effect from tune to tune

As of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , the Company had outstanding borrowings under the revolver of $605 0 million and 3295 0 miilion, respectively, and the
weighted-average interest rate on outstanding borrowings was 1 40% and 2 52%, respectively As of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , the Company had outstanding
borrowings under the term loan of $250 0 mullion and $350 0 million , respectively, and the weighted-average interest rate on outstanding borrowings was 1 48%
and 145% , respectively The Company pays comnutment fees on the unused portion of 1ts revolver In 2014 and 2015 , these fees amounted to $2 8 mullion and
$19 million , respectively

The credit facilities contam financial covenants with respect to leverage and interest coverage, as well as customary affirmative and negative covenants,
includimg limitations on prionty indebtedness, asset disposttions and fundamental corporate changes, and to certan customary events of default
6  Sentor Notes

In 2015, the Company redeemed, canceled and retired all $140 0 nullion principal amount outstanding of its 5 25% senior unsecured notes due 2022 at a
redempuion price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest

In February 2015, the Company 1ssued addiional senior notes, and at December 31, 2015 had three senior notes outstanding, the principal terms of which are
summanzed below

024 2025 2042

Senior Senior Sentor

Notes Motes Notes
Issue date February 2014 February 2015 August 2012
Matunty date February 2024 August 2025 August 2042
Potential Call Date Any Time Any Time August 2017
Par value {in miilions} h) 4000 s 3500 $ 2000
Call Price As Defined © As Defined At Par
Stated coupon 425% 3 50% 6375%
Coupon frequency Semi-annually Semi-annuatly Quarterly

{0 The 2024 and 2025 sentor notes may be redeemed at any tume, in whole or i part, at a make-whole redemption price plus accrued and unpaid interest
7 Convertible Secunities

In 2014, the Company delivered a notice to redeem all $300 0 mullion principal amount of 1ts outstanding junior convertible trust preferred secunties 1ssued n
2006 (“2006 jumor convertible securities™) In lieu of redemption, substantially all holders of the 2006 jumor convertible secuniiies elected to convert their

securtties mmto a defined number of shares The Company 1ssued 1 9 mullton shares of its common stock and recognized a loss of $18 8 million , which 15 included
n Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements All of the Company’s 2006 jumior convertible securities have been canceled and reured

At December 31, 2015 , the Company had jumor convertible trust preferred securities outstanding that were 1ssued in 2007 (“2007 junior convertible
securities”)
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The carrying values of the Company’s convernible secunities were as follows

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2015
Carrying Pnncipal Amount Carrying Prnincipal Amount
Value at Matunty Value at Matunty
2007 jumior converuble secunties ™ $ 3031 § 4308 § 3052 8 4308

) The carrymng value 15 accreted to the principal amount at maturity over a remaning hfe of 22 years

The 2007 juntor convertible securities bear wterest at 5 15% per annum, payable quarterly i cash Each $ 50 secunty 1s convertible, at any tune, into 0 25
shares of the Company’s common stock, which represents & conversion pnice of $200 per share Holders of the securities have no nghts to put these secunities to
the Company Upon conversion, holders will receve cash or shares of the Company’s common stock, or a combination thereof, at the Company’s electon The
Company may redeem the 2007 junior convertible securities 1f the closing price of its common stock exceeds $260 per share for 20 trading days n a period of 30
consecutive trading days These convertible securities are considered contingent payment debt instruments under federal income tax regulanons, which require the
Company to deduct mterest i an amount greater than its reported interest expense These deductions result n annual deferred tax habilies of $9 4 million  These
deferred tax hahilities will be reclassified directly to stockholders’ equity 1f the Company’s common stock 1s tradg above certain thresholds at the time of the
conversion of the secunties

8 Forward Equity Sale Agreement

The Company may sell shares of 1ts common stock under a forward equity agreement Al December 31, 2015, the Company had approxmately $250 milhon
remaining notional amount that was available to sell under the forward equity agreement

9 Denvative Financial Instruments

From time to time, the Company seeks to offset 1ts exposure to changing wnterest rates under its debt financing arrangements and certamn of its A ffiliates seek
to offset their exposure to changing foreign currency exchange rates by entenng into denvative contracts

T

During 2015, the Company’s Affiliates realized $3 2 muthion of gams and $1 7 million of losses upon the settlement of certamn foreign currency forward
contracts Such realized gams and losses are presented in the Consclidated Statements of Income within Revenue, Investment and other (income) expense or
Operating expenses, depending on the nsk being hedged

10 Commitments and Contingencies

From ume to time, the Company and its Affiliates may be subject to claims, legal proceedings and other contingencies 1n the ordinary course of thetr busmess
acuviuies Any such matters are subject to vanous uncertainties, and 1t 1s possible that some of these matters may be resolved in a manner unfavorable to the
Company or 1ts Affiliates The Company and 1s A ffihates establish accruals, as necessary, for matters for which the outcome 1s probable and the amount of the
liabihity can be reasonably esimated The Company had no significant accruals as of December 31, 2013

In the first quarter of 2016, Third Avenue Management LLC (“Third Avenue”), one of the Company’s consolidated Affiliates, was named as a defendant 1n
vanous legal actions relating to the iquidation and closure of the Third Avenue Focused Credut Fund The Company 15 not a party to any of these actions Thuird
Avenue believes that the claimms in these actions are without menit and 1ntends to vigorously defend against them

The Company and certamn A ffilates operate under regulatory authonties that require that they mamtan mimimum financial or capital requirements
Management 1s not aware of any significant vioiations of such requirements

The Company has commuitted to co-invest in certain mvestment parimersiups As of December 31, 2015, these unfunded commitments were $76 8 mithion and
may be called 1n future penods In connection with a past acquisition agreement, the Company 1s contractually entitled to reimbursement from a prior owner for
$15 2 millon of these commutments 1f they are called
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As of December 31, 2015, Company was contmgently liable, upon achievement by certam Affiliates of spcaified financial targets, to make payments through
2019 of up to 585 6 mullion associated with 1ts consolidated AfTiliates and $166 5 mullion associated with 1ts equity method Affiliates The Company expects to
make payments of $14 0 milhon (none m 2016) of the $85 6 million related to consoiidated A fiihates and no payments related to the Company’s equity method
Affiliates

11 Fair Value Measurements R

The following tables summarize the Company's financial assets and habilities that are measured at farr value on a recurnng basis

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financal Assets
Cash equivalents L3 591 § 591 % — 3 —
Investments 1n marketable secunuies
Trading secunitigs 223 223 _ _
Available-for-sale secunities 1503 1503 — —
Other investments 1672 136 194 1342
Financial Liabihties
Contingent payment arrangements ™ $ 593 % — 3 — 3 593
Obligations to related parties @ 931 — _— 93 1
Interest rate Swaps 14 — 14 —
Foreign currency forward contracts 05 —_— 05 —

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets
Cash equivalents ) 659 § 659 § — 3 —
Investments in marketable securities
‘Tradmmg secunties 194 194 _ —
Available for sale secunties 1805 1805 — —
Other vestments 149 3 207 26 1260
Fmancial Liabilities
Contingent payment arrangements @ $ 102 % — 3 — 8 102
Obligations to related parties ® 1373 — — 1373

) Principally mvestments 10 equity secunties
) Amounts are presented within Other habilities

) Amounts are presented within Other assets or Other hiabilites

The followng are descriptions of the sigmificant financial assets and habilities measured at farr value and the fair value methodologies used

Cash equivalents consist pnmarly of ghly hquid investments in daily redeeming money market finds that are classified as Level 1
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Investments in marketable securities consist pnmanly of investments m publicly traded secunties and m funds advised by Affiliates that are valued using net
asset value (“NAV™) Publicly traded secunties and mvestments 1 daily redeeming funds that calculate NAVs are classified as Level 1

Other investments consist pnmanly of funds adwvised by Affiliates and are valued using NAV Investments in daily redeeming funds that calculate NA Vs are
classified as Level 1 Investments in funds that permit redemptions monthly or quarterly are classified as Level 2 Investments m funds that are subject to longer
redemption restrictions are classtfied as Level 3 The fair value of Level 3 assets 1s pnmarily determuned using NAV one quarter tn arrears (adjusted for current
penod calls and distnbutions)

Contingent payment arrangements represent the present value of the expected future settlement of contingent payment arrangements related to the Company’s
mnvestments in consolidated Affiliates The sigmificant unobservable inputs that are used tn the fair value measurement of these obligations are growth and discount
rates Increases in the growth rate result in a higher obligation while an increase 1n the discount rate results in a lower obligation

Obligations to related parties include agreements to repurchase A ffiliate equity and liabihittes, offsetting certain investments that are held by the Company but
economtcally attributable to a related party The sigmficant unobservable mputs that are used 1n the fair value measurement of the agreements to repurchase
Affihate equity are growth and discount rates Increases in the growth rate result in a higher obligation while an mncrease in the discount rate results mn a lower
obligatton The hability to a related party 1s measured based upon certan investments held by the Company, the fair value of which 1s determined using NAV one
quarter mn arrears adjusted for current period calls and distnbutions

Interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward contracts use model-denved valuations in which all sigmficant inputs are observable m active markets to
determine the fair value of these denvatives

It 15 the Company’s policy to value financial assets or hiabilities transferred as of the begmning of the period tn which the transfer occurs There were no
sigmficant transfers of financial assets or Liabilittes from Level 1 1o Level 2 1n 2014 or 2015

i 1l

The followng table presents the changes in Level 3 assets and Labilities

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2015
Other Contingent Payment Obligations to Other Contingent Payment Obhgatwns to

Investments Arrangements Related Parties Investments Arrangements Related Parties
Balance, beginning of
penod 5 1318 $ 502 3 769 b 134 2 $ 593 5 931
Net gamns/losses 114 @ 91 @ 55 o (55) » (409 @ 46 o
Purchases and 1ssuances 174 — 967 163 93 164 1
Settlements and
reductions (26 4) —_ (86 0) (25 5) (17 5) (124 5)
Net transfers i and/or out
of Levet 3 — — — 65 — —
Balance, end of penod s 1342 $ 593 s 931 ) 126 0 $ 102 b3 1373
Net change n unrealized
gans/losses relating to
instruments still held at
the reporung date 5 171 s 91 3 (01) s 61 s {409) s (73)

™ Gans and losses on Other mvestmenis are recerded 1n Investment and other (income) expense
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@ Accretion and changes to the Company’s contingent payment arrangements are recorded 1 Imputed interest expense and contngent payment arrangements

@) Gams and tosses associated with agreements to repurchase Affiliate equity are recorded n Imputed interest expense and contingent payment arrangements
Gawms and losses related to liabilittes offsetting certain mvestments are recorded 1n investment and other (mcome) expense

The fellowng table presents certain quantitative mformation about the sigmficant unobservable inputs used 1n valuing the Company’s Level 3 financial
Liablities

Quanttative Informahon sbout Level 3 Fair Value Messurements

¥aluaton Unobservable Fatr Value at Range st December Fair Value at Range at December

Techmques Input December 31, 2014 31, 2014 December 31, 2015 31, 2018
Contingent payment arrangements Discounted cash flow Growth rates 3 593 6% $ 102 3% - 8%
Drscount rates 15% 15%
Affihate equity repurchase obhigations Dnscounted cash flow Growth rates 215 5% - 9% 623 1% -9%
Discount rates 15% - 16% 14% - 15%

Investments in Certain Entitres that Calculate Net dsset Value

The Company uses the NAV of certain investments as their fair valve The NAVs prowvided by the mvestees have been denved from the fair values of the
underlying investments as of the measurement dates The following table summanzes the nature of these investments and any related hquidsty restrictions or other
factors that may impact the ultimate value realized

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2015
Unfunded Unfunded
Category of Investment Fair Value Commnments Fair Value Commitments
Prnvate equity $ 1342 § 678 3§ 1260 § 76 8
Other funds @ 758 - 723 —
$ 2100 § 678 % 1983 § 768

1} These funds pnmanly mvest i a broad range of private equity funds and make direct nvestments Distnibutions will be received as the underlying assels are
liquidated over the life of the funds, which is generally 15 years

@ These are multi-disciplinary funds that invest across vanious asset classes and strategies, including long/short equaty, credst and real estate Investments are
generally redeemable on a daily or quarterly basis

r £ %1

The carrying amount of Cash and cash equivalents, Receivables, and Payables and accrued liabilies approximates fair value because of the shon-term nature
of these mstruments The carrymg value of notes receivable approximates farr value because interest rates and other terms are at markelt rates The carrying value
of Senior bank debt approxmmates far value because the debt has vanable interest based on selected short-term rates  The following table summarnzes the
Company's other financial habilities not carried at far value

December 31, 2014 December 31, 1015
Fair Value
Carrmnog Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value Hierarchy
Sentor notes $ 7368 § 7862 § 9446 § 966 3 Level 2
Convertible secunties 3031 5321 3052 483 6 Level 2

12 Business Combnations
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The Company completed majority mvestments i Baker Street Advisors, LLC (“Baker Street™) on April 1, 2015 and myCIO Wealth Partmers, L P (“myCIO”)
on October 1, 2015 The Company’s provisional purchase price atlocations were measured using a financial model that includes assumptions of expected market
performance, net chent flows and discount rates The associated provisional amounts may be revised upon completion of the final valuation The considerauon
paid (less net tangible assets acquired) will be deductible for U S tax purposes over a 15 -year hfe

The purchase price allocation for these mvestments was as follows

Total

Consideration pad £ 761
Contingent payment obligations 93
Non-controlling interests 338
Enterprise value $ 1192
Acquired client relationships $ 525
Tangible assets, net 24
Goodwll 643

5 1192

The excess of the enterprise value over the separately 1dentifiable net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill and the segment allocation was as follows

Total
Institutional 14 4%
Mutual Fund —%
High Net Warth 85 6%

Unaudited pro-forma financial results are set forth below, assuming these mvestments ocowrred on January 1, 2014 and the Company’s structured partnership
mnterests had been n effect for the entire penod

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 (Unaudited) 2015 (Unaudited)
Revenue $ 25382 §$ 24994
Net income (controlling nterest) 454 5 5179
Eamings per share (basic) 826 953
Earmings per share (diluted) 805 931

The unaudited pro-forma financial results are not necessanty indicative of the financial results had the mvestments been consummated at the beginning of the
periods presented, nor are they necessarily mdicative of the financial results expected in future penods The unaudited pro-forma financial results do not include
the impact of transaction and integration related costs or benefits that may be expected to result from these nvestments

The Company’s new tnvestments contributed $15 3 million and $1 3 muillion to the Company’s Revenue and earnings, respectively, during 2015

The Company had habilities to related parties for conungent payment arrangements i connection with certan business combmations The total payable was
$59 3 nmullion and $10 2 mullion as of December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, and was included in Other hiabilities The Company made no payments associated
with these habilities m 2014 In 2015, the Company made payments of $17 5 million associated with these habihities Dunng 2013, the Company adjusted its
estimate of 1ts contingent payment obligations and recogmized a loss totaling $10 3 million  Durng 2014, the Company made no such adjustments Dunng 2015,
the Company adjusted 1ts estimate of 1ts contingent payment obligations and recorded a gain of $44 7 milhion

56




AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13 Goodwill and Acquired Client Relationships

The followng tables present the change 1n Goodwill and components of Acquired client relationships, net of the Company’s consolidated Affiliates

Goodwill
Instimtional Mutuai Fund High Net Worth Total
Balance, as of December 31, 2013 S 1,063 8% 9281 3§ 3373 § 23417
Goodwill acquired 972 2081 392 3445
Foreign currency translation (14 4) (109 (8 1) (33 4)
Balance, as of December 31, 2014 3 1,191 $ L1253 3 3684 § 2,6528
Goodwill acquired 92 — 351 643
Foreign currency translation (270) {58) (15 9) (48 7)
Balance, as of December 31, 2015 s 1,1413  § 1,195 § w076 §$ 2,668 4

Acquired Client Relahonships

Definmte-hived Indefinate-lived Total
Gross Book Accumulated et Book Net Book Net Book
Value Amortization Value Value Value

Balance, as of December 31, 2013 b 1,0395 § (4428 3 5967 S 8640 § 1,460 7
New Investments 2203 — 2203 2447 4650
Amortization and impairments — (122 2} (1222) — (1222)
Foreign currency translation 47 — @7 (204) @sny
Balance, as of December 31, 2014 $ 1,2551  § (5650) $ 6901 8 1,0883 % 1,778 4
New Investments 525 — 525 — 525
Amortization and impairments — (115 4) (115 4) — (15 4)
Foreign currency translation (5 8) —_ 5% 233 29 1)
Balance, as of December 31, 2015 $ 1,3018 § 6804 $ 6214 % 13,0650 % 1,686 4

Defintte-lived acquired ¢lient relationshups are amortized over therr expected useful lives As of December 31, 2015 , these relationships were being amortized
over a weighted average Life of approxunately ten years The Company recognized amortization expense for these relationships of $122 2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to $115 4 mallion for the year ended December 31, 2015 Based on relationships exasting as of December 31, 2015, the
Company estimates that 115 consolidated annual amortizaion expensc will be $110 million for each of the next five years

Dunng 2014 and 2015, the Company completed impawrment assessments on 11s goodwll and defimite-lived and indefinste-lved acquired client relationships
and no impairments were indicated

14 Equity Method Investments m Affiliates

The Company completed minonty vestments m Abax Investments (Pty) Ltd on December 18, 2015 and Ivory Investment Management, L P on December
31,2015 for approximately 3200 mulhon The Company’s provisional purchase pnce allocations were measured using a financial model that includes assumptions
of expected market performance, net chient flows and discount rates The associated provisional amounts may be revised upon completion of the final valuation
The consideration paid (less net tangible assets acquired) will be deductible for U S tax purposes over a 15 -year life Also duning 2015, the Company paid $23 3
mili:on related to a contngent payment cbligation

A portion of the purchase price attributable to the Company’s equity method A ffihates relates to definite-lived acquired client relationships As of
December 31, 2015 , the definste-hved acquured relationships were bemg amortized over a weighted average life of approximately fourteen years The Company
recognized amortization expense for these relanonships of $32 3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $34 3 milhon for the year ended
December 31, 2015 Based on relanonships exising as of December 31, 2015, the Company esumates the annual amortization expense attrbutable 1o its current
equity-methed A ffiliates to be $37 muliton for each of the next five years
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The following table presents summarized financial information for Affihates accounted for under the equity method

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015°

Revenue @ $ 1,5806 § 1,8693 § 22171

Net mcome 1,321 9 2538 4315
December 31,

2014 2015
Assets @ 5 34,7292 % 30,663 4
Lizbihies and Non-controlling mterest ™ 33,0486 29434 7

() Revenve mncludes advisory fees for asset management services and net investment tncome from consohidated nvestment partnerships

@  Assets consist pnmanly of mvestment secunties 1 consohdated mvestment partnerships, which are generally held by non-controlling mterests

The Company’s share of undisttbuted earnmgs from equity method mvestmenis totaled $101 5 million as of December 31, 2015

Subsequent to year end, the Company completed minority investments in Systematica Investments L P and Baning Private Equity Asia on January 4, 2016 for

approximately §550 mullion

15 Fixed Assets and Lease Commitments

Fixed assets consisted of the followng

December 31,
2014 015

Building and leasehold improvements 5 841 1047

Software 40 8 454

Equipment 383 399

Furmture and fixtures 175 224

Land, improvements and other 187 186

Fixed assets, at cost 169 4 2310
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (104 0} (116 %)

Fixed assets, net $ 954 1141

The Company and its Affihates lease office space and equipment for their operations At December 31, 2015 , the Company’s aggregate future mimmum

payments for operating leases having umtial or non-cancelable lease terms greater than one year were payable as follows

58




AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Required Mumimum
Payments ¥
2016 $ 360
2017 337
2018 310
2019 265
2020 284
‘Thereafter 821

() The controiling mterest portron 1s $10 7 million through 2016, $11 0 million cach 1 2017 and in 2018, $10 6 millron m 2019, $10 1 million w 2020 and §38 7
million thereafter

Consolidated rent expense for 2013 , 2014 and 2015 was $30 3 mulion , $30 5 mullion and $36 3 mullion , respecuvely

16 Payables and Accrued Liabilities

Payables and accrued habilities consisted of the following

December 31,
2014 2015
Accrued compensation and distnbutions b 4913 % 4550
Unsettled fund share payables 783 76 6
Accrued income taxes 598 679
Accrued share repurchases 478 —
Accrued professional fees 269 314
Gther 1042 985
$ 8083 § 729 4

17. Related Party Transactions

The Company has reflected a prior owner’s mvestments i certain private equity nvestment parmerships sponsored by an Affiliate and recorded on the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as erther & liabitity 1n Other Liabilities or 85 a Non-controlling nterest, depending on the structure of the prior owner’s
mvestments mn the partnerships The total hability was $71 6 mullion and $75 0 milhion at December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively The total non-controtling
witerest was $13 5 million and $5 1 mulhion at December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively

In certam cases, A ffiliate management owners and Company officers may serve as trustees of directors of certay mutual funds from which the Affihate earns
advisory fee revenue

See Note 20 for nformation on transactions i Affiliate equity
18 Stockholders’ Equity

e 2]

The Company 15 authorized to 1ssue up to 5 0 millon shares of Preferred Stock Any such Preferred Stock 1ssued by the Company may rank prior to common
stock as to dividend nghis, iguidation preference or both, may have full or lmmited votng nights and may be converuble into shares of common stock

Commgon Stock

The Company 15 authonzed to 1ssue up to 150 0 mihon shares of Voung Common Stock and 3 0 million shares of Class B Non-Voung Common Stock As
more fully described mn Note 8, the Compaity 15 party to a forward equity sale agreement under which the Company may sell shares of its common stock
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‘The Company’s Board of Directors has peniodically authonized share repurchase programs, most recently m May 2015, authonzing the Company to
repurchase up to 3 ¢ million shares of 1ts common stock As of December 31,2015, there were 2 3 million remaming shares available for repurchase under the May
2015 program, which does not expire The iming and amount of ssuances and repurchases wiil be determmned at the discretion of the Company’s management

The following 15 a summary of the Company’s recent share repurchase activity

Shares Average
Penod Repurchased Price
2013 01 % 184 89
2014 12 204 72
2015 17 209 39

Einancial Instruments

The Company’s juntor convertible securitics contam an embedded nght for holders to recetve shares of the Company’s comrmon stock under certamn
conditions These artangements, as well as the forward equity sale agreement, meet the defintion of equity and are not requured to be accounted for separately as
derivative istruments

i9 Share-Based Compensaticn
Share-Based [ncentive Plans

The Company has established vanous plans under wiuch & 1 authorized to grant restricted stock, restrcted stock units, stock options and stock appreciation
rights Compensation payable under these plans 1s wntended to quahfy as performance-based compensation within the meaming of Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code The Company may also grant cash awards that can be notionally invested in ene or more specified measurement funds, mcluding the Company’s
common stock.

Share-Based Incenpive Compensation

The followmg 15 a summary of share-based compensation expense

Share-Based
Compensation
Penod Expense Tax Benebit
2013 L 275 § 106
2014 293 13
2015 342 132

The cash recewved for options exercised was $41 4 muliion and $57 8 mition during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively The actual
tax benefit recogruzed from share-based incentive plans was $60 2 muthon and $44 5 million dunng the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively
Thie excess tax benefit classified as a financing cash flow was $61 5 mlhion , and $44 5 rulhon dunng the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively

There was $56 8 million and $70 6 miHian of unrecognized compensation expense selated to share-based compensation ATangements as of December 31,
2014 and 2015 , respectively The unrecognized compensation expense af December 31, 2015 will be recogmzed over a weighted average period of approxmmately
three years (assummg no forfestures)

Stock Opiong

The following table summanzes the fransactons of the Company's siock options
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Weighted
Weghted Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractua)
Stock Options Prce Life (yearsj
Unexercised options outstanding—/January 1, 2015 23 83 42
Options granted 0o 207 61
Opnons exercised 09 6595
Options forfeited 00 101 29
Unexercised options outstanding—December 31, 2015 14 96 18 22
Exercisable at December 31, 2015 13 94 43 21

The Company granted stock options with far values of $1 0 mullion , $0 6 million , and $1 0 milhon 1 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively Stock options

generally vest over a period of three to five years and expure seven 10 ten years after the grant date All options have becn

fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant

granted with exercise prices equal to the

The Company generally uses treasury stock to settle stock option exercises The total mirmsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31,
2013, 2014 and 2015 was $77 4 million , $92 6 mullion and $130 2 million, respectively As of December 31, 2015, the mtrinsic value of exercisable options

outstandmg was $89 ¢ million and 3 5 milhon cpuons are avaitable for future grant under the Company’s option plans

The fair value of options granted was estumated using the Black-Scholes oplion pricing model The weighted average fair value of options granted during the
years ended December 31,2013 , 2014 and 2015 was $61 82, $60 20, and $54 92 per option, respectively, based on the weighted-average grant date assumptions

stated below
For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 2015
Dividend yield 00% 0 0% 00%
Expected volauhty 34 4% 29 7% 26 7%
Rusk-free nterest rate @ 15% 18% 15%
Expected life of opttons (in years) 50 50 50
Forfeature rate ® 00% 0 0% 00%
®  Expected volatiity 15 based on historical and implied volatility
@ Rusk-free mterest rate 1s based on the U S Treasury yield curve n effect at the date of grant
® Expected Iife of options {in years) 1s based on the Company’s lustoncal data and expected exercise behavior
Resricted Stock
The following table summarizes the transactions of the Company's restricted stock
Weighted
Average
Restricted Grant Date
Stock Value
Unvested units—January 1, 2015 04 3 182 83
Units granted 03 197 59
Units vested ©n 17419
Unuts forfeited ©0) 190 23
(1] 192 ¢4

Unvested units—December 31, 2015
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The Company granted awards with faur velues of $53 5 mullton, $8 0 mihion , and $50 7 mullion in 2013 , 2014 and 2015 , respecuvely These awards were
valued based on the closing pnice of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant and contan vestng conditions requinng service over a pertod of three to
eight years In certamn Circumstances, awards also require certain performance conchuons to be satisfied and the Company may elect to settle the awards in shares
of the Company’s common stock or cash

In 2013, the Company granted 0 1 mallion awards that vest when a required service period has been completed and 1f certamn market conditions are satisfied
The market conditions require separate 15% , 25% and 35% increases in the price of the Company’s common stock t0 be achieved dunng the six -year term of the
awards, however, shares underlying the awards are eligible to be delwvered, assuming the service conditions have been satisfied, only on the fourth , fifth and sixth
anniversaries of the grant date 1f the 15% market condition has been mamtaned The awards were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation with grant date
assumptions for expected volaulity (31 6%) , nsk-free nterest rate (2 0%) and dividend yield { 0 0% ) The fair value of the awards wall be recognized as
compensahion over a service perod of four years, which 1s the tonger of the explicit service period or the pentod the market condition 15 expected to be met

As of December 31, 2015 , the Company had 1 5 million shares avmlable for grant under 1ts plans

20. Affihate Equity

Affiliate equity interests provide holders with a ratable portion of ownership in one of the Company’s Affiliates Afliliate equity intercsis are allocated ncome
10 a manner that 15 consistent with the structured partnership wnterests in place at the respective Affihate When the Company owns a share of the Affihate’s
revenue without regard to expenses, Affiliate equity holders are allocated Owner's Allocation n proportion to their respective ownershup wnterests When the
Company owns a share of the Affiliate’s revenue less certamn agreed-upon expenses, Affiliate equity holders are atlocated theur share of revenue net of the agreed
categories of expenses The Company’s Affiliates generally pay quarterly distnbutions to Affilate equity holders Dhstnibutions paid to Affiliate equity holders
were $267 1 mullton , 569 4 million and $431 4 mullion for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively

Affihate equity interests provide the Company a conditional nght to call (on an annual bass following an Affiliate equity holder's departure} and Affilate
equity holders have a conditional nght to put their mterests at certamn wntervals (between five and fifieen years from the date the equaty mnterest 15 recesved or on an
annual basis following an Affiliate equity holder’s departure) Affihate equity holders are also permitted to sell their equity mierests to other individuals or entities
1n certain cases, subject to the Company's approval or other restnetions The purchase price of these condiional purchases are generally calculated based upon a
multiple of cash flow distributions, which s intended to represent fair value The Company, at its option, may pay for Affihate equity purchases 1n cash, shares of
\ts common stock or other forms of consideration and can consent to the transfer of these interesis o other indivaduals or entities

Sales and repurchases of Affiliate equity generally occur at fair value, however, the Company aiso grants Affihate equity to 1ts Affiliate partners, employees
and officers as a form of compensation 1f the equity 15 1ssued for consideration betow the fair value of the equity or repurchased for consideration above the fair
value of the equity, then such difference 1s recorded as compensation £xpense over the requisite service penod

The following 15 a summary of Affihate equity expense

2013 2014 201%
Controlling interest ) %64 3 474 8 169
Tax benefit Q21n {18 2) (6 5)
Controlling mterest, net $ 347 3 292 % 104
Non-controlling mtérest 159 370 516
Total 5 506 % 662 § 620
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The followng 15 a summary of unrecogmzed Affiliate equity expense

Unrecogmzed Affiliate Equity Expense

Non-Controllg
Penod Controlling Interest Remamnng Life Interest Remaiming Life
2013 5 361 Jyears § 321 7 years
2014 295 3 years 416 6 years
2015 224 3 years 519 3 years

The Company pertodically 1ssucs Affiliate equity interests to and repurchases Affilate equity mterests from its Affiliate partners The amount pad for
repurchases was $36 ¢ million , $32 6 million and $130 8 milhon for the years ended December 31,2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively The total amount received
for 1ssuances was $2 5 million , $11 0 million and $6 | million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively

The Company records amounts receivable and payable to Affiliate partners in connection with the transfer of Affiliate equity interests that have not settled at
the end of the period The total recetvable was $20 8 million and $22 6 mullion at December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respecuvely, and was included m Other assets
The total payable was $2¢ 3 million and $62 3 million as of December 31, 2014 and 2015 , respectively, and was included i Other liabilines The total amount
recerved for such receivables was $6 9 million , $9 7 mullion and $7 4 mlhion for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively The total
amount paid for such habihities was $5 5 million , $4 4 million and $17 2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively

The current redemption value of the Company’s Affiliate equity has been presented as Redeemable non-controllmg mterests on the Company’s Consolidated
Balance Sheets Changes in the current redemption value are recorded to Additional pmid-in capital The following table presents the changes in Redeemable non-
controlling interests

2034 2018
Balance, as of January 1 $ 6419 § 6455
Repurchases of redeemable Affiliate equity oL (161 3)
Transfers from Non-contrelhing interests 227 495
Changes 1n redemption value 430 816
Decrease attributable to consohdated products (04) 28)
Balance, as of December 31 b 6455 § 6125

During the years ended 2013 , 2014 and 2015, the Company acquired interests from, and transferred interests to, holders of Affiliate equity The followmng
schedule discloses the effect of changes m the Company’s ownership interests m its Affihates on the contrelling mterest’s equity

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 1084 2015
Net meome (controlling interest) $ 3605 $ 4521 § 516 0
Increase m controlling interest pard-mn caputal related 10 Affiliate equity 1S5uances 131 25 B 07
Decrease in controlling interest paid-in capital related to Affilate equity repurchases B71D) (35 8) (89 8)
Net mcome attributable to controlling 1nterest and transfers (to) or from Non-controlling interests b3 2865 § 4188 § 4269

21 Benefit Plans

The Company has three defined contnbution plans consistmg of 8 quahified employee profit-sharng plan covering substantially all of its full-ime employees
and several of 1ts Affiliates, and non-qualified plans for certam semor employees AMG's other Affihates generally have separate defined contnbution retwrement

plans Under each of the qualified plans, AMG
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and each participatng Affihate, as the case may be, are abfe to make discretionary contriburions for the benefit of qualified plan participants up to Internal
Revenue Service hmits

The Company has a Deferred Compensation Plan that provides officers and directors of the Company the opportunity to voluntanly defer base salary, bonus
payments and director fees, as apphicable, on a pre-tax basis, and nvest such deferred amounts m one or more specified measurement funds While the Company
has no obligatton to do so, the Deferred Compensation Plan also provides the Company the opportumty to make discretionary contnbutions, m the event any such
conmbutions are made, contnbuted amounts will be subject to vesting and forferture provisions

Consohdated expenses related to the Company’s benefit plans 1n 2013, 2014 and 2015 were $14 1 milbon , 517 2 millien and $18 7 muthon , respectively
22 Income Taxes

The consohidated income tax provision included taxes attnibutabte to the controlling interest and, to a lesser extent, taxes attrnibutable to non-controiling
mterests follows

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 014 2015
Controlling Interests
Current tax $ 1531 § 1498 % 1524
Intangible-related deferred taxes 381 478 777
Other deferred taxes (62) 158 212
Total controlling mterests 1850 2134 2513
Non-controlling Interests
Current tax $ 133 $ 153 b 98
Deferred taxes (42) (08 @2)
Total non-controlling interests 91 145 56
Provision for income taxes s 1941 % 2279 § 2569
Income before mncome taxes (conrolling nterest) $ 5455 8 6655 § 7673
Effective tax rate atinbutable to controlling interests 339% 32 1% 328%

() Taxes attnbutable to the controlling iterest divided by Income before mcome taxes (controlling mterest)

A summary of the consolidated provision for mncome taxes follows

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015
Current
Federal b 1041 § 938 § 106 3
State 211 271 183
Foreign 412 442 376
Total current 166 4 1651 1622
Deferred
Federal 381 725 979
State 89 11 142
Foreign (19 3) (10 8) (17 4)
Total deferred 277 628 047
Provision for income 1axes S 1941 § 2279 % 2569
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The components of mcome before mcome taxes consisied of the following

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 2014 10158
Domestic b 6040 3% 7841 § 8276
International 2597 2205 2630
b 8637 3 1,0136 3§ 1,090 6

The Company’s effective income tax rate differed from the amount computed by using income before mcome taxes and applying the U S federal mcome tax
rate because of the effect of the following 1tems
For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 20158

Tax at U S federal imcome tax raie 350% 350% 350%
State ncome taxes, net of federaf benefit 28 21 26
Effect of foreign operations (29) (33) G35
Other a4 03 a3y
Effective tax rate {(controlling interest) 339 321 328
Effect of income from non-controlhing interests (11 4) (96) 92)

225% 225% 236%

Effect tax rate

() State ncome taxes included changes related 1o state valuation allowances

In 2013, the Company realized deferred tax benefits of §7 2 millien on mvestments in foreign subsidianes deemed permanent 1n duration (including $5 9
$11 2 milion ( $7 6 mullion to the conwrollng wmterest) from the revahuation of i1s deferred

mllion for subsidiaries that became permanent i duration i 2013) and
taxes resulting from a reduction in corporate tax rates i the United Kingdom

investments m foreign subsidianes deemed permanent in duration (including $245

In 2014, the Company realized deferred tax benefits of $30 3 mullion on
4 1ts valuanon allowance §6 § msilion for staie net operating loss carryforwards

mulhon for subsidianies that became permanent m duration m 2014) and reduce

10 foreign subsidiaries deemed permanent 1n duration and $5 0 muhion from 1ts

In 2015, the Company realized $17 1 miliion of tax benefits from investments
controlling interest) of deferred tax

ndefimte remvestment of certamn 2015 foreign earnings In 2015, the Company also reatized $10 O milhion { $6 5 million to the
benefits resulting from a reduction 1n corporate tax rates 1n the United Kingdom

the excess of the financial reporung basis over the tax basis 1n 1ts nvestments in foreign subsidianes that
ie upon a repatnation of assets from a sale or iqudanon of the subsidhary As of December 31, 2015, the
5 for this difference were $71 1 muilion

The Company did not provide for deferred taxes on

were permanent n duration This amount becomes taxab!
amount of such difference was $188 1 million The deferred taxes not recognized at December 31, 201

The components of deferred tax assets and habilitres were as follows
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December 3,
2014 1015
Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred compensation $ 68 $ 305
State net operaung loss camryforwards 152 171
Tax benefit of uncertan tax posions 160 146
Accrued expenses 196 44
Foreign loss carryforwards ns 123
Other 14 —
Total deferred tax assets 905 789
Valuation allowance (184) (20 5)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance % 721 % 584
Deferred Tax Liabihities
Intangible asset amortization 3 2709 $ (3202)
Non-deductible intangible amortization (126 4) (109 8)
Convertible securities mterest {92 5} (99 8)
Deferred income (74 0) 928)
Other - (15)
Total deferred tax hhablities (563 8) {624 1)
Net deferred tax Liabihity S 4917) 3 (5657

Deferred tax habilities were primarnly the result of tax deductions for the Company’s intangible assets and convertible securiies The Company amortizes
most of 115 mtangible assets for tax purposes only, reducing its 1ax basis below its carrying value for financial statement purposes and generating deferred taxes
each reporung pertod The Company’s convertible secuniuies also generate defermed taxes because the Company’s tax deducttons are lugher than the mnterest
expense recorded for financial siatement purposes

At December 31, 2015 , the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards that expire over a 19 -year penod and forergn loss carryforwards that expire
over a 20 -year period The Company had established a valuation allowance to offset a portion of these carryforwards because of the uncertamnty of realizing their
full value

In 2014, the Company reduced 1ts valuation allowance $15 7 million on state {oss carryforwards from improved projections of taxable mcome, and wcreased
state uncertain tax positions by $9 2 million for a net $6 5 milhon state tax benefit In 2014, the Company also reduced 1ts valuation allowance on loss
carryforwards by $2 5 million

In 2015, the Company mcreased 1ts valuation aliowance $2 1 milon, principaily for loss carryforwards deemed unrealizable

The Company had uncertan tax positrons of $20 4 millon, $28 8 muilion and $26 9 muillion as of December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015, respectively These
amounts mcluded $1 7 milhon , $1 6 million and $1 8 million of nterest and related charges, respecttvely At December 31,2013, 2014 and 2015 , these habilities
also meluded $17 2 millien , $26 4 million and $25 3 millon , respectively, for tax positons that, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits follows
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For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 015
Balance, as of January 1 $ 226 % 204 § 288
Additions based on current year tax positions 41 26 22
Additions based on prior years’ tax positions — 108 16
Reductions for pnor years’ tax provisions o1 — —
Reductions related to lapses of statutes of limitations (54) @i 43)
Adaitions (reductions) related to foreign exchange rates 08) 09) (14)
Balance, as of December 31 b 204 8 288 % 269

Dunng 2014, uncertain 1ax positions mcreased $8 4 mitlion , principally for the uncertan nature of several of #ts state net operating loss carryforwards Dunng
2015, uncertam 1ax positions decreased $1 9 million , principally from changes foreign exchange rates The Company does not anticipate that uncertain tax
positions will change sigmificantly over the next twelve months

The Company periodically has tax examinations i the U S and foreign junsdictions Examunauon outcontes, and any related settlements, are subject 10
sigmficant uncertainty The completion of examinations may result in the payment of additional taxes and/or the recogmuen of tax benefits The Company was
generally no longer subject to income tax examnations by any tax authorties for years before 2010

23 Earmngs Per Share

The following 1s a reconcilation of the numerator and denomunator used in the calculatton of basic and difuted earnings per share available to common
stockholders

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2014 2015

Numerator
Net tncome (controlling interest) 3 3605 % 4521 8 5160
Interest expense on convertible secunties, net of taxes 105 152 153
Net mncome (controlling miterest), as adyusted 3 310§ 4673 3 5313
Denominator
Average shares outstanding (basic) 531 550 543
Effect of dilutive instruments

Stock options and other awards 13 12 07

Forward sale 03 00 —

Juntor convertible secunties 20 22 22
Average shares outstanding (diluted) 567 384 572

Dunng the years ended December 31, 2013 ,2014 and 2015, the Company repurchased 0 { milhon , { 2 milon and 1 7 muilion shares of common stock,
respectively, at an average share price of $184 89, §204 72 and $209 39, respectively, under the share repurchase programs approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors

The diluted earnmgs per share calculanons i the table above excluded the ann-chlutive effect of the following shares

For the Years Ended December 31,
2013 1014 2015
Stock opuons and other awards 01 00 00
Semior convertible secunties 21 — —
Juntor convertible secunties 22 04 —
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As discussed further m Note 20, the Company may settle portions of 1ts Affiliate equity purchases in shares of 1ts common stock Because 1t 1s the Company’s

24, Comprehensive Income

intent to settie these potential repurchases i cash, the calculation of diluted eammgs per share excluded any potental dilutive effect from possible share

settiements

The following tabies show the tax effects allocated to each component of Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation gan (loss)
Change m net realized and unreahzed gamn (loss) on derivauve securities

Change 1n net unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities

Other comprehensive meome (lo5s)

Foreign currency translation gain {loss}
Change in net realized and unrealized gain (loss) on denvative secunties

Change n net unrealized gain (loss) on investnent secunties

QOther comprehensive mcome (foss)

Foreign currency transiation gaimn (loss)
Change n net reahzed and unrealized gain {loss) on denvative securities

Change 1 net unrealized gain (loss) on investment securities

Other comprehensive mcome (loss})

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (foss), net of taxes, were as follows

Balance, as of December 31, 2013
Other comprehensive mcome (loss) before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from other comprehensive mcome
Net other comprehensive income (1oss)
Balance, as of December 31,2014
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Amounts reclassified from other comprehiensive income
Net other comprehensive income {loss)
Balance, as of December 31, 2015

() See Note 2 for amounts reclass)fied from Other comprehensive income

Pre-Tax Tax Benefit (Expense) Net of Tax
3 (196) $ — 3 (19 6)
] 03 10
195 30 s
3 14 3 85 % an
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014
Pre-Tax Tax Benefit (Expense) Net of Tax
3 620) % — 8 (62 0)
a6 ©3 03 |
56 (22) 34 |
s (558 $ 25 $ (58 3) |
|
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 ‘l
Pre-Tax Tax Benefit (Expense) Net of Tax }
$ 932) § — 932y |
23 (©4) 19 |
348 axh 221 i
s (561) $ 031 $ ©2) |
!
|
Faretgn Curreacy Rezlized and Unrealgzed Gam |
Translation Unreahzed Losses on  {Loss) on Investment
Adjustment Denvative Secunties Secunties Total r
3 566 § {199 3§ 195 742 |
(62 0) 03 13 ©0d |
— 00 21 21 J
{62 0) 03 34 (383 |
$ 54 % (16) % 229 i59
(932) 08 135 (7189)
—_ 1! 84 27
(932) 19 221 (69 12)
$ (985 § 03 % 450 (533)
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25 Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unandited)

The followmg 1s a summary of the quarterly results of operations of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015

2014
First Second Tiurd Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue 3 5931 % 6363 § 6403 % 6412
Operaung mcome 1939 198 4 2242 1987
Income before mcome taxes 208 2 2391 253 4 3128
Net mcome (controlling nterest) 772 991 103 2 172 6
Earmings per share (diluted) 140 175 182 302
1015
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
Revenue b 6350 § 6466 3 6131 § 5898
Operating income 2314 1952 2152 1932
Income before income taxes 2903 2620 2491 2892
Net income (controlling interest} 1280 128 7 1090 1503
Earnings per share (diduted) 227 231 198 272

26. Segment Information

Management has assessed and determined that the Company operates n three business segments representing the Company’s three principal distnbution
channels Insttutional, Mutual Fund and High Net Worth, each of which has different client relationships The following table summarizes the Company’s
financial results for each of the distribunon channels

Statements of Income

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Inshtutional Mutual Fund High Net Worth Tatal
Revenue 5 9487 § 11,0230 8 2171 § 2,1888
Net income (controlling interest) 2199 1034 312 3605
Total assets 3,196 5 2,448 4 6739 6,318 8
Goodwll 1,076 3 928 1 3373 2,3417
Equity method mvestments i Affiliates 9426 7717 1030 1,1233

As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2014

Institutional Mutual Fund High Net Worth Total
Revenue S 10228 § 1,226 § 2455 § 2,5109
Net income (controlling mnterest) 2270 1801 450 4521
Total assets 32,7398 3,0820 8763 7,698 1
Goodwill 1,159 1 1,1253 368 4 2,6528
Equity method investments m Affiliates 1,533 8 1503 99 4 1,783 5
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As of and for the Y ear Ended December 31, 2015

[ostomnaonal Mutual Fund High Net Worth Total
Revenue $ 9794 § 1,2382  § 2669 S 24845
Net income (controlling 1nterest) 2293 2297 370 5160
Total assets 3,725 9 30755 983 4 7,784 8
Goodwill 1,1413 1,119 5 407 6 2,668 4
1,609 3 1857 1421 19371

Equity method investments 1 Affihates

102013, 2014 and 2015 , revenue attnibutable to clients domiciled outside the U'S was approximately 38% , 37% and 40% of total revenue, respectively
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Income Tax Valuation Allowance

Year Ending December 31,
2015
2014
2013

Other Allowances ™

Year Ending Decembet 31,
2015
2014
2013

Schedule 11
Valpation and Quahfying Accounts

Balance Additons Addihons
Beginning of Charged to Costs Charged to Balagce
Penod and Expenses Other Accounts Deduchons End of Pened
184 % 21 8 — — 205
366 —_ — 182 184
213 169 - 16 366
121 § 07 $ — 22 106
88 47 —_ 14 121
34 28 — 24 88

M QOther Allowances represented reserves on notes received in connection with transfers of our interests in certaim Affiliates as well as other recetvable amounts,

which we considered uncollectible
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Item 9. Changes 1o and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financoal Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

15 under the Exchange Act, as of December 31, 2015, we carned out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation
fhicer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and eperation of our disclosure confrols
Officer and Chief Fmancial Officer concluded, as of the end of the pentod covered by thus report,
that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that (1) information required to be disclosed by us in the reports we file or submit under the
Exchange Act 1s recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specificd mn the Secunties and Exchange Comnussion’s rules and forms,
and {11) such informanon 15 accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and pnincipal financial officers as
appropriate to allow timely decistons regarding required disclosure in desigming and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, we and our management
recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the deswred control
objectives, and our manageraent necessanly was required to apply 1ts judgment m evaluating and implementing possible controls and procedures Our disclosure
controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving the1r stated obyectives and our principal executive officer end principal financial
officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at the reasonable assurance level We review on an ongoung basis and document our
disclosure controls and procedures, and ovr mtemal control over financial reporting, and we may from time to time make changes in an effort to enhance their
effecuveness and ensure that our systems evolve with our business See ltem 8 for “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” which 1s

mcorporated by reference herein

As required by Rule 13a-
of our management, including our Chief Executive O
and procedures Based upon that evaluation, the Cluef Executive

Our independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has 1ssued an attestation report on our wuternal control over financial
reporting, which 1s included in lem 8

No change m our intemnal control over financial reporting (as defined n Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) occurred during the fiscal
quarter ended December 31, 2015 that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably hkely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial reportng

Item 98 Other Information
Nane
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Item 10 Directors, Executrve Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required by this ltem wll be set forth 1n our proxy statement for our 2016 Annual Mecung of shareholders (to be filed within 120 days after

December 31, 2015 ) (the “Proxy Statement”), and 1s mcorporated herem by reference
1tem 11. Executive Compensahion.
Information required by this ltem wall be set forth 1n our Proxy Statement, and 1s mcorporated heren by reference
Item 12 Security Ownership of Certan Benefictal Owners and Managemeot and Related Stockholder Matters
Information required by this Item wall be set forth m our Proxy Statement, and 1s wncorporated herein by reference
Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
Information required by this Item wil be set forth m our Proxy Statement, and 15 incorporated heremn by reference
ftem 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information required by this Item will be se1 forth m our Proxy Statement, and is mncorporated herem by reference
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ftem 15 Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
em 8§ of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

n Form 10-K

{a) (1) Financial Statements See It
(2) Fmancial Statement Schedule See Item § of this Annual Report 0

(3) Exhibuts See the Extubit Index attached hereto and mcorporated by reference heremn
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be stgred on tts
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AFFILIATED MANAGERS GROUP, INC
(Registrant)
Date February 24, 2016 By fsf SEAN M HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and i the capacities and on the dates mdicated

Signature Tisic Date
/st SEAN M HEALEY Chief Executive Officer and February 24, 2016
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Sean M Healey (Principal Executive Officer)
s/ JAY C HORGEN Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer February 24, 2016
(Principal Funancta! and Pnincipat
Jay C Horgen Accounting Officer)
/sf SAMUEL T BYRNE Director February 24, 2016
Samuel T Byme
fsf DWIGHT D CHURCHILL Director February 24, 2016
Dwight D Churchill
/s/ GLENN EARLE Director February 24, 2016
Glenn Earle
/s{ NIALL FERGUSON Director February 24, 2016
Miall Ferguson
/s! TRACY P PALANDJIAN Director February 24, 2016
Tracy P Palandjtan
/s/ PATRICK T RYAN Director February 24,2016
Painck T Ryan
Js/ ADE J ZEJTLIN Dhrector February 24, 2016
Jide J Zeithn
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Exhibit 21 1

SCHEDULE OF SUBSIDIARIES
(1n slphabetical order)

Below 1s a list compnsed of (1) wholly-owned subsichanes of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (the “Company™), (1) entities n whch the Company has a majority
interest {direct and mdirect) and {m) ennties i which the Company has a mnority investment (direct and ndirect), as of December 31, 2015 Mmonity
wvestmenis are mndicated via asterisk (*}

4444582 Canada Inc , a Canada corporation

Abacos Atlantic Holdings Lid , a Bahamas international business company

Abax [nvestments Proprietary {.imited, a lunited ligbrlity private Company meorporated wm South Africa*
Affihated Managers Group (Hong Kong) Lumited, a lmited company incorporated 1 Hong Kong
Affiliated Managers Group Limited, a limited company ncorporated in the United Kingdom
Affilated Managers Group Pty Ltd, a imuted company mcorporated . Austraha

Affiliated Managers Group (Switzeriand) AG, a company wcorporated i Switzerland

AKH Holdings LLC, 2 Delaware limited hability company

AMG 2014 Capital LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

AMG Amrow Holdings 1.td , a Bahamas internztional business company

AMG Atantc Holdings Ltd , a Bahamas miematonal busmess company

AMG Boston Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

AMG CA Holdings Corp , a New Jersey corporation

AMG CA Holdmgs, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

AMG CA Holdings LP, a Delaware imited partnersiip

AMG Canada Carp , a Nova Scotia corporauon

AMG Canada Holdings LLC, a Delaware lmited hability company

AMG Cipher Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited habihty company

AMG Dhstmbutors, Inc, a Delaware corporation

AMG Edison Holdings, LLC, a Delaware himited liability company

AMG EIG Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited Liability company

AMG FCMC Holdings, LL.C, a Delaware limited hiability company

AMG FL Holdings, LLC, a Delaware hmited hability company

AMG Funds L1.C, a Delaware linmited liability company

AMG Genesis, LLC, 8 Delaware hmited hiabihity company

AMG Global, Inc , a Delaware corporation

AMG Gotham Holdings, LLC, a Delaware lmmited hability company

AMG GWK Holdings, LLC, a Deiaware frited iablity company

AMG LGP Acquisihion, LLC, 2 Delaware hmited hability company

AMG London Holdings Corp , a Delaware corporation

AMG New York Holdings Corp , a Delaware corporation

AMG Northeast Holdings, Inc , a Dejaware corporation

AMG Northeast Investment Corp , a Delaware corporation

AMG PA Holdings Partnership, a Delaware general parmership

AMG Plymouth UK Holdings (1) Limited, a limited company mcorporated in England and Wales
AMG Properties LLC, a Delaware united hability company

AMG Renatssance Holdings LLC, a Delaware hnmted hability company

AMG SA Holdings Proprietary Limited, a lunited liability private company mcorporated in South Afnica
AMG SSAM Holdings, LLC, a Delaware lumnited hiability company

AMG TBC, LLC, a Delaware lumted liability company

AMG UK Holdings Ltd , a Bahamas (nternational business company

AMG Wealth Parmers, LP, a Delaware himited partnershup

AMG WF Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited Liability company

AMG WP GP Holdings Corp , a Delaware corporation

AMG WP LP Holdmgs, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

AMG/FAMI Investment Corp , a Nova Scotia corporatien

AMG/Midwest Holdings, Inc , a Delaware corporation

AMG/Midwest Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

AMG/North Amenca Holding Corp , a Delaware corporation

AQR Capital Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liabihity company* '




AQR Capital Management [1, LLC, a Delaware lumited Liability company®

AQR Capital Management (Europe) LLP, a UK lunited liabihty partnershup*

AQR Capial Management Holdings, LLC, a Delaware hmated Liabilnty company*
AQR Capnal Management (UK Services) Limited, a UK hmited company*

Atrow Acquisttion LLC, & Delaware lumted hiabihty company

Arrow Brdca Lumited, a tmurted company mcorporated i the Umited Kingdom
Artemis Asset Management Lunited, a imsted company wncorporated w the United Kimgdom
Artemis Fund Managers Limited, a himuted company meorporated n the United Kmgdom
Antermis lnvestment Management LLP, 8 United Kingdom iimited habalsty parmershup
Artenus Srategic Asset Management Limited, a hmited company incorporated n the Umted Kingdom
Aston Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liabihity company

Baker Street Advisors LL.C, a Delaware lumited liability company

Beutel, Goodman & Company Lid , a limited company wncorporated i Canada*
Bamm: Atlantic Holdmgs Ltd , 2 Bahamas mternational business company
BilugMountamn Capital Management, LLC, a Delaware limited hiabihty company*
BlueMountam Capital Partners {London) LLP, 8 UK hmuted hability partmership*
BiueMountan GP Hoidings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company*
BiueMountan UK Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited hability company*

BMCM Acquisition, LLC, a Defaware limited Liability company

Bowman Partners GP Co , a Cayman Islands exempted company

Catalyst Acquisition 11, Inc, a Delaware corporation

Channel Ventures GP Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company

Chicago Acquisttion, LLC, a Delaware hmited hiability company

Chicago Equity Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

Clarfeld Fmancial Advisors, LLC, a Delaware lumted hability company*

Deans Kaight Capttal Management Ltd , a2 Canada corporanon®

EIG Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware limuted hiability company*

FIG Funds Management, LLC, a Delaware lumited tiability company™*

EIG Global Energy (Asia) Ltd, a Hong Kong private company*

EIG Global Energy (Australia) Pty Ltd, an Ausiraha private company*

EIG Glebal Energy (Brasil) Representacoes L1da , a Braai imited hability company*
EIG Globa! Energy (Europe) Ltd , a UK limited company*

EIG Global Energy Korea, Ltd , 2 Korea hmited company*

EIG Management Company, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company*

EIG Principals Incentive Carry Vehicle, LP, a Delaware limited partmership*
El-Tram Acquisttion LLC, a Delaware humited liability company

Empire Acquisttion (WP}, LLC, a Delaware lumited iability company

FA (DE) Acqusition Company, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

FA (WY) Acquistion Company, Inc, a Delaware carporation

FCMC Holdings LLC, a Delaware hmited labihity company

FIAMI Production Management Services 2001 Inc , a Canada corporation

First Asset Caputal Management (111 inc , an Ontano corporation

First Quadrant, L P, a Delaware limited partnershap

Foyston, Gordon & Payne Inc , a Canada corporation

Frontier Capital Management Company, LLC, a Delaware lunited hability company
Frontier Capital Management Incentive, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company
GE Asia GP LLC, a Delaware limsted hability company

Genests Asset Managers, LLP, a Delaware hmuted hiability partpership

Genesis Investment Managemeat, LLP, a United Kingdom himuted hzbility partnership*
Gotham Acquisition GP, LLC, a Delaware limited habidity company

Gotham Acqusition LP, LLC, a Delaware imited hability company

GW&K Tnvestment Management, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company
Harding Loevner LP, a Delaware limited partnership

Harding Loevner (UK) Ltd, a UK hmited company

HWL Holdings Corp , a Delaware corporation

1IM Acquisition LY, a Delaware limited partaerstup

Ivory Captal Group, LLC, a Delaware hmited habihty partnersiip*

Ivory Investment Management, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company*

JM Hartwell Limuted Partiershup, a Delaware lrmited partnership




Klee Asia 1 GP, LLC, a Delaware lunited hability company

Klee Eurppe 1 GP, LLC, 2 Delaware hmited liability company

Klee Europe 11 GP, L1.C, a Delaware limited hiability company

Klee USA 1 GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liabihity company

Klee USA H GP, LLC, a Delaware himited hability company

Long-Term Equity Interests Plan 2010, LP, 2 Delaware limited partnership*
Long-Term Equuty Interests Plan 2011, LP, a Delaware imued parmership*
Long-Term Equity Interests Plar, LP, a Delaware lumted parmership*

LTEIP 2011 GP Holdings Corp , a Delaware corporahion

LTEIP GP Haldings, LLC, a Delaware hmated hiability company

LTEIP LP Holdings, LLC, a8 Delaware lumned habihty company

M J Whitman LLC, a Delaware lunted higbilety company

Manor LLC, a Detaware ltmrted lability company

Monteverds GP Lunited, a limited company ncorparated i Scotland

Montrusco Bolton {nvestments Inc, a Canada corpotation®

myCl1O Wealth Partmers, LLC, a Delaware lumited hability company

New GAML Holdeo, Ltd , a Cayman Islands exempted company

New Milienmum Venture Partners inc , an Ontario corporation

Odm GP, LLC, a Delaware hmied hiability company

Old VAM LLP, a UK limited hability partnership

Pantheon 2015-K GP, Ltd A Cayman Isiands exempted company

Pantheon Access GP S ar |, a Grand Duchy of Luxembourg company

Pantheon Birkin GP LLC, a Delaware limited lhiabiiity company

Pantheon BVK 2014 GP, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

Pantheon BVK GP LLC, & Delaware hmited hability company

Pantheon Capital (Asia) Limited, a [imued company incorporated m Hong Kong
Pantheon Capital Partners GP, LLC, a Delaware limited lability company
Pantheon CV (Cayman) GP, Ltd , a Cayman Islands limited company

Pantheon Fnar Holdngs, Ltd , a Cayman Islands exempted company

Pantheon Global Co-Investment Opportumties GP Ltd, a Cayman Islands exempted company
Pantheon GP Limuted, a hmited company incorporated m England and Wales
Pantheon GT GP, LLC, & Delaware limited hiability company

Pantheon (Guernsey) GP Limited, a Guernsey limited company

Pantheon HO GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hiabilsty company

Panthecn Holdings Limtted, a iimited company meorporated n England and Wales
Pantheon Industriens GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hatnlity company

Pantheon Industriens 11 GP, LLC, a Delaware limited Liability company
Pantheon - 1sta Co-Investment, GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company
Pantheon Korea Inc, a Korea company

Pantheon KSA GP, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

Pantheon KSA (Guemsey) GP Limited, a Guernsey hmited company

Pantheon Lille GP Limited, a himited company tncorporated m Scotland
Pantheon Lux GP S ar 1, a Grand Duchy of Luxembourg company

Pantheon {(Midway) GP, LLC, a Delaware hmited hability company

Pantheon Mults-Strategy Program 2014 US GP, LLC, a Delaware lunited habihity company
Pantheon NPS GP, LLC, a Delaware himited hability company

Pantheon OPERS GP, LLC, a Delaware lumited hability company

Pantheon Partners Parhicipavon GP, LLC, a Delaware himited hiability company
Pantheon PGCO GP, LLC, a Delaware imited hability company

Pantheon Psagot GP, Ltd , 8 Cayman Islands hmited company

Pantheon PSI GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

Pantheon Real Assets GT GP, LLC, a Delaware limited habihty company
Pantheon Real Assets HO GP, LLC, a Delaware himuted hiability company
Pantheon Rex GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

Pantheon SCERS SIRF MM, LLC, a Delaware hmited hablity company
Pantheon Standard GP, LLC, & Delaware lumted habihty company

Partheon UK General Partner 2 Lunited, 2 hmited company mcorporated m England and Wales
Pantheon UK General Partner Limited, a lumited company mcorporated i England and Wales
Pantheon (UK} GP LLP, a lumited Liabiity pannership formed i Scotland




Pantheon (US) LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

Pantheon/VA NRP GP, LLC, a Delaware lumted lizbihity company

Pantheon Ventures (Guernsey) Liumited, a Guernsey limited company

Pantheon Ventures {HK) LLP, an England and Wales lumited liability partnership
Pantheon Ventures Inc , a Cahiformia corporation

Pantheon Ventures Lymited, a hmited company meorporated n England and Wales
Pantheon Ventures (Scotland) GP Limited, a humted company mcorporated m Scotland
Pantheon Ventures {UK) LLP, an England and Wales limited Liability partmership
Pantheon Ventures (US) Holdings 1.LP, a Delaware lumited hiabality partnershup
Pantheon Ventures (US) LP, a Delaware limited partership

Papilion GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hiability company

PASIA V GP Lumited, a imited company mcorporated i Guemsey

PASIA V1 GP, LLC, a Delaware luruted Liabihity company

PEAF VI GP, LL.C, a Delaware imited habihity company

PEMF (ex-Asia) GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

PEURO IV GP, LLC, a Delaware limued hability company

PEURO V GP Limuted, a hmited company mcorporated in Guernsey

PEURO V1 GP Limited, a lumited company wcorporated i Guemsey

PEURO VII GP Limited, a limited company incorporated in Guemsey

PGCO 11 GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

PGCO 111 GP, LLC, a Delaware lunited hability company

PGIF GP Limited, 2 limited company mcorporated in Guernsey

PGIF GP, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company

PGIF 1l GP L1.C, a Delaware limited habality company

PGIF 1§ Lux GP S ar1, a Grand Duchy of Luxembourg company

PGIH - Holie GP, LLC, a Delaware mited hiability company

PGSF 1 GP, L1.C, a Delaware lunuted habnlity company

PGSF 111 GP Lumnted, a limited company mcorporated i Guemnsey

PGSF 111 GP, LLC, a Delaware limted hability company

PGSF 1V GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

PGSF V GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

PGSH GP, LLC, a Delaware lumited iability company

PGSH 11 GP, LLC, a Delaware lumted hiability company

Prides Crossing Holdmgs LLC, a Delaware mited liability company

Private Debt LLC, a Delaware limited iability company

PUSA VI GP, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company

PUSA VII GP, LLC, a Delaware limited lisbality company

PUSA VII GP, LLC, 3 Delaware limited hability company

PUSA IX Feeder GP Lunited, a imited company incorporated in England and Wales
PUSA 1X GP, LLC, a Delaware himited ability company

PUSA SFP IX GP, LLC, a Delaware hmited liability company

PVP I GP, LLC, a Delaware hmited Liabihity company

Red Mile Syndication Inc, an Onlano corporation

Raver Road Asset Management, LLC, a DE limited Liability company

RRAM Acqusition, LLC, a Delaware limited habiity company

SCP GP, LLC, a Delaware himited habihity company

SouthernSun Asset Management, LLC, a Delaware limited hatnlity company
SPO GP, LLC, a Delaware lymted hability company

Squam Acquisition GP, LLC, a Delaware hmited babihity company

Squam Acqusition LP, LLC, 8 Delaware limited habihty company

SSAM Acquisinon, LLC, 2 Delaware hmited habihity company

Systematic Financ:a} Management, L P, a Delaware imiied partnership

The Real Return Group Lumited, a UK lmited company

The Renaissance Group LLC, & Delaware himited habihty company

Third Avenue Holdings Delaware LLC, a Delaware hmited hability company
Third Avenue Management LLC, a Delaware hmited hiability company
TimesSquare Caprtal Management, LLC, a Delaware limited habihity company
TunesSquare Manager Member, LLC, a Delaware inited hability company
Titan NI GP Holdings, Inc , a Delaware corporation




Trtan NJ LP Holdings, LLC, 2 Delaware limited liability company
TMF Corp , & Delaware corporation

Topspin Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware luntted hability company
Tndemt NYC Acqmsition, LLC, a Delaware limited lhiability company

Trilogy Global Advisors International LLP, a hmited lisbihty partnership ncorporated in the United Kingdom
Tnlogy Global Advisors UK Holdings Lumited, & lumited company incorporated 1n the United Kingdom

Talogy Global Advisors, LP, a Delaware hmited parmership

Tweedy, Browne Company LLC, a Delaware himited Liaality company
Umion Acquisition, LLC, 2 Delaware lumited liability company

VA Partners 1, LLC, a Delaware {umited hability company*®

VA Partners III, LLC, & Delaware limited Tability company*

VA SmallCap Partners, LLC, a Delaware hmited liabihity company™®
Value Parners Group Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company*
ValueAct Capital Management, L P, a Delaware hmited parmership*
ValueAct Capital Manegement, LLC, a Delaware imted liability company *
ValueAct Holdings GP, LLC, a Delaware lumted lLiability company*
ValueAct Holdings, L P, a Delaware limited partnershup*

ValueAct SmallCap Management, LLC, a Delaware limited hability company*
valueAct SmallCap Management, L P, a Delaware hmited partnership*
VAM Bidco Limited, a private UK limited company

Ventable, LP, a Delaware limuted partnershup

Ventas Asset Management {Asia) Limited, a Hong Kong company
Ventas Asset Management LLP, & UK limited hability partnership
Veritas Asset Partners Limited, 8 UK hmuted company

Ventas Corporate Management Limited, 2 UK himited company*
Ventas Returns Lumted, a UK Lumited company

Watson Acqusitton, LLC, 2 Delaware lmited liability company

Welch & Forbes LLC, a Delaware limuted liability company

welch & Forbes, Inc, 2 Massachusetts corporation

v acktman Asset Management LP, a Delaware limited partnership
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Exhint 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference mn the Registranon Statement on Form S-3 (No 333-190402) and 3-8 (No 333-190412, No 333-175912, No
333-135416, No 333-129748, No 333-100628, No 333-84485, and No 333-72967) of Affiliate Managers Group, Inc of our report dated February 24, 2016
relatng to the financial statements, financaal statement schedule and the effectiveness of nternal control over financial reporting, whnch appears in tius Form 10-K

{s! PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 24, 2016
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Exhibit 311
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Sean M Healey, certify that

1 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affihated Managers Group, Inc,

2 Based on my knowledge, thus report does not contan any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a matenal fact necessary to make the
statements made, m hght of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the peniod covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included 1n this report, faurly present in all matenal respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the penods presented in thus report,

4  The registrant’s other certifying officer and ! are responsible for establishing and mamtamning disclosure controls and procedures (as defined 1n Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(¢)) and mternal control over financial reporting {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
tegistrant and have

a)

b)

c}

4

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that matenal mformation relating to the registrant, mcluding 1ts consolidated subsidiaries, s made known to us by others within those entitres,
particularly durmg the pentod 1n which this report 1s being prepared,

Designed such imternal control over financial reporting, or caused such mtemal control over financial reporting to be designed under our superviston,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes m
accordance with generally accepted accountng principies,

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

Disclosed m this report any change m the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred dunng the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter 1n the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 15 reasenably likely to matertally affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting, and

5  The registrant's other certifyng officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the sudit commutice of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

a)

b)

All sigmficant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of mternal control over financial reporting which are reasonably hikely
to adversely affect the registrant's ability 1o record, process, summanze and report financial mformation, and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's intemal control over
financial reporting

Date February 24, 2016

/s/SEANM HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
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Exhibit 31 2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jay C Horgen, certify that

1 T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affihated Managers Group, Inc,

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omat to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, i hight of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the pertod covered by this report,

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information mcluded in this report, farly present o all matenal respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the pertods presented 1n this report,

4 The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsibie for estabhishing and maintaiming disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and mternal control over financzal reporting (as defined i Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have

a}

b)

<)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and precedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that matenal information relating to the registrant, including 1ts consolidated subsidianies, 1s made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the penod 1n which this report 1s being prepared,

Designed such mternal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regardmg the rehiability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the penod covered by this report based on such evaluation, and

Disclosed in this report any change 1n the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect,
the registrant's mternal control over financial reporting, and

5 The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s aucitors and the audit commuttee of registrant's board of directors {or persons performing the equivalent functions)

a)

b)

All signuficant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses in the design or operauon of mnternal control over financial reporting which are reasonably Likely
to adversely affect the regstrant's ability to record, process, summanze and report financial information, and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 1n the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting

Date February 24, 2016

s/ JAY C HORGEN

Jay C Horgen
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Exhibit 321

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U S C SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In cotmection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of A ffiliated Managers Group, Inc (the "Company") for the period ended December 31, 2015 as filed
with the Secunties and Exchange Commusston on the date hereof (the "Report”), the undersigned, Sean M Healey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U S C Section 1350, that

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

(2} the mformation contawned wn the Report faurly presents, i all matenat respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company

Date February 24, 2016

/s SEAN M HEALEY

Sean M Healey
Chief Executive Officer

—~
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Exhibit 32 2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U S C, SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[n connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Affiliated Managers Group, Inc (the "Company™) for the period ended December 31, 2015 as filed
with the Secunties and Exchange Comnussion on the date hereof {the "Report"), the undersigned, Jay C Horgen, Chaef Financial Officer and Treasurer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 US C Section 1350, that

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and

(2) the nformation contamned i the Report fauly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company
Date February 24, 2016

fsf JAY C HORGEN

Jay C Horgen
Chuef Financial Officer and Treasurer




